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PTC - Parametric Technology Corporation (Nasdaq: PMTC)

PTC provides leeding preduct lifegyels managemaent {PLM) end
enlerprise contont menagement seluliens fo mere dhan 40,000
companies woddwide. PTC customers include the world’s most
innovative companies in manufacturing, publishing, services,
government and life sciences industries. PTC is ineluded in the
$&P 500 ans Russell 2000 inclices.




2005 was a great year at PTC.

We achieved MEANINGFUL REVENUE GROWTH and INCREASED OUR NET INCOME significantly,

all while laying the foundation for even stronger growth in 2006. By extending our product development
solutions to more industries and more applications, we're helping our customers grow -

and we're greatly expanding our own opportunities.
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Our stated goal is to reach $1 billion in revenue with
$200 million in non-GAAP operating income by 2008.

We feel that our performance in 2005 demonstrates

that we're on the way to meeting that goal.




Financial Highlights
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GAAP operating income {lass) was ($79.6) million, $37.4 million, and $85.8 million in 2003, 2004 ond 2005, respectively. References by the
Company to Non-GAAP Operating Income excludes stock-based compensation cost, amortization of acquisition-refated intangible ossets, in-process
research and development write-offs associated with acquisitions and restructuring. GAAP requires that these costs and charges be included in costs
and expenses and accordingly used to determine operating income {ioss]- The Company's management uses non-GAAP operating costs, and associated
non-GAAP operating income to make operational and investmer! decisions, and the Company believes that they are among several useful measures
for an enkanced understarding of our operating results. However, non-GAAP operating income {loss] should be construed neither as an alternative to
GAAP aperating income (loss] or earnings {loss) per share os an indicater of our operating performance ror as a substitute for cash flow from opera-
tions as a measure of liquidity because the items excluded from the non-GAAP measures often have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations. Therefore, management uses, and investors should use, non-GAAP meosures in conjunction with our regorted GAAP resulls.
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2005 was a remarkable year for PTC by any stondard. we pushed our performance
to new levels, while extending the promise of product development to new industries, new customers and new
applications. We grew our Pro/ENGINEER®, Windchill®, and newly acquired Arbortext®product lines. We grew
our license, service, and maintenance lines-of-business. We grew in the US, Europe and Asia. And, we grew our
direct sales and indirect channel revenue. With $721 million in annual revenue, we grew 9% for the year -
15% in the fourth quarter alone.

The markets we serve are growing, fueled by customer needs to bring high-quality physical and information
products to the global market faster and at lower cost. In 2005, we continued to execute our winning strategy -

o four-part plan to deliver what our customers want.

Clear Product Superiority. In the growing markets for product lifecycle management and enterprise content

management, PTC's technology leadership and quality stand out. We are the only company with a single archi-
tecture spanning the range of applications needed by customers who want to integrate product development and
information management into a seamless, efficient process. All our solutions are designed to be easy to use and
implement, so customers can realize value quickly with a lower total cost of ownership than our competitors. With
its unmatched quality, Pro/ENGINEER is the most refined 3D design software in the industry, powerful enough for
Toyota Motor Corporation, and flexible enough for thousands of small and medium businesses.

For content and process management, Windchiil delivers more for the money than any platform in the industry.
In 2005, PTC achieved the Software Engineering Institute’s Capability Maturity Model Integration [CMMI) Level 2
status, recognizing PTC's use of best practices in the development of Windchill. CMMI ratings assist customers in
selecting relioble and low-risk suppliers of software products and services. And Arbortext, our newest set of
applications, quickly turns that very same content into virtually any kind of documentation. Taken together, these
three products form PTC's Product Development System (PDS).

Deep Relationships. Satisfaction with PTC is at an all-time high. PTC continually measures customer satisfaction,
customer loyalty, and deployment satisfaction by product line. Every one of these measures improved in 2005.
Customers oppreciate our deep knowledge of product development, and they know we're listening and
responding to their needs. Our largest acquisition in 2005 is a great example of this responsiveness in action.
During a series of customer visits, we learned about the challenges customers face connecting the development of
products to the development of downstream deliverables, such os technical publications and regulatory filings.
Not long after that, we completed the acquisition of Arbortext, the leading dynamic publishing solution.

Strong Consulting Services. PTC Global Services was our fastest-growing line of business in 2005, with more

customers than ever depending on the expertise of PTC consultants to help them improve their product develop-
ment processes. Our services teams are focused on three things: driving faster speed to value, delivering the
lowest cost of ownership, and improving customer satisfaction. In 2005, Global Services created a program to
measure the realized business value our customers receive from PTC solutions. The bottom line? Customers know
we're delivering the value we promise. Consulting has become an important part of PTC's overall business,
helping us fuel stronger relationships and additional software sales. In less than three years, we have trans-
formed our services group into a true process consulting business that creates value for our customers.

Strategic Acquisitions. Three strategic acquisitions in 2005 create added value for our customers and significant

new opportunities for our business. With the Aptavis acquisition, we’re delivering more and deeper support to a
growing base of retail, footwear and apparel customers, including Liz Claiborne. With the Polyplan acquisition,
we're extending our capabilities downstream into manufacturing planning. And with Arbortext, our largest
acquisition in 2005, we're giving customers a new way to link product development and the downstream
delivery of everything from parts lists and repair manuals to regulatory filings and prescription drug inserts.
Customers love this capability — and it's creating new opportunities for PTC in life sciences, publishing, govern-
ment and financial services. The integration of Arbortext and our other acquisitions is going very well, and we

are excited about the accelerated growth opportunities they bring to us. —
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These highlights from 2005 reflect the strength of our strategy and our execution. We have articulated and
delivered a highly differentiated vision to the marketplace. And, as good as 2005 was, | think 2006 will be even
better. | have a high degree of confidence in our goal to deliver accelerated revenue growth. For fiscal 2006,
we expect revenues of $805 million to $815 million, or approximately 12% annual growth.

My confidence in PTC’s future is based on my belief that we have just begun to see the benefit of the groundwork
we've laid over the past several years. To achieve our 2006 goals, we will focus on four specific opportunities:

Accelerate Organic Growth for Enterprise PLM Solutions. In 2005, we drove both Desktop and Enterprise sales

at the high end of market growth rates. On the Enterprise side, we believe we can accelerate Windchill momen-
tum in 2006. As global manufacturing continues to evolve and expand, bringing even greater challenges in team
collaboration, project coordination and data management, we will continue to provide new product capabilities
and process consulting services for customers in our traditional vertical markets: aerospace and defense, auto-
motive, electronics and high tech, and industrial products. Adding vertical capabilities to our products has
already proven to be a winning strategy for revenue growth in these industries.

PAGE (9)— Expand in Key Verticals and Penetrate New Markets. In 2005, we successfully expanded our presence in two

PAGE (D—

emerging vertical markets for PTC: medical products, and retail, footwear and apparel. Now, with the acquisi-
tion of Arbortext, we will extend beyond our historical focus on discrete manufacturing, while relying on the same
integral Windchill technology. We're taking those solutions into pharmaceuticals, publishing, financial services
and government - any industry where accurate, timely communication about complex products and services is
essential. Arbortext is the key to opening these doors.

Drive Newly Acquired Enterprise Publishing Solutions into Qur Installed Base. The inefficiencies of managing

product documentation and information — product manuals, service procedures, marketing collateral, catalogs
and more ~ is costing manufacturers billions of dollars annually. When Windchill and Arbortext are fully
infegrated in spring 2006, our customers will have the scalable, end-to-end solution for content management and
dynamic publishing they’ve been looking for. This is especially impertant for PTC’s largest customers, all of whom
face significant challenges moving product-related content into publication, and maintaining that content.
We expect that the powerful combination of PTC and Arbortext products will drive significant growth in both
Desktop and Enterprise lines-of-business within our existing customer base.

Execute Strategic Partnerships and Acquisition Opportunities. PTC is continually seeking new opportunities to

help customers identify and realize more value. The goal of our corporate development activities is to solve
customer challenges, while adding profitable growth to our business.

With the only integral Product Development System in the market, PTC is uniquely positioned to push the edges
of product development - to create more value for customers and more opportunities for growth. By bringing
new capabilities to our traditional manufacturing base, we're deepening relationships with long-standing
customers who depend on our support and expertise. And, by boldly reaching beyond that traditional base,
we're extending our solutions to new applications and new markets to help further accelerate our growth.

We are pleased with our success over the past year, and even more excited about the expanded opportunities
within our grasp for 2006. Once again, | extend my deep appreciation to PTC customers, employees, partners
and shareholders for your commitment and support.

Sincerely,

Q.

C. Richard Harrison
Chief Executive Officer and President

|
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2005 Ne\‘v Seat Growth:
Windchill # 42 %

Pro/ENGINEER ¢ 12%

As sales of Enterprise Solutions ignite,

PTC has a significant revenue growth
opportunity. In 2005, Windchill seats
surpassed Pro/ENGINEER seats, even
though the number of Enterprise customers
represents less than 5% of our total

customer base.

N

From Engineering to Enterprise at Schneider Electric

Schneider Electric is o global manufacturer involved in industrial buildings, schools, wind
farms, refineries, water treatment, transportation infrastructure, and more. And though the
company had experienced significant revenue growth in recent years, it was not achieving the
margin growth it expected. Schneider saw global product development as one way to improve
its efficiency - and that meant extending PTC solutions beyond its engineering department.

At the center of Schneider’s drive toward global product development was its shift to a
platform-based product architecture. Building on 2,000 Pro/ENGINEER seats, the company
chose to implement PTC's Product Development System, which meant adding Windchill
Projectlink® for collaboration and project management, and Windchill PDMLink® for product
deta management. With our PDS in place, Schneider was able to standardize ocross global
processes for mechanical CAD, electrical CAD, software engineering, parts library, PDM,
project management, collaboration, and manufacturing.

To support its new approach, Schneider reorganized around competencies, platforms and
sub-assembly development teams. Many engineering activities were shifted offshore to lower-
cost regions ~ reducing the overall number of R&D sites, while maintaining close
collaboration among product marketing and technical teams. Schneider achieved significant
cost reductions that are expected to deliver an additional 2% in margin improvement.
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Increasing Product Development Complexity prives
pemaND for PTC Enterprise Solutions

In traditional menufacluring, we see ongoing opportunities to address the complex
chalienges companies face in improving product development: frequent changes,
disparate systems with incompatible data, regulatory compliance, and more.
Equally imporient, interest in global product development is growing drematically,
driving new needs for distributed processes, collaboration, and global data
management, Leaders in manufacturing understand the unique value of our Preduct
Development System in meeting these challenges. With the industry’s only integral
architecture spanning oll aspects of product development, PTC has become the
partner of choice for large monufacturers worldwide. And our solutions are alse
scalable, meeting the needs of more and more small and medium businesses every
doy. With direct sales and services focused on larger accounts, and a growing
channel of resellers serving smaller accounts, we’re extending our reach to more

compaenies than ever before.

As part of our sirategy to drive adoption of our PDS into cur customer base,
we introduced o Windchill-based version of our Pro/ENGINEER werkgroup data
manager, Pro/INTRALINK® We're now in the process of migrating 5,000 customers —
70,000 users - to that new version. Key customers have welcomed the performance
improvements of the newer opplication, as well as the benefits of a standardized IT
environment, More thon two-thirds of these active maintenance customers have
already requested an application CD to start their migration evaluation and plan-
ring. More important, many have not simply licensed this new date management
capability, but have opted instead for the full enterprise conient and process
maonagement capabilities of Windchill PDMLink ™ For customers and for PTC alike,
full standardization on Windchil for all engineering and enterprise data manage-

ment needs is very good news.
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PENETRATING New Markets

In addition to our historic emphasis on product development for discrete manufac-
turing, PTC is pursuing new market opportunities that have been underserved by
PLM providers. Although still manufecturers of products, these new markets are not
typicaily driven by MCAD applications, but rather by growing needs for content
monagement, manufacturing collaboration, and documentation. in retail, footwear,
and apparel, fer example, PTC has developed o strong Windchill business, with
marquee customers such as FILA and Liz Claiborne driving our growth.

In 2006, Windchill and Arbortext will lead our expansion into markets beyond
our fraditional menufacturing base. In pharmaceuticals, for example, our new
capabilities will enable customers fo meet o broad range of regulatory requirements.
Companies currently using Arbortext products in this industry include Abbott
Loboratories, AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline, and Pfizer.

On other {ronis, we're peneirating new indusiries that bring other types of prod-
ucts to market, such as text becks, financial documents, and even government
legislation. For exemple, PTC is well positioned to support financial services com-
panies, where the ability to publish content customized for individual account
holders is a crifical capability for banks, insurance companies and brokerage firms.
A similar opportunily exists in government agencies, which must often manage
millions of pages of content in multiple formats ~ keeping everything accurate,
current, and accessible to public stakeholders. Current financial services and
government customers for Arbortext include American Express and eight state
governments in the United States.

Ne matier what type of product our cusiomers are developing - from @ next-
generation hybrid SUV, fo a breckihrough new drug, to a cofalog of the latess
environmental ‘green lows’, PTC is the only company giving customers the cbility te
link product development and enferprise content management into a single,
scaleable solution. Qur iraditional customers are excited about this capability - and

it will be central to our ability to develop and peneirate new markets.

6
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With Windchill in place for enterprise
content management, information

can flow smoothly throughout an
organization - starting with those who
create it and ending with a broad range
of dynomicdlly generaied deliverables
like o Web page or printed document.
For example, our new integral solution
allows manufacturers to update service
manuals and Web pages within hours of
making product design changes in
Pro/ENGINEER. In the past, such changes
could take weeks or even months of

arduous manual processing.

Delivering Downstream

There are significant inefficiencies around product-related documentation in most companies.
For example, many companies rely on traditiona! desktop publishing tools, requiring an enor-
mous amount of manual work, to maintain document accuracy as products change and evolve.
This is especially challenging in environments with multiple authors and frequent content
changes, and where regulatory compliance drives the need for standardization across all
information outputs. Today, these companies have a single solution from PTC, where up-to-date
3D schematics are now automatically inserted into user manuals, documentation and field-
service guides - documents that instantly update with each revision or change to the design.

The combination of PTC's Pro/ENGINEER, Windchill, and Arbortext solutions is the only single-
vendor offering that fully oddresses these problems - enabling our customers 1o create
compound documents from reusable components, manage content and processes so teams can
work together, and publish the information for different uses and audiences in a variety of
formats. The result? More accurate information, higher authoring productivity, reduced trans-
lation and publishing costs, and faster time-to-market. That's why PTC Dynamic Publishing
Solutions are currently used by nearly a third of Fortune 500 companies in the manufacturing,

life sciences, publishing, government, insurance and financial services industries.

Deere & Company

Deere & Company is a global
manufacturer of heavy equipment.

Deere publishes significant amounts of
product-related documentation for their
customers and dealer network.

All of this content is published in multiple
languages. With the Arbortext solution,
Deere reduced numerous worldwide
content sources to ane. In addition,

the company:was able to integrate this
content source with all the documentation
translations and implemenied a global
Web-based duthoring environment.
Therefore, Deere was able to move from
annual to monthly dealer updates

which enabled the sales and support
channel to have timely access to the
latest data, in the right format ond the

relevant language.
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cAPTURING The Full Value of Arbortext

The publishing challenge fecing major manufaciurers, life sciences companies, financial
services firms, and government organizations is massive. One indusirial manufacturer
prints literally millions of pages annuclly for user manuals, service documents, sales
presentations, and marketing literature, meking it ene of the largest private publishers
in their region. And the Boeing Company, o Windchill and Arbortext customer,
produces 300 million pages of documentation annually to support mere than 13,000
aircraft! That's equivalent to a 103,000-feot stack of paper, almost three times the
cruising aliitude of Boeing’s 747.

Not only is the sheer quantity of published material o challenge, inefficiencies in the
publishing process strain productivity and performance. According to A.T. Kearney,
worlkferce inefficiencies related to publishing will cost organizations werldwide
approximately $750 billion annually?

~
J

O?O Arbortext The Pro/ENGINEER of Documentation
N

"When_Pro/ENGINEER was created nearly 20_years_ago, it-was the first parametric, associative, |

[“solution, delivers_the_same_breakthrough capabilities for text =_but for a much broader range of
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_professionals, documents, andindustries. Just_as Pro/ENGINEER had_a first-to-market_position_]

thatfueled PTC’s rapid_growth, Arbortext offers a_significant growth opportunity for PTIC.

. _J

Faced with growing pressure to reduce documentation costs and improve reuse of
engineering content, like Pro/ENGINEER models, some of PTC’s largest customers asked
us for help. Specifically, they wanted a scolable, end-tc-end sclution that would
streamline product documentation and connect their product development and decu-
mentation orgonizations. With the integration of Arbortext’s dynomic publishing
capabilities and Windchill's content menagement strengths, we have an elegent
solution that meets their needs. The new combination of Pro/ENGINEER, Arbortesxt, and
Windchill gives cusiomers ene unified system end one single source of truth for ail their
product information. Our custemers can now connect engineering product data and
downstream deliverables with ¢ seamless solution that is mere efficient and flexible
than eny previous approach. Frem datasheets, catalogs, and user manuals tc fraining
courses, regulatory submissicns, contracts, and more, the complicated business of

content management and publishing has just become a whole lot simpler.

As a stendalone company, Arboriext grew successfully with only o few dozen
salespeople calling on major accounts - 1,000 of which were already PTC customers.
This year, PTC’s 370 direct sales reps will be offering our entire line of products and
services, including our confent mancgement and dynamic publishing opplications.
By extending downsiream documentation solutions to cusiomers, we’re dramatically

expanding the market potential for PTC products and services.

Tsource: hitp://www .boeing.com/nosearch/emod/publishing/publishing_002.htm!

256urce: http:/ /www.computeruser.com/news/01/04/17 /newst html|
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STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS and Acquisitions
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PUSHING THE EDGES of Product Development

PTC can’t take credit for the macroeccnomic drivers that are accelerating the pace
of global product development. But there is no doubt that cur vision and technology
leadership have enabled customers to take maximum advantage of this trend.
With PTC’s integral architecture spanning @ broad range of product development
and content applications, our vision is now accessible fo companies ronging
from leaders in cutomotive and aerospace fo innovators in pharmaceuticals

and publishing.

in 2006, our aim is to turn that vision infe value, by redlizing accelerated enterprise

solutions grewth. By copitalizing on the significant potenticl of the Arbortext

acquisition. By penelrating new markets with new solutions and capabilities.
And by executing sirategic acquisitions and parinerships to solve problems for cur

customers. In doing so, we will continue to extend the boundories of product

development fo create new capabilities and solutions. We are on track to achieve

our stated financial goal of $1 billion in revenue with $200 million in non-GAAP

operating income by 2008 - which represents 12% annual revenue growth and a

doubling of our non-GAAP operating income within three years.

Throughout its history, PTC has led the product development

industry with technology superiority, continuous innovation,
and strong customer relationships. In 2006, that leadership

tradition will help us accelerate our growth as we push the

edges of product development to meet our customers’

changing needs.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K about our anticipated financial results and growth, as well as about the
development of our products and markets, are forward looking statements that are based on our current plans and assumptions.
Important information about the bases for these plans and assumptions and factors that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from these statements are discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” beginning on page 9 below, and generally throughout this report.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to a year reflect our fiscal year that ends on September 30.

PARTI

ITEM 1. Business

Overview

Parametric Technology Corporation (PTC) develops, markets and supports product lifecycle management (PLM) and enterprise
content management (ECM) software solutions and related services that help companies improve their processes for developing
physical and information products.

The PLM market encompasses the mechanical computer-aided design, manufacturing and engineering (CAD, CAM and CAE)
market and the collaboration and data management solutions market, as well as many previously isolated markets that address
various other phases of the product lifecycle. These include product data management (PDM), component and supplier
management, visualization and digital mockup, enterprise application integration, program and project management, after market
service and portfolio management, requirements management, customer needs management, manufacturing planning, and technical
and marketing publications.

The ECM market encompasses companies in multiple verticals and includes technologies for business process management,
compliance management, document management, dynamic publishing, document archival and retrieval, knowledge management,
records management and Web content management. Within the ECM market, PTC focuses its development on a subset of solutions
that optimize the development of dynamic publications, such as those associated with technical manuals, service documents and
regulatory and compliance data sets, as well as government and financial document publishing and content management.

QOur software solutions include:

»  asuite of mechanical computer-aided design and XML-based document authoring tools (our Desktop Solutions); and

» arange of Internet-based collaboration, content and process management, and publishing technologies (our Enterprise
Solutions).

These software solutions enable companies to:

* create digital product content as represented by product designs and component-based documents (collectively, “digital
products™);

*  collaborate globally on the development of content with cross-functional teams consisting of members within an organization
and from the extended enterprise;

* control content and automate processes over the course of a product’s lifecycle; and
s communicate relevant product information across the extended enterprise and to customers through multiple channels using

dynamic publications.

Our software solutions historically focused on addressing the design engineering needs of manufacturing companies. Over time,
we expanded our software solutions to enable customers to leverage engineering content across an extended enterprise and design
chain. As part of this process, we diversified our product portfolio to include our Windchill content and process management




software and our recently acquired Arbortext dynamic publishing software. Our product development system for manufacturing
companies, which is a combination of all of our solutions (Pro/ENGINEER®, Windchill® and Arbortext®), enables customers to
meet a broad set of needs across the product development lifecycle. Additionally, the combination of Windchill and the Arbortext
products will enable us to extend our product development system to address the content management and' dynamic publishing
needs of companies in vertical markets we previously have not served, such as the life sciences, publishing, government and
financial services markets.

Our PLM solutions suite addresses significant challenges that manufacturing companies face in their product and documentation
development processes: more frequent change, heterogeneity of systems, regulatory compliance, and increased communication
inside and outside the manufacturing enterprise to support growing globalization and outsourcing of development activities,
increasingly transparent supply chains, and growing services and maintenance strategies. With our PLM sdftware solutions suite,
we provide our manufacturing customers with a product development system that permits individuals—regardless of their roles in
the commercialization of a product, the computer-based tools they use, or their location geographically or in the supply chain—to
participate in and impact the product development process across the digital product value chain. We have devoted significant
resources to our enterprise solutions and their integration with our design software and continue to integrate our products more
tightly and make them easier to deploy. We believe this will create significant added value for our customers.

For customers in the life sciences, publishing, government and financial services markets, our combined Windchill and Arbortext
solutions will enable us to address significant inefficiencies in cross-functional or complex documentation development processes.
Today, most companies use traditional desktop publishing tools that involve a significant amount of manual work to maintain
accurate documentation. This causes considerable additional work in environments where multiple authors contribute to the
development of content, content changes frequently, multiple organizations within a company have specialized requirements but
use similar content, or regulatory compliance drives the need for standardization across all information outputs. Our combination
of Windchill and Arbortext solutions is the only single-vendor offering that fully addresses these problems. Our product
development system for these vertical markets provides customers the ability to create compound documents from reusable content
components, manage the content and processes to enable teams to work together, and configure and publish the information for a
variety of uses and audiences, in a variety of formats.

Our solutions are complemented by our experienced services and technical support organizations, as well as resellers and other
strategic partners. Our services and technical support organizations provide training, consulting, implementation and support
services to customers worldwide. Our resellers supplement our direct sales force and provide greater geographic and small account
coverage, primarily for our design solutions, and our strategic partners provide complementary product and/or service offerings.

Acquisitions

We completed four strategic acquisitions in 2004 and 2005:

Company Technology Date Acquired

Arbortext, Inc. Enterprise Publishing Software Fourth Quarter 2005
Polyplan Technologies, Inc. Manufacturing Process Planning Third Quarter 2005
Aptavis Technologies Corporation  Windchill-based Solutions for the Retail, Footwear and Apparel Industry Third Quarter 2005
OHIO Design Automation, Inc. Electronic Design Collaboration Software . Third Quarter 2004

Our acquisition of Arbortext enables us to provide solutions to create, manage and dynamically publish information concurrently
with the development of related products or services, improving time-to-market and quality and reducing cost. The acquisition
provides us with new opportunities within our existing markets and with increased access to new markets such as life sciences,
publishing, government and financial services. Based in Ann Arbor, Michigan, Arbortext had approximately 250 employees in
offices around the world and generated revenue of approximately $40 million for the twelve months ended June 30, 2005.

Our acquisition of Polyplan Technologies helps us enable concurrent development of products and related manufacturing process
plans. We are focusing on providing an easy-to-use and affordable solution for use by mainstream manufacturing engineers who

are not satisfied with the manufacturing process management tools available today. We do not expect the Polyplan acquisition to

contribute revenue in the near term as we work to integrate the technology with our solutions.
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Through our prior business relationship with Aptavis Technologies, we increased our penetration of the footwear and apparel
market, and our solution for this market that uses the Aptavis technology has been adopted by leading footwear and apparel
manufacturers and retailers. Our acquisition of Aptavis enables us to more fully integrate the Aptavis technology into our product
offerings and to further develop the technology to address the requirements of international customers. Although we expect this
business to continue to grow, the revenue contribution from the Aptavis technology historically has not been material and we do
not expect this to change in the near term as a result of this acquisition.

Our acquisition of OHIO Design Automation enables us to offer the InterComm™ suite of electronic design collaboration solutions
to enable enterprise-wide visualization, verification, annotation, and automated comparison of electronic design content. These
solutions are targeted toward high tech and electronics manufacturers and other manufacturers of products that contain electronic
components. We offer the InterComm products both as stand alone solutions and as part of the Windchill product line.

We believe these acquisitions enhance the value and appeal of our product development system by adding capabilities that are
valuable to both our existing customers and customers in new vertical industries. The new capabilities we are adding enable our
customers to create more downstream deliverables, such as manufacturing process plans, and to address complex documentation
requirements, such as maintenance instructions, operator manuals, promotional materials and regulatory filings. At the same time,
these acquisitions provide increased access to new markets where we can offer configurations of our product development system
that are targeted to these new markets.

Our Principal Products and Services

Our Desktop Solutions and our Enterprise Solutions are aligned under a unified product strategy using a common architecture. This
strategy capitalizes on existing product synergies to offer integral product development solutions.

Our comprehensive product development system offers our customers the capabilities to improve their product development and
documentation processes. These processes involve the entire enterprise and extend to supplier, partner, and customer participants.
Our approach reduces complexity for our customers by ensuring that our solutions work together in a cohesive system. Our product
development system enables our customers to create, collaborate, control and communicate digital product information across the
extended enterprise and design chain. These capabilities are enabled by a system architecture that is built from the ground up to
address the needs of the distributed product development environment. OQur product development system architecture is:

» integral, sharing a common database schema, common business objects and seamless user interface;

* internet-based, designed for the Web; it enables our product development system to deploy seamlessly across existing Intranet
and Internet infrastructures to accommodate a distributed value chain; and

* interoperable, integrating easily with other systems using standard protocols and integfation approaches.

We describe our integrated portfolio of Desktop Solutions and Enterprise Solutions that address specific business challenges that
occur in the product lifecycle below.

DESKTOP SOLUTIONS

Our Desktop Solutions include our integrated CAD/CAM/CAE software as well as document authoring tools added through our
recent acquisition of Arbortext. Our principal Desktop Solutions are Pro/ENGINEER and Arbortext Editor. The family of
Pro/ENGINEER software addresses a broad spectrum of engineering disciplines essential to the development of virtually all
manufactured products, ranging from consumer products to jet aircraft. Manufacturers compete on the basis of cost, time to market
and product performance criteria, which are significantly affected by the quality and length of the product development process.
Pro/ENGINEER improves product quality and reduces time to market by enabling end-users easily to evaluate multiple design
alternatives and to share data with bi-directional associativity. Our Arbortext document authoring solutions help companies create
documents the same way Pro/ENGINEER helps them create product designs by allowing the creation of reusable content as
components and as compound documents. Arbortext’s approach to document authoring helps companies reduce authoring and
translation costs and improve the accuracy and consistency of the information they produce.
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The key features of Pro/ENGINEER and Arbortext Editor are described below.

Pro/ENGINEER is a three-dimensional product design solution based on a parametric, feature-based solid modeler that enables
changes made during the design process to be associatively updated throughout the design. Pro/ENGINEER consists of capabilities
for detailed design (CAD), manufacturing/production (CAM), and simuiation/analysis (CAE), as well as facilities for exchanging
CAD data with a multitude of sources and in varied standard formats, allowing companies to create more innovative, differentiated
and functional products quickly and easily.

Our offerings within the Pro/ENGINEER family include:

Pro/ENGINEER CAD solutions: foundational design capabilities for part and assembly modeling, basic surfacing,
production drawing creation, welding, sheet metal design and photo rendering. Extended design capabilities include advanced
styling and surfacing tools and solutions for electrical and mechanical systems design involving large assemblies, cable
harnesses, and piping.

Pro/ENGINEER CAM solutions: solutions that enable designers to create downstream manufacturing deliverables such as
molds and progressive dies, numerical control (NC) tool paths, and inspection programs. By directly referencing Pro/ENGINEER
designs, production and tooling engineers can handle tooling design and detailing, NC process planning, NC programming, and
inspection/verification, automatically responding to changes to the design with no data translation obstacles.

Pro/ENGINEER CAE solutions: solutions that allow engineers to test and optimize designs for structural, dynamic, thermal,
and durability performance. These solutions provide benefits by minimizing physical prototyping, incréasing engineering
creativity, and helping deliver higher quality products in less time.

Arbortext Editor™ is an XML-based authoring tool that enables the creation of dynamic content for multiple output types with
features that give authors control over content collection, personalization, assembly and publishing. Arbortext Editor looks and
works like familiar word processing software, but is able to create components of content, aggregate those components into
publications and customize those publications dynamically. The underlying principles of Arbortext Editor are similar to those of
Pro/ENGINEER, with similar benefits — documents can be created by multiple contributors and the document components are
reusable because we separate the content from its formatting and style. Consequently, when changes to content are made, those
changes will be reflected wherever that content is used.

ENTERPRISE SOLUTIONS

Since their introduction in 1998, our Enterprise Solutions have evolved to address expanding customer needs. Our suite of
Windchill and Arbortext solutions are designed to help companies manage the process of developing products and documentation
across an extended enterprise. Windchill is a sophisticated, Internet-based content management system that specializes in the
management of complex data and relationships, processes and publications. The other products in our Enterprise Solutions
category use the Windchill content management system to leverage the content for use in other processes, such as manufacturing,
procurement, technical publications and after market services. With our Enterprise Solutions, our customers can improve time to
market, increase the number of new products they introduce, improve product quality, reduce product cost, reduce development
cost, and improve content reuse.

Our principal Enterprise Solutions include:

Windchill PDMLink™: a product content management solution that is used to control information by facilitating data accessibility
and automating and managing the product development process throughout the life of a product. Windchill PDMLink is fluent with
workgroup level CAD content management as well as complete enterprise-wide product content management and enables
document management, change management and configuration management. Optional modules of Windchill PDMLink include:

Windchill PartsLink™ Classification and Reuse: a solution that allows companies to organize internal design libraries and
make them available to their engineering teams through flexible, easy-to-use searching mechanisms, maximizing part reuse.
For example, with this module engineers can quickly and effectively select the “right” part by comparing important
functional, supply chain, and environmental compliance characteristics.

Windchill Supplier Management: a solution that helps customers improve part and manufacturer source selection across
multiple product lines and geographies. Approved manufacturer and vendor lists (AML, AVL) are developed based on a
variety of characteristics, including environmental regulatory compliance, lifecycle status and end-of-life risk, and component
and supplier preferences.




Windchill ProjectLink™: a collaborative project management solution that enables companies (including their employees,
partners, suppliers, and customers) to work together on projects through Internet-based compartmentalized workspaces. Windchill
ProjectLink also has capabilities for project plan development, milestone and deliverable tracking, activity assignment and
management, and on-line discussion forums.

Pro/INTRALINK®: a Windchill-based Pro/ENGINEER workgroup data management solution that provides centralized vaulting
and revision control of Pro/ENGINEER models, relationships, and capabilities for improved information security and accuracy. A
subset of the capabilities found in Windchill PDMLink, Pro/INTRALINK is used for Pro/ENGINEER-only data management
within the engineering department.

Visualization and Digital MockUp: visualization and digital mock-up solutions that support the integration of 2D and 3D product
data, regardless of source. ProductView is a visualization solution designed to enable multiple parties to view, markup, and
collaborate on all forms of digital product data. DIVISION® MockUp is a sophisticated visualization tool that enables real-time
design collaboration, analysis, and simulation of an entire digital product model, regardless of CAD authoring tools or team
location.

InterComm: a suite of electronic design collaboration solutions that enable enterprise-wide visualization, verification, annotation,
and automated comparison of the electronic design intent. The InterComm solutions provide easy access to complex CAE and
electronic computer aided design data created in leading electronic design automation tools.

PTC PLM On Demand: hosted by IBM, these solutions provide companies with flexibility to pursue their product lifecycle
management initiatives in an “on demand” model and are provided in two service options:

Standard: hosted out-of-the-box versions of Windchill PDMLink and Windchill ProjectLink solutions for small- and medium-
sized businesses. This deployment option reduces the typical barriers to entry, including cost and implementation time and
risk, making our PLM solutions accessible to companies with limited resources.

Dedicated: an offering for companies that need robust PLM technology and process consulting with an on demand delivery
model. This deployment option enables larger customers to take advantage of the full Windchill software suite and the IBM
on demand infrastructure to maintain flexibility in fast-changing business environments.

Windchill Integrations: turn-key solutions that enable cross-application data compatibility and information exchange. These
integrations are key to any enterprise environment and include robust support for MCAD, ECAD and software configuration
management applications, major ERP systems, and a flexible standards-based application for other enterprise integrations.

Arbortext Publishing Engine™: a server-based system that assembles XML and SGML content and automatically publishes
audience-specific content in both print and electronic forms, with high-quality layout and formatting. This system can reduce
publishing costs, improve time-to-market and increase productivity.

SERVICES
Maintenance Services

We offer maintenance support plans for our software products. Customers who participate in our maintenance support plans
receive periodic software updates and new releases. Active maintenance plan customers also have direct access to our global
technical support team of certified engineers, an ISO 9001 accredited organization, for timely and accurate issue resolution. In
addition, we provide self-service support tools that allow our customers quick, dynamic access at all times to an extensive amount
of technical support information.

Consulting and Training Services

Our software solutions and maintenance support offerings are complemented by additional offerings from our services
organization, as well as from third-party resellers and other strategic partners. We offer the following comprehensxve portfolio of
services to help customers select the “right” technology to support organizational and strategic goals:

Implementation Services: a wide range of technology installation, configuration, and migration services, from pre-packaged “quick
start” deployments to full system integration.




Process and Technology Adoption Services: consulting services to facilitate widespread acceptance and use of our solutions within
our customers’ organizations by addressing organizational challenges and competing priorities.

Training Services: an extensive curriculum of instructor-led courses and computer-based training resources to accelerate adoption
of the product development system and realize value across the entire enterprise.

Product Development

For our products to remain competitive, we must provide our customers with new and innovative software solutions. As a result,
we continue to spend on research and development, and we look for opportunities to acquire new technologies suited to our
customers’ needs. We must also efficiently manage our development resources to ensure the appropriate balance among product
lines, based on both product development plans and customer demand.

Our ability to rapidly develop new design products is facilitated by the modular structure of our software code. This structure
enables functional capabilities of existing products to be used in new software applications or modules, theteby reducing the
amount of new code required to develop additional products. Much of our Enterprise Solutions technology is Internet-centric, Java-
based, object-oriented software and our products depend on these evolving technologies. We also license certain technologies from
third parties to augment the functionality of our products. We generally pay these third parties either periodic royalties or fixed fees
for the use of their technologies and rely on them for development and other support. We continually review the associated costs,
development resource savings, support levels, and, if applicable, experience with the third party to determine whether the use of
such technologies is beneficial.

Over the past few years, we have focused much of our research and development investment on integrating our products into a
unified product development system. This strategy is supported by changes we have made to both our product planning and
product testing processes. These planning and testing phase changes ensure that the products work together in a cohesive system
across specific customer business processes.

We also work closely with our customers to define improvements and enhancements to our products. Customers become involved
in the software design process to help validate feasibility and to provide feedback on functionality early in the development of our
products. In addition, we maintain software and hardware partner programs designed to provide partners both with access to our
products and with the mechanisms and environment to facilitate the integration of complementary products with our product lines.
Through our open software toolkits, program members can build tightly integrated solutions that satisfy the various requirements
of our customers.

Our fiscal year research and development expenses were $118.3 million in 2005, $108.0 million in 2004 and $128.4 million in
2003. Additional information about our research and development expenditures may be found in “Ttem 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operations—Costs and Expenses—
Research and Development” beginning on page 19 below.

Sales and Marketing

We derive most of our revenue from products and services distributed directly by our sales force to our end-user customers. We
also offer products through third-party distributors. Our direct sales force focuses on large accounts, while our reseller channel
provides a cost-effective means of covering the small- and medium-sized business market.

Within our direct sales force, we have both strategic accounts and general business accounts units. The strategic accounts unit is
further divided into vertical groups, such as aerospace and defense, automotive, consumer products, electronics and high
technology, footwear and apparel, industrial products and life sciences. This vertical orientation is mirrored in our services delivery
organization and, increasingly, in the products we deliver to strategic accounts. In addition, we continue to broaden our indirect
distribution channel through alliances with third-party resellers and other strategic partners who provide products and/or services
that complement our offerings. Our resellers distribute our design products, including Pro/ENGINEER, and provide related
services throughout North America, Europe and parts of Asia/Pacific; our other strategic partners help complement our product
development system with ancillary offerings. We recently authorized some of our resellers to distribute our Windchill Link
solutions and PLM On Demand to the small- and medium-sized business market.
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Financial information about our international and domestic operations, including by segment and principal products, may be found
in Note M of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on page 9 below.

Competition

We compete primarily in the PLM market, including the design solutions market, and the ECM market, including the document
management market and the document publishing market.

We compete in the PLM market with a number of companies that offer solutions that address specific functional areas covered by
our solutions, including: Dassault Systemes SA and UGS Corp. for traditional design solutions, PDM solutions, manufacturing
planning solutions and visualization and digital mock-up solutions; Agile Software Corp. and MatrixOne Inc. for PDM solutions;
and 12 Technologies, Inc. for part sourcing solutions. In addition, we compete with larger, better-known enterprise-solution
companies with established customers that have entered the PLM market and offer solutions integrated with their other enterprise
software applications. For example, SAP AG offers a solution that controls product data within the larger framework of its ERP
solution. We believe our PLM solutions are more specifically targeted toward the product development processes within
manufacturing companies and offer broader and deeper functionality in those processes.

We and our resellers compete with design products from companies such as Autodesk, Inc. and Solidworks, a subsidiary of
Dassault Systemes, for sales to smaller manufacturing customers.

We compete in the ECM market with repository-based collaboration software solutions such as IBM Lotus Notes, Microsoft
Sharepoint, and EMC’s Documentum eRoom.

We compete with EMC Documentum, FileNet, Hummingbird, and OpenText in the document management market and with EMC
Documentum, Adobe Framemaker, and the Microsoft Office suite in the document publishing market.

Proprietary Rights

Our software products and our trademarks, including our company names, product names and logos, are pi'oprietary. We protect
our intellectual property rights in these items by relying on copyrights, trademarks, patents and common law safeguards, including
trade secret protection, as well as restrictions on disclosures and transferability contained in our agreements with other parties.

We believe that, due to the rapid pace of innovation within our industry, the technological and creative skills of our personnel are
as important to establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position within the industry as are the various legal
protections surrounding our technology.

Our proprietary rights are subject to risks and uncertainties described under the subheading “Important Factors That May Affect
Future Results” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” below. You should
read that discussion, which is incorporated into this section by reference. '

PTC, the PTC Logo, Parametric Technology Corporation, The Product Development Company, Product First, The way to Product
First, Create Collaborate Control Communicate, Simple Powerful Connected, Pro/ENGINEER, Wildfire, Pro/DESKTOP,
Pro/INTRALINK, MECHANICA, GRANITE, Windchill, Windchill ProjectLink, Windchill PartsLink, Windchill
DynamicDesignLink, Windchill PDMLink, InterComm, FlexPLLM, Arbortext and all product names in the PTC product family are
trademarks or registered trademarks of PTC or our subsidiaries in the United States and/or other countries.

Backlog

We generally ship our products within 30 days after acceptance of a customer order. A high percentage of our license revenue
historically has been generated in the third month of each fiscal quarter, and this revenue tends to be concentrated in the later part
of that month. Accordingly, orders may exist at the end of a quarter that have not been shipped and not been recognized as revenue.
We do not believe that our backlog at any particular point in time is indicative of future sales levels.
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Empleyees

As of September 30, 2005, we had 3,751 employees, including 1,087 in sales and marketing; 1,037 in customer support, training
and consulting; 385 in general and administration; and 1,242 in product development. Of these employees, 1,702 were located in
the United States and 2,049 were located outside the United States.

Website Access to Reports and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We make available free of charge on our website at www.ptc.com the following reports as soon as reasonably practicable after
electronically filing them with, or furnishing them to, the SEC: our Annual Report on Form 10-K; our Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q; our Current Reports on Form 8-K; and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Qur Proxy Statements for our Annual Meetings and our Section 16 trading reports on SEC
Forms 3, 4 and 5 also are available on our website. The reference to our website is not intended to incorporate information on our
website into this document by reference.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics also is available on our website. Additional information about this code and amendments
and waivers thereto can be found below in Part II1, Item 10 of this Annual Report. ‘

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information about our executive officers is incorporated by reference from Part I1I, Item 10 of this Annual Report.

Other Information

PTC was incorporated in Massachusetts in 1985 and is headquartered in Needham, Massachusetts.

ITEM 2. Properties

We currently lease 114 offices used in operations in the United States and internationally through our non-U.S. subsidiaries,
predominately as sales and/or support offices and for research and development work. Of our total of approximately 1,136,000
square feet of leased facilities used in operations, approximately 550,000 square feet are located in the U.S., including 316,000
square feet of our headquarters facility located in Needham, Massachusetts. The lease for our headquarters began in December
2000 and expires in December 2012, subject to certain renewal rights. We also lease space comprising approximately 415,000
square feet, which is not used for our current operations and is primarily subleased to third parties. As described in Notes B and G
of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” lease commitments on unused facilities in excess of expected sublease income
have been included in our restructuring provisions. We continue to engage in subleasing and early lease termination initiatives to
employ alternate uses for these excess facilities. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our present needs.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

On May 30, 2003, a lawsuit was filed against us in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts by Rand A Technology
Corporation and Rand Technologies Limited (together, “Rand”). Rand historically had been our largest distributor. The complaint
alleges various breaches of a revised one-year distribution agreement entered into in December 2002, as well as other agreements
between Rand and us, and also asserts certain non-contract claims. The complaint, as amended, seeks equitable relief and
substantial damages. On November 24, 2003, we filed our substantive response to Rand’s complaint and asserted counterclaims
against Rand. During the second quarter of 2005, Rand quantified its claimed actual damages as being in excess of $50 million and
Rand asserts that this amount should be trebled by the court. As a result of several recent rulings by the court, some of Rand’s
claims have been dismissed and Rand’s possible maximum recovery in the lawsuit may have been reduced. In addition, the court
has excluded the testimony of the damages expert hired by Rand to substantiate Rand’s damages quantification. The court has also
issued a ruling granting PTC summary judgment on one of PTC’s counterclaims against Rand. Despite these rulings, several of
Rand’s claims, as well as certain of our counterclaims, remain to be tried before a jury. We believe Rand’s claims and its damages
assessment associated with those claims are without merit and will continue to contest them vigorously. We also intend diligently
to prosecute our counterclaims. We cannot predict the ultimate resolution of this action at this time, and we cannot assure you that
this action, if determined adversely to us, will not have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of
operations.



We also are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. We currently believe that
resolving these other matters will not have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the Jast quarter of 2005.

PART 11

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Information with respect to this item may be found in the section captioned “Quarterly Financial Information” on page F-38 below.
On September 30, 2005, the close of our fiscal year, our common stock was held by 5,372 shareholders of record. As of

November 30, 2005, our common stock was held by 5,330 shareholders of record. We do not pay cash dividends on our common

stock and retain earnings for use in our business. We review our dividend policy periodically, but we cannot assure you that our
review will cause us to pay any dividends in the future.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

Information with respect to this item may be found in the section captioned “Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data” on
page F-38 below.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K about our anticipated financial results and growth, as well as about the
development of our products and markets, are forward-looking statements that are based on our current plans and assumptions.
Important information about the bases for these plans and assumptions and factors that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from these statements are contained below and in “Important Factors That May Affect Future Results” beginning on
page 31.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to a year veflect our fiscal year that ends on September 30.




Executive Overview

In 2004, we focused on and achieved a significant turnaround in profitability. In 2005, we focused on incréasing revenue and
profitability with a view towards our longer-term goal of achieving $1 billion in revenue in 2008. As we discuss in detail below,
for 2005, we achieved 9% year-over-year revenue growth and net income more than doubie that of the prior year. We achieved
these results through organic growth in revenue from our core solutions and through strategic acquisitions.

The following graphs for the prior three years illustrate two consecutive years of improved revenue, operating income and earnings
per share:

Revenue Qperating Income (Loss) Dituted Earnings (Loss) Per Share
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We believe our operating results in 2005 reflect successful execution of our strategic initiatives, which focused on improving our
product and service offerings, our distribution model, our competitive position and our marketing message, and are also
attributable to the results of our restructuring program completed in 2004, Revenue increased in both Enterprise Solutions and
Desktop Solutions, primarily due to increased sales of consulting and training and maintenance services. We increased sales of our
services and solutions through expansion of our services delivery organization and our reseller channel, increased adoption of
Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire and implementation of Windchill, and the addition of Arbortext products. OQur operating expenses were
below 2003 levels due to our restructuring program, but increased over 2004 due to incremental expenditures we made to support
our revenue growth in 2005 and to support anticipated future revenue growth. In 2006, we intend to continue to grow revenue and
earnings through organic growth of our core solutions and through strategic acquisitions.

Acquisitions

We completed four acquisitions in 2004 and 2005 that we believe will help accelerate our long-term growth. We purchased
Arbortext, Inc., a provider of enterprise publishing software, in the fourth quarter of 2005; Polyplan Technologies, Inc., a provider
of manufacturing process planning technology, in the third quarter of 2005; Aptavis Technologies Corporation, a provider of
Windchill-based solutions for the retail, footwear and apparel industry, in the third quarter of 2005; and OHIO Design Automation,
Inc., a provider of electronic design collaboration software, in the third quarter of 2004. We believe Arbortext will contribute
significantly to our planned growth in 2006 as its solutions facilitate timely, accurate and product-specific technical publications,
solving a problem faced by our traditional installed base of discrete manufacturing customers. It also provides us entry into vertical
markets we previously have not served, including the life sciences, publishing, government and financial services markets. As a
stand-alone company, Arbortext generated revenue of approximately $40 million for the twelve months ended June 30, 2005. Our
acquisitions of Polyplan, Aptavis and OHIO Design are important because they provide increased access to new markets where we
can provide different configurations of our product development system, although we do not expect these acquisitions to coniribute
significant revenue in the near term. You can find more information about these acquisitions under the subheading “Acquisitions”
of the “Business” section of this report, which begins on page 2.

Market Opportunities

We believe demand for our traditional CAD/CAM/CAE solutions has begun to grow again modestly and that the broader PLM
market continues to present an opportunity for more meaningful growth. We believe the overall market for PLM solutions is
evolving ds manufacturers seek to improve their total product development processes instead of focusing on individual productivity
in engineering or manufacturing. These product development processes have become increasingly complex as companies develop
and manufacture products across geographic and corporate boundaries (a trend referred to as “global product development”).
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Additionally, we believe there is a growing opportunity in the small- and medium-sized business market as these manufacturers
migrate from two-dimensional design tools to entry-level three-dimensional design tools. We believe these smaller manufacturers
have a need for and will invest in collaboration and data management solutions over the next several years.

Finally, we recently entered the ECM market as the result of our acquisition of Arbortext. We believe potential for significant
growth exists in the portion of the ECM market that Arbortext addressed as a stand-alone solution. In addition, we believe we have
an incremental opportunity to sell our Windchill solutions into vertical markets beyond our core manufacturing base as a result of
the combination of Windchill and Arbortext into a dynamic publishing and related content management solution.

Fiscal Year 2006

In support of our goal to increase revenue and earnings in 2006, while remaining focused on profitability, we plan to continue:
* improving our product and service offerings;

* maintaining and growing revenue from our traditional vertical market segments;

* leveraging and optimizing our distribution model, including, when appropriate, making measured increases to our direct sales
force, reseller channel and services organization;

* making additional strategic investments in solutions for vertical market segments outside our traditional market segments as
demand for our products dictate, including those serviced by newly acquired companies;

+ enhancing our relationships with strategic accounts;
» implementing strategic initiatives in the Asia-Pacific market; and

* pursuing corporate development opportunities, including mergers and acquisitions and strategic partnerships.

Our success will depend on, among other factors, our ability to:

* optimize our sales and services coverage and productivity through, among other means, effective use and management of our
internal resources in combination with our resellers and other strategic partners and appropriate investment in our distribution
channel;

» integrate newly acquired businesses into our operations and execute future corporate development initiatives while remaining
focused on organic growth opportunities, including penetration of strategic vertical markets;

» differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors to effectively pursue 0pportumt1es within the small- and
medium-sized business market and with strategic larger accounts;

« manage the development and enhancement of our expanding product line using our geographically dispersed development
resources; and

*  help our customers expand their product development technology infrastructure to a more robust PLM product development

system in order to further their global product development initiatives.

We discuss additional factors affecting our revenue and operating results under Important Factors That May Affect Future Results
beginning on page 31.

11




Results of Operations

Overview

The following is a summary of our results of operations for the last three years, which includes the results of operations of
companies we acquired beginning on their acquisition date. A detailed discussion of these results follows the table below:

Percent Percent
2005 Change 2004 Change 2003

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Total reventie . ... . e $720.7 9% $660.0 Q% $%$671.9
Total costs and €Xpenses ... ... ...t 634.9 2%  622.6 (IN% 751.6
Operating income (1088) .. .. ..o i 85.8 129% 374 147% (79.7)
Other income (EXPeNse), NEL . . ...ttt i 5.5 0.4 2.8)
Income (loss) before income taxes ...t 91.3 37.0 (82.5)
Provision for inCOME taXxes . . ..ot v et e e e 7.7 2.2 15.8
Netincome (10SS) ..ottt e e e $ 836 140% $ 34.8 135% $(98.3)

¢ License revenue was $209.7 million in 2005, $198.9 million in 2004 and $205.3 million in 2003.

+ Service revenue was $511.0 million in 2005, $461.1 million in 2004 and $466.6 miilion in 2003.

e Enterprise Solutions revenue was $217.6 million in 2005, $179.3 million in 2004 and $173.5 million in 2003.
» Desktop Sohutions revenue was $503.1 million in 2003, $480.7 million in 2004 and $498.4 million in 2003.

» Total costs and expenses, including restructuring and other charges (credits) and stock-based compensation expense, was
$634.9 million in 2005, $622.6 million in 2004 and $751.6 million in 2003. ’

+ Restructuring and other charges (credits) were $(1.3) million in 2005, $42.9 million in 2004 and $30.9 million in 2003.

*  We adopted SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” at the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2005. Stock-based
compensation expense was $15.5 million in 2005, $0.4 million in 2004 and $0.5 million in 2003.

* The provision for income taxes in 2005 is net of tax benefits totaling $12.1 million due to favorable resolutions of tax audits in
a non-US jurisdiction. In 2004, the provision for income taxes is net of a one-time benefit of $18.9 million due to a favorable
resolution of prior-year tax audits with the Internal Revenue Service.

* Net income (loss) was $83.6 million in 2005, $34.8 million in 2004 and $(98.3) million in 2003. The improvement in our 2005
results compared to 2004 is primarily attributable to higher revenues and lower restructuring charges, partially offset by
measured increases in our operating cost structure and the adoption of stock-based compensation expensing in 2005. The
improvement in 2004 results compared to 2003 is primarily attributable to reductions in our operating cost structure.
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The following table shows certain consolidated financial data as a percentage of our total revenue for the last three years:

September 30,
M5 2004 2008
Revenue:
LICOMISE o oo e 29% 30% 31%
ST VI e ottt e e e e ﬂ ﬂ __62
TOtal TEV UG . ... ittt i e e e e e @ E)g _IQQ
Costs and expenses:
Cost Of HCEBNMSE TEVEIIUE . . . .o ottt e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e 1 1 2
COSt Of SEIVICE TEVEIUE . . . o oo ot et e e e et e e e e e e e i 28 26 31
Sales and marketing ... ... ... e 34 34 44
Research and development . ... ... .. ... 16 19
General and adminiStrative . ... ..ot i e 9 10

Amortization of acquired intangible assets . . ... .. . .. e
In-process research and development . ... .. ...

Total costs AaNd EXPENSES . . . . .ottt et e g8

16
9
1
Restructuring and other charges (credits) . ....... .. i 17 5
s 1
Operating income (10SS) .. ... ... it 12 6 (12)
B Eo 7S (T AT} oL 1 — —_
Oher EXPEMISE, TE . . . o vttt et e ettt e e e e e e e - __(_1 ) _gl_)
Income (10sS) before INCOME taXES . . .\ it i e e e 13 5 (13)
Provision fOr iNCOME TAXES . . o\ \ vttt ettt ettt e e et e e e e = __%
Netincome (J0SS) . .. ..ot e __1_2% __2 % @)%
Revenue

Our revenue consists of software license revenue and service revenue, which includes software maintenance as well as consulting,
implementation, training and other technical support revenue.

We report our revenue in two product categories:

¢ Enterprise Solutions, which includes Windchill, Pro/INTRALINK 8.0, Arbortext Publishing Engine and all other solutions
that help companies collaborate, manage and publish information across an extended enterprise; and

»  Desktop Solutions, which includes Pro/ENGINEER, Arbortext Editor and all other solutions that help companies create
content and improve desktop productivity.

We previously reported our revenue in the following two categories: Design Solutions and Collaboration and Control Solutions. In
the fourth quarter of 2005, as a result of the Arbortext acquisition, we redefined our product categories. This redefinition required
no reclassifications of prior reported revenues between our two product categories. Revenue historically reported as Design
Solutions is now reported as Desktop Solutions, and revenue historically reported as Collaboration and Control Solutions is now
reported as Enterprise Solutions.

We recently launched Pro/INTRALINK 8.0, which is based on our Windchill technology. Our prior Pro/INTRALINK product was
not Windchili-based and was either used as a stand-alone product or together with Windchill. In previous periods, half of
Pro/INTRALINK revenue was allocated to Design Solutions and half was allocated to Collaboration and Control Solutions. As a
result of the new technology configuration of Pro/INTRALINK 8.0, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2003, all Pro/INTRALINK
revenue is fully classified as Enterprise Solutions.
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Total Revenue

The following table illustrates trends from 2003 to 2005 in our software license and in our service revenues, as well as by product
category and geography:

Percent Percent
2005 Change 2004 Change 2003

(Dollar amounts in millions)

LICeNSE TEVENMUE . o vttt it ettt ettt e e e $209.7 5% $198.9 3)% $205.3
Service revenue:
Maintenance reVEIIUS . .. o\ vttt et et ae e 3426 6% 323.4 5% 309.1
Consulting and training SErviCe reVeNUE . ..................oounnuu. 168.4 22% 137.7 (13)% 157.5
Total SEIVICE FEVENUE ... .ottt e vttt e e isae e 511.0 11% 461.1 (H%  466.6
TOtAl TEVENUE . . ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt e et $720.7 9%* $660.0 (2)%* $671.9
Revenue by product category:
Enterprise Solutionsrevenue ............... P $217.6 21%  $179.3 3% $173.5
- Desktop SOIUtIONS TEVENUE . . . ...\t 503.1 5% 480.7 H% 498.4
Revenue by geography:
North AMEIICa ... ot $272.0 17%  $232.9 (% $249.4
BUIODE .ot e 2542 6%* 2402 — %* 2398
AsiaPacific . ... . 194.5 4%*  186.9 2%* 182.7

* On a consistent foreign currency basis from the prior period, total revenue increased 7% in 2005 compared to 2004 and
decreased 7% in 2004 compared to 2003; revenue in Europe increased 1% in 2005 compared to 2004 and decreased 10% in
2004 compared to 2003; and revenue in Asia-Pacific increased 2% in 2005 compared to 2004 and decreased 3% in 2004
compared to 2003.

In 2005, we had year-over-year revenue growth in both Desktop Solutions and Enterprise Solutions. This growth reflects increases
in consulting and training services and in maintenance, as well as an increase in the number of new seats sold in both product
categories. We attribute this growth to execution of our strategic initiatives described above as well as increased technology
spending by our customers, particularly in North America. The improvements reflect both organic growth as well as revenue from
sales of newly acquired products, particularly Arbortext products. Historically, Arbortext generated revenue for the twelve months
ended June 30, 2005 of approximately $40 million, which is not included in our results for 2005. Since the acquisition date

(July 19, 2005), Arbortext has been included in our 2005 results of operations. License revenue accounted for 29%, 30% and 31%
of total revenue in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, while consulting and training service revenue, which has a lower gross profit
margin, accounted for 23%, 21% and 23% of total revenue in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We enter into customer contracts
that may result in revenue being recognized over multiple reporting periods. License and/or consulting and training services
revenue of $1 million or more within a quarter recognized from such contracts was $85.1 million, $77.0 million and $71.5 million
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Increases in consulting and training services revenue are due primarily to the emphasis we
have placed on providing customers with process consulting, training and adoption services that help customets improve their
product development processes and adoption of our solutions. As we have increased our service revenues andiexpanded our service
product offerings, including computer-based training products that have a higher margin than other service products, we have also
improved our service margins, an important part of our overall strategy. Maintenance revenue represented 48%, 49% and 46% of
total revenues in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

We attribute the total revenue declines from 2003 to 2004 to a number of factors, including the relative saturation and increased
competitiveness of the North American and Furopean markets for design solutions, economic factors resulting in reluctance of our
customers to consummate large software purchases, our reduced delivery capacity caused by headcount reductions in our services
business, the weakness in technology spending in the global manufacturing economy during that period and the relative infancy of
the PLM market. The increase in maintenance revenue in 2004 over 2003 was primarily attributable to customers’ adoption of
Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire and prior period growth in Windchill-based solutions license revenue.
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We derived 62%, 65% and 63% of our total revenue from sales to customers outside of North America in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. We believe the improvements in our 2005 revenue in North America are attributable to implementation of our
strategic initiatives and also indicate that the economy in that region, where the manufacturing sector and related technology
spending had been weak over the past several years, improved over 2004. In addition to our organic growth in North America, the
acquisition of Arbortext, whose revenues were concentrated in that region, also contributed to our growth there. The increase in
European revenue in 2005 compared to 2004 is due primarily to improving sales and services performance in strategic accounts
and favorable foreign currency exchange as noted above. Revenue performance in Asia-Pacific in 2005 compared to 2004 reflects
a 12% increase in revenues in the Pacific Rim, partially offset by a 1% decrease in revenues in Japan. Japan experienced a decline
in license revenue from large deals, partially offset by an increase in consulting and training revenue. We believe the Asia-Pacific
region continues to present an important growth opportunity because global manufacturing companies have continued to invest in
that region and the market in that region for both our Desktop Solutions and Enterprise Solutions is relatively unsaturated.

‘We have been building and diversifying our reseller channel to become less dependent on a small number of resellers and to
provide the resources necessary for more effective distribution of our products. Although we typically receive lower revenue per
seat for an indirect sale versus a direct sale, we believe that using diverse and geographically dispersed resellers that focus on
smaller businesses provides an efficient and cost effective means to reach these customers and allows our direct sales force to focus
on larger sales opportunities. Total sales from our reseller channel, which are primarily for our CAD/CAM/CAE design solutions,
were $138.6 million (19% of total revenue) in 2005, $135.9 million (21% of total revenue) in 2004 and $106.0 million (16% of
total revenue) in 2003. We attribute this performance to our efforts to expand our reseller channel and to the success of
Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire among small- and medium-sized businesses as Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire has become increasingly
competitive in this market, both relative to our historic offerings as well as to competitive offerings in this market segment. We
continue to see growth in reseller channel revenue in North America and Europe. While reseller channel performance in Asia-
Pacific was not as strong as in our other regions in 2005, we recently made organizational and infrastructure changes to our reseller
channel in that region that we expect will resuit in higher revenue growth in Asia-Pacific in 2006.

Enterprise Solutions Revenue

The following table illustrates trends from 2003 to 2005 in our Enterprise Solutions software license revenue and service revenue:

Percent Percent
2008 Change 2004 Change 2003

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Enterprise Solutions:

LICENSE FEVENUE . o\ ittt ettt ettt et $ 71.1 19% § 59.6 3% $ 57.7
Service revenue:

MaIntENanCe TEVENUE . . .o\ v i et vt et e et e e et e 56.3 19% 474 37% 34.5

Consulting and training service revenue . ................... ... 90.2 25% 72.3 (11)% 81.3

Total SEIVICE TEVENUE . . .t vt ot et e e e e e s 146.5 22% 119.7 3% 115.8

Total rEVENUE . .. oo $217.6 21%  $179.3 3% $173.5

Total revenue from our Enterprise Solutions software and related services was 30%, 27% and 26% of our total revenue in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.
The increase in Enterprise Solutions revenue in 2005 compared to 2004 was due to:

« stronger sales of software licenses, maintenance and consulting and training services, which reflects our success in marketing
incremental adoption of our solutions;

* more wide-spread adoption of our solutions by both our existing and new customers;
* revenue contribution, particularly license revenue, from the acquisition of Arbortext; and

¢ the recent launch of Pro/INTRALINK (which is now Windchill-based).
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Enterprise Solutions license revenue grew 19% and 3% in 2005 and 2004, respectively, compared to the previous periods. The
number of new Windchill seats added during the year was 42% higher in 2005 than in 2004, compared to a decline of 12% in 2004
from 2003. Increases in our Enterprise Solutions maintenance revenue and consulting and training service revenue are due
primarily to an increase in the number of new users of our enterprise solutions as new customers are added and existing customers
expand their implementation to additional users. The increase in 2005 reflects organic growth as well as growth from the
acquisition of Arbortext. Consulting and training service revenue growth is also attributable to our focus on'new process consulting
offerings. Consulting and training service revenues in 2004 were adversely affected by our reduced services delivery capacity due
to our 2004 headcount reductions.

We believe our success in growing Enterprise Solutions revenue is attributable in large part to our targeted Windchill-based
solutions (including our Windchill Link solutions) and related services packages. These solutions can be implemented in
incremental fashion in accordance with our product development system adoption roadmap, which provides:customers with a
suggested approach for purchasing and implementing our solutions in stages, and reduce customers’ initial required investments.

We believe we can increase our Enterprise Solutions revenue by improving our ability to sell enterprise solutions to small- and
medium-sized businesses. To achieve this, we are expanding our distribution of PLM solutions by offering qualified resellers the
ability to sell our Windchill Link solutions as well as related services. In addition, during 2005, we began to offer on demand
versions of several Windchill Link solutions that help minimize customers’ cost of ownership and reduce implementation time. We
describe these on demand solutions under “Item 1. Business — Our Principal Products and Services — Enterprise Solutions”
beginning on page 4. The revenue contribution from these initiatives was not material in 2005.

Desktop Solutions Revenue

The following table illustrates trends from 2003 to 2005 in our Desktop Solutions software license revenue and service revenue:

Percent Percent
2005 Change 2004 Change 2003

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Desktop Solutions:
LACENSE TEVENMUE . ...ttt t ittt e e e et $138.6 ()% $139.3 6)% $147.6
Service revenue:
MaIntenance TEVENUS . . ..ottt vt et ettt et et e e 286.3 4% 276.0 1% 274.6
Consulting and training Service revenue . ......................... 78.2 20% 65.4 (14)% 76.2
Total ServiCe TEVENUE .. .. it e 364.5 7% 3414 3%  350.8
TOtAl TEVEIUE . ..\ttt et et e e e e e e e e e e $503.1 5%  $480.7 4% $498.4

Total revenue from our Desktop Solutions and related services was 70%, 73% and 74% of our total revenue in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The year-over-year decline in license revenue in 2005 and 2004 was primarily due to lower revenue from
high-end packages, particularly from large deals in Japan in 2004 not replicated in 2005. Despite lower revenue from high-end
packages, sales of our low-end and mid-range packages within our installed base and to new customers increased and we
experienced a 12% increase in the total number of new Pro/ENGINEER seats added during each of 2005 and 2004 compared to
new seats added in the previous periods. We believe such sales provide the foundation for long-term relationships and repeat
business, as well as for potential sales of services and our overall product development system within these accounts. Increases in
our Desktop Solutions maintenance and consulting and training revenue are due primarily to the increase in new seats over the past
two years and improvements in our renewal rates. We believe these trends are a reflection of further customer adoption of
Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire. The increase in Desktop Solutions consulting and training service revenue is also due to higher revenue
from sales of consulting services and training packages, including computer-based training products, that help our customers
improve user proficiency and engineering productivity. The decrease in Desktop Solutions total service revenue in 2004 was due in
large part to license revenue declines in prior periods as well as our reduced services delivery capacity caused by our 2004
headcount reductions. :
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We believe that our decision to offer Pro/ENGINEER packages with differing price points and functionality will continue to
contribute to adoption of these solutions. We designed these packages to address our customers’ purchasing patterns and to better
compete in the small- and medium-sized business segment of our market. Because our low- and high-end offerings are based on
the same architecture, our solutions are scalable between different types of users or as customer needs grow, which differentiates
our products from others in the marketplace. Our Desktop Solutions are now more competitive with lower-end modeling tools on
the market that are known for ease of use, while maintaining the functionality for which Pro/ENGINEER is known.

Despite recent signs of improvement, Desktop Solutions revenue continues to be adversely affected by the relative maturity and
saturation of the North American and European CAD/CAM/CAE markets, the difficulty associated with displacing incumbent
product design systems in the discrete market for computer-aided design solutions, and increased competition and price pressure
from products offering more limited functionality at lower cost. However, despite declines in 2005 Desktop Solutions revenue in
Japan compared to the comparable prior period, we believe the Asia-Pacific region continues to present an opportunity for growth
because the market is relatively unsaturated, the number of mechanical engineers is growing, and companies are continuing to
migrate from two-dimensional to three-dimensional design tools. To address this, we have made recent organizational and
infrastructure changes in our reseller channel in that region that we expect will result in higher revenue growth in Asia-Pacific in
2006.

Costs and Expenses

Over the past several years, we have made significant investments necessary to transform our business from providing a single line
of technical software with a largely direct distribution model supplemented by a small number of channel partners to providing a
family of enterprise solutions with an expanded channel and partner-involved distribution model. In 2003, after completing a
significant portion of this transformation, we implemented a restructuring plan to reduce our cost structure, which we completed in
the fourth quarter of 2004. All cost and expense categories in 2004 and 2003 were impacted by restructuring actions taken in those
periods. The following table illustrates trends from 2003 to 2005 in our costs and expenses:

Percent Percent
2005 Change 2004 Change 2003

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Costs and Expenses ~ ‘
Cost Of HCENSE TEVEIUE . .. o\ttt e e et $ 84 3% $ 82 (25% $ 110

COSt Of SETVICE TEVEIIUS . .. ittt ettt et e et ettt 199.8 15% 1739 (6% 207.5
Salesand marketing . ...... .. . 243.8 8% 2261 (24)% 2985
Research and development . ... ... ... . i 118.3 10% 1080 (16)% 1284
General and administrative .. ... . 63.6 9% 583  (16)% 69.4
Amortization of acquired intangible assets ................. .. .. ... 1.6 (68)% 52 (A% 5.9
In-process research and development . ........... ... . ... oL 07  100% — —% —
Restructuring and other charges (credits) ......... ... ... . i, (1.3) A03)H% 429 39% 309
Total CoSts anNd EXPENSES . .\ vt vttt ettt e $634.9 2%* $622.6 (1N%* $751.6

* On a consistent foreign currency basis from the prior period, total costs and expenses were flat from 2004 to 2005 and decreased
20% in 2004 compared to 2003.

As described in Note A of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” effective July 3, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment.” Accordingly, for the three months ended September 30, 2005, stock-based compensation was accounted
for under SFAS No. 123(R), which requires the expensing of the fair value of stock-based awards in our consolidated statement of
operations, while for the nine months ended July 2, 2005 and for 2004 and 2003, stock-based compensation was accounted for
under APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” which required only the expensing of the intrinsic value of stock-
based awards. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we granted to our employees, directors, and officers an aggregate of 1,928,000
shares of restricted stock (809,000 shares of which were performance-based awards that could be earned in whole or in part
(subject to further time-based vesting) upon achievement of 2005 performance criteria) and 3,390,007 restricted stock units, each
of which represents the right to receive one share of our common stock. Also, in the fourth quarter of 2005, we offered eligible
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employees the opportunity to exchange eligible stack options for a cash payment. Employees holding approximately 18.3 million
eligible stock options elected to participate in the stock option exchange. Accounting for the stock option exchange was recorded in
our consolidated financial statements in the fourth quarter of 2005. The aggregate amount of the cash payments made to employees
in exchange for their eligible options was $12.7 million and was paid in the fourth quarter. Of the total cash payments made in
connection with the stock option exchange, $0.5 million was recorded as compensation expense and $12.2 million was recorded as
a charge to stockholders’ equity, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). The amounts in the table above include
stock-based compensation expense from our stock-based awards and completing the stock option exchange as follows:

Year ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in millions)

Cost Of lICEMSE TEVENUE . ..o ottt ettt ettt et ettt e e $01 $— $—
CoSt Of SETVICE TEVEIMUE . . . oo vttt ettt et e e e et 2.6 — —
Salesand marketing . ........ ... ... 5.1 — —
Research and development .. ... ... ... . . i e 3.8 0.4 0.5
General and administrative .. ... . i 39 — —
Total stock-based compensation €Xpense . ... ....coueierneenaennennnn. $155 3504 $05

Total costs and expenses increased to $634.9 million in 2005 compared to $622.6 million in 2004. Headcount increased to 3,751 at
the end of 2005 from 3,042 at the end of 2004. Our increase in costs and expenses, including headcount, was primarily due to the
following:

« we made measured increases in our sales organization by adding direct sales representatives to support our strategic accounts
and by adding other personnel to support our indirect distribution channel;

* we added services delivery capacity to address customer demand,;

¢ we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) and revised our stock-based compensation program,;

* we completed three acquisitions in the second half of 2005 that added operating costs and increased headcount by over 250
employees;

* we invested in research and development programs aimed at adding vertical functionality to our products; and

* we invested in strategic corporate development initiatives and in ongoing Sarbanes-Oxley compliance work in the general and
administrative area.

These increases were partially offset by a decrease in restructuring and other charges.

We anticipate that we will make additional measured increases to operating expenses to support our base business and to fund the
revenue-generating initiatives described above and in Executive Overview beginning on page 10.

Total costs and expenses decreased to $622.6 million in 2004 compared to $751.6 million in 2003, primarily as a result of our
restructuring plan initiated in 2003 and completed in the fourth quarter of 2004. In 2004, to achieve our objective of restoring
profitability, we implemented cost cutting measures that reduced our headcount, resulting in lower aggregate salaries, benefits and
related costs. As a result, our headcount decreased to 3,042 at the end of 2004 from 3,500 at the end of 2003. In addition, our cost
reduction initiatives resulted in reduced facility charges, including rent and related overhead costs. Primarily as a result of
headcount reductions and lease costs related to excess facilities, we recorded restructuring and other charges of $42.9 million and
$30.9 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. See Restructuring and Other Charges (Credits) below and Note B of “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” for further discussion.
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Cost of License Revenue

Our cost of license revenue consists of fixed and variable costs associated with reproducing and distributing software and
documentation as well as royalties paid to third parties for technology embedded in or licensed with our software products. Cost of
license revenue as a percentage of license revenue was 4% for 2005 and 2004 and 5% for 2003. This ratio varies depending on the
product mix sold and the effect of fixed and variable royaities in relation to the level of license revenue. The decrease in cost of
license revenue in 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily due to lower royalty costs of approximately $2.2 million in 2004,
resulting primarily from lower revenue. Cost of license revenue in 2005 includes amortization of purchased software from our
recent acquisitions totaling $0.6 million compared with none in 2004 and 2003. We expect amortization of purchased software
from our completed acquisitions to total approximately $3.1 million in 2006.

Cost of Service Revenue

Our cost of service revenue includes costs associated with training, customer support and consulting personnel, such as salaries and
related costs, third-party subcontractor fees, costs associated with the release of maintenance updates (including related royalty
costs) and facility costs. Cost of service revenue as a percentage of service revenue was 39% in 2005, 38% in 2004 and 44% in
2003. Service related employee headcount increased 28% at the end of 2005 after a decrease of 17% at the end of 2004, each
compared to the prior year. At the end of 2005, 2004 and 2003, services headcount was 1,019, 797 and 955, respectively. Total
salaries, commissions, benefits and travel costs were higher by an aggregate of approximately $14.0 million (including $2.6 million
related to the change in accounting for stock-based compensation described above) in 2005 compared to 2004. These costs were
higher due to planned increases, including by acquisition, in our services delivery capacity and higher commissions due to the
increase in service revenue, partially offset by reductions in employee benefit costs, primarily medical and costs related to
employees on global assignments. The cost of third-party consulting services was $8.2 million higher in 2005 compared to 2004, due
to the use of such services in support of increases in training and professional services revenue. Royalty costs were $3.5 million
higher in 2005 compared to 2004, due primarily to the $5.0 million one-time benefit recorded in 2004 described below. The
decreased cost of service revenue in 2004 compared to 2003 was due to the reduction in employee headcount in our services
organization at the end of 2004 as compared to the end of 2003, resulting in a $16.9 million reduction in compensation, benefit and
travel costs. In addition, royalty costs were $11.5 million lower in 2004 than in 2003, primarily as a result of a contract renegotiation
finalized in the second quarter of 2004, resulting in a one-time benefit of $5.0 million from the reversal of an accrual established in
the fourth quarter of 2003.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing expenses primarily include salaries and benefits, sales commissions, advertising and marketing programs,
travel and facility costs. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenue were 34% in 2005 and 2004 and 44% in
2003. Total sales and marketing employee headcount increased 15% at the end of 2005 and decreased 15% at the end of 2004,
compared to the prior year. At the end of 2005, 2004 and 2003, sales and marketing headcount was 1,087, 945 and 1,114,
respectively. Total salaries, commissions, benefits and travel costs were higher by an aggregate of approximately $23.4 million
(including $5.1 million related to the change in accounting for stock-based compensation described above) in 2005 compared to
2004. These costs were higher in 2005 due to planned increases, including by acquisition, in headcount and higher commissions,
due primarily to changes to our commission structure and to increased license and service revenue. These costs were partially
offset by lower costs related to fewer employees on global assignments. In addition, marketing program costs were $2.7 million
higher in 2005 compared to 2004. These cost increases were partially offset by a $5.0 million decrease in depreciation, rent,
telephone and office support costs due to facility closures and consolidations. Compared to 2003, total sales and marketing
expenses decreased 24% in 2004, primarily as a result of headcount reductions, as well as reductions in marketing program costs,
which were $8.4 million lower in 2004,

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses consist principally of salaries and benefits, costs of computer equipment and facility
expenses. We released a new version of Windchill in the third quarter of 2005 and we are scheduled to release the next version of
Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire in the spring of 2006. Research and development expenses as a percentage of total revenue were 16% in
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2005 and 2004 and 19% in 2003. Research and development headcount increased 28% at the end of 2005 and decreased 16% at the
end of 2004, compared to the prior year. At the end of 2005, 2004 and 2003, research and development headcount was 1,242, 971
and 1,083, respectively. Total salaries, benefits, and travel costs were higher in 2005 compared to 2004 by an aggregate of
approximately $11.2 million (including $3.8 million related to the change in accounting for stock-based compensation described
above). In addition, the cost of third-party development services was higher by $3.0 million. The decrease in expenses in 2004
compared to 2003 was due primarily to shifting certain development activities to our existing facilities in India where overall
research and development costs are lower, to lower depreciation and telecommunication costs, and to cost reductions from our
restructuring plan completed in 2004, which resulted in lower headcount at the end of 2004 compared to the end of 2003.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses include the costs of our corporate, finance, information technology, human resources,
legal and administrative functions as well as bad debt expense. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of total
revenue were 9% in 2005 and 2004 and 10% in 2003. General and administrative headcount increased by 23% at the end of 2005
after a decrease of 7% at the end of 2004, compared to the prior year. At the end of 2005, 2004 and 2003, general and
administrative headcount was 385, 314 and 336, respectively. Total salaries, benefits, and travel costs were higher in 2005
compared to 2004 by an aggregate of approximately $6.9 million (including $3.9 million related to the change in accounting for
stock-based compensation described above). In addition, the cost of outside professional services increased by $3.5 million,
primarily related to corporate development initiatives and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance. These increases were partially offset by a
$4.1 million reduction in depreciation, rent, office support and insurance costs and a $1.5 million decrease in bad debt expense.
The decrease in expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily due to a reduction in headcount as well as lower depreciation,
bad debt expense and insurance costs. The decreases were partially offset by an increase in compensation expense associated with
incentive plan bonuses for which targets were met in 2004. Bad debt expense in 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $1.6 million, $3.1
million and $5.1 million, respectively. We attribute these decreases in bad debt expense to improved credit risk management and
improving economic conditions.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

The amortization of acquired intangible assets line item on the statement of operations represents the amortization of non-product
related intangible assets from acquisitions. Amortization of these acquisition-related intangibles, which totaled $1.6 million, $5.2
million and $5.9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, primarily relates to the amortization of customer-related intangibles.
The decrease in 2005 compared to 2004 was due to certain intangible assets being fully amortized in 2004, partially offset by
amortization of intangible assets resulting from our acquisitions in 2004 and 2005. We expect amortization of non-product related
intangible assets from our completed acquisitions to total approximately $4.6 million in 2006.

Our acquisition of Arbortext in the fourth quarter of 2005 resulted in an increase in intangible assets and goodwill of $196.7
million, including $35.3 million of customer lists, $10.5 million of purchased software, $0.8 million of trademarks, which are being
amortized over estimated useful lives of 10 years, 3-5 years and 5 years, respectively, and $150.1 million of goodwill.

Our acquisitions of Polyplan Technologies, Inc. and Aptavis Technologies Corporation in the third quarter of 2005 resulted in an
increase in intangible assets and goodwill of $8.9 million, including $3.3 million in other intangible assets primarily comprised of
purchased software, which is being amortized over 3 years and $5.6 million of goodwill.

Our acquisition of OHIO Design Automation, Inc. in the third quarter of 2004 resulted in an increase in intangible assets and
goodwill of $10.4 million, including $1.8 million for customer lists and $1.6 million for purchased software, which are being
amortized over estimated useful lives of 5 years and 3 years, respectively, and $7.0 million of goodwill.

In-process Research and Development

Purchased in-process research and development of $0.7 million was written-off in the fourth quarter of 2005 and relates to two
Arbortext projects under development, for which technological feasibility had not yet been established at the acquisition date and
for which there was no alternative future use. The value of the purchased in-process research and development was determined
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using the residual income approach, which discounts expected future cash flows from projects under development to their net
present value. These development projects are expected to be completed by the third quarter of 2006, and the expected cost to
complete was approximately $2 million as of the acquisition date.

Restructuring and Other Charges (Credits)

In 2005, 2004 and 2003, we recorded restructuring and other charges (credits) of $(1.3) million, $42.9 million and $30.9 million,
respectively, primarily associated with reductions in workforce and excess facility obligations to reduce our cost structure and to
improve profitability. During those same periods, we made cash payments related to restructuring and other charges (including
payments relating to restructuring and other charges recorded prior to 2003) of $10.8 million, $40.6 million and $24.4 million,
respectively. Amounts not yet paid at September 30, 2005 related to restructuring and other charges taken during the current and all
prior periods were $34.4 million, including $2.9 million recorded in connection with our acquisition of Arbortext, and primarily
relate to excess facility obligations to be paid out through 2014. Of the total amount accrued at September 30, 2005, we expect to
make cash disbursements within the next twelve months estimated at $11 million for restructuring charges incurred in 2005 and
prior periods and $3 million for costs associated with the execution of our Arbortext integration plan.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we recorded a net credit to restructuring and other charges of $1.3 million. The restructuring credit
includes a $3.0 million credit for changes in our estimated liabilities for facilities that we vacated, offset by $1.7 million of
severance and termination costs related to nine employees terminated during the period. The $3.0 million credit is due primarily to
reoccupying, in the fourth quarter of 2005, a portion of our headquarters facility that was previously vacated and included in
restructuring costs in a prior period. The space was available for sublease and was being marketed, but was reoccupied due to space
requirements related to our three acquisitions completed in 2005 and general business growth. As of September 30, 2005,
substantially all of our remaining headquarters excess space has been sublet.

In 2004, we recorded restructuring and other charges of $21.0 million for severance and termination benefits related to 459
employees terminated during 2004 and $21.9 million related primarily to excess facilities. The charges for excess facilities were
primarily related to gross lease commitments in excess of estimated sublease income for excess facilities. Of the total restructuring
and other charges recorded in 2004, $1.9 million was non-cash for the write-off of leasehold improvements related to the excess
facilities. We completed the restructuring program in the fourth quarter of 2004.

[n 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $17.9 million for severance and termination benefits reiated to 361 employees
terminated during 2003. We also recorded charges of $11.6 million related to excess facilities and $1.4 million of other costs,
primarily related to the write-off of acquired technology. The increases in the liability for excess facilities in 2003 related primarily
to revised estimates of gross lease commitments in excess of expected sublease income for leases assumed in our 1998 acquisition
of Computervision Corporation as well as to consolidation of existing leased facilities.

Interest Income

Interest income relates to earnings on the investment of our available cash balances and totaled $6.9 million, $3.5 million and $3.3
million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in 2005 is related primarily to higher average cash balances and interest
rates. We expect this amount to be lower in 2006 due to the fact that we used $198.9 million of cash to acquire Arbortext and other
businesses in the second half of 2005. The modest increase in interest income in 2004 compared to 2003 was due to higher average
cash balances, partially offset by lower interest rates.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net includes costs of hedging contracts, certain realized and unrealized foreign currency transaction gains or losses,
charges incurred in connection with financing customer contracts, write-downs of investments and foreign exchange gains or losses
resulting from the required period-end currency remeasurement of the financial statements of our subsidiaries that use the U.S.
dollar as their functional currency. A large portion of our revenue and expenses is transacted in foreign currencies. To reduce our
exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, we engage in hedging transactions involving the use of foreign currency
forward contracts, primarily in Western European and Asian currencies. Other expense, net totaled $1.4 million, $3.9 million and
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$6.1 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decreases in other expense, net in 2005 and 2004 compared to the prior
years were due primarily to lower charges in connection with financing customer contracts, which were $0.8 million in 20085, $2.1
million in 2004 and $3.9 million in 2003.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 8% on pre-tax income of $91.3 million in 2005, 6% on pre-tax income of $37.0 million in 2004, and
19% on a pre-tax loss of $82.4 million in 2003. The difference between the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% and the
effective tax rate of 8% in 2005 was primarily due to a tax benefit of $12.1 million arising from the reduction of our tax liabilities
upon the favorable resolution of tax audits in a foreign jurisdiction and to taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions with a lower
effective tax rate, partially offset by U.S. operating losses that could not be benefited. The difference between the statutory federal
income tax rate of 35% and the effective tax rate of 6% in 2004 was due primarily to an $18.9 million one-time tax benefit related
to a U.S. federal income tax refund described below, partially offset by U.S. operating losses that could not be benefited and to
taxes payable in certain foreign jurisdictions. The difference between the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% and the effective
tax rate provision of 19% in 2003 was due primarily to U.S. operating losses that could not be benefited and to taxes payable in
certain foreign jurisdictions. As a result of operating losses incurred in recent years and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of
profitability in future periods, in 2002 we increased our valuation allowance for our remaining net deferred tax assets by
approximately $48.0 million through the provision for income taxes. Due to the uncertainty regarding the realizability of deferred
tax assets (see Critical Accounting Policies below and Note F of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™), in 2005, 2004 and
2003 we maintained our full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in the U.S., primarily related to operating loss
carryforwards, and in certain other foreign jurisdictions.

In the normal course of business, PTC and its subsidiaries are examined by various taxing authorities, including the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) in the United States. In 2005, we recorded tax benefits of $12.1 million arising from the reduction of our
tax liabilities upon the favorable resolution of foreign jurisdiction tax audits. In fiscal 2004, the IRS concluded its examination of
our income tax returns for fiscal years 1998 through 2000 resulting in a tax refund, including interest, to us of $39.5 million. We
received notice of the refund amount in the fourth quarter of 2004, and we received the refund in the first quarter of 2005. The
refund resulted in a nonrecurring tax benefit of $18.9 million in 2004. At September 30, 2004, income taxes receivable included
expected refunds of U.S. federal income taxes and related interest totaling $39.5 million, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. In preparing our financial statements, we make estimates, assumptions and judgments that can have a significant
impact on our reported revenues, results from operations, and net income (loss), as well as on the value of certain assets and
liabilities on our balance sheet. These estimates, assumptions and judgments about future events and their effects on our results
cannot be determined with certainty, and are made based on our historical experience and on other assumptions that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates may change as new events occur or additional information is obtained, and
we may periodically be faced with uncertainties, the outcomes of which are not within our control and may not be known for a
prolonged period of time.

While there are a number of accounting policies, methods and estimates affecting our financial statements described in Note A of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the areas that are our most important critical accounting policies and estimates are
described below and include:

*  revenue recognition;

¢ valuation of assets and liabilities of business combinations;
+ valuation of goodwill and intangible assets;

* accounting for income taxes;

* accounting for pensions;
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» accounting for stock-based compensation;
» allowance for accounts and other receivables; and

» restructuring charges.

A critical accounting policy is one that is both material to the presentation of our financial statements and requires us to make
difficult, subjective or complex judgments that could have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Critical accounting policies require us to make assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time of the estimate, and
different estimates that we could have used, or changes in the estimate that are reasonably likely to occur, may have a material
impact on our financial condition or results of operations. Because the use of estimates is inherent in the financial reporting
process, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Accounting policies, guidelines and interpretations related to our critical accounting policies and estimates are generally subject to
numerous sources of authoritative guidance and are often reexamined by accounting standards rule makers and regulators. These
rule makers and/or regulators may promulgate interpretations, guidance or regulations that may result in changes to our accounting
policies, which could have a material impact on our financial position and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

While we apply the guidance of Statement of Position (SOP) No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, and Statement of Position
No. 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions, both issued by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as well as SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, Revenue Recognition, we
exercise judgment and use estimates in connection with the determination of the amounts of software license and services revenues
to be recognized in each accounting period. Our primary judgments involve the following:

* determining whether collection is probable;
+  assessing whether the fee is fixed or determinable;

+ determining whether service arrangements, including modifications and customization of the underlying software, are not
essential to the functionality of the licensed software and thus would gualify as “service transactions” under SOP 97-2,
resulting in the revenue for license and service elements of an agreement to be recorded separately; and

+ determining the fair value of services and maintenance elements included in multiple-element arrangements, which is the basis
for allocating and deferring revenue for such services and maintenance.

We derive revenues from three primary sources: (1) software licenses, (2) maintenance services and (3) consulting and training
services. Revenue by type for 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

Year ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
LICENSE TEVEIUE « + v v o v o v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $209,717 $198,860  $205,301
Maintenance SEIVICES FEVENUE . . oot ittt ettt e e e 342,569 323,420 309,091
Consulting and training Services revenue . ........................ 168,433 137,749 157,548
TOtAl TEVENUE . . o oo oottt e e e e e e e $720,719  $660,029  $671,940

For software license arrangements that do not require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, we
recognize revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred (generally, FOB shipping
point or electronic distribution), (3) the fee is fixed or determinable, and (4) collection is probable. Substantially all of our license
revenues are recognized in this manner.

Our software is distributed primarily through our direct sales force. In addition, we have an indirect distribution channel through
alliances with resellers. Revenue arrangements with resellers are recognized on a sell-through basis; that is, when we receive
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persuasive evidence that the reseller has sold the products to an end-user customer. We do not offer contractual rights of return,
stock balancing, or price protection to our resellers, and actual product returns from them have been insignificant to date. As a
result, we do not maintain reserves for product returns and related allowances.

At the time of each sale transaction, we must make an assessment of the collectibility of the amount due from the customer.
Revenue is only recognized at that time if management deems that collection is probable. In making this assessment, we consider
customer credit-worthiness and historical payment experience. At that same time, we assess whether fees are fixed or determinable
and free of contingencies or significant uncertainties. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized only as
payments become due from the customer, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria are met. In assessing whether the fee
is fixed or determinable, we consider the payment terms of the transaction and our collection experience in similar transactions
without making concessions, among other factors. Our software license arrangements generally do not include customer
acceptance provisions. However, if an arrangement includes an acceptance provision, we record revenue only upon the earlier of
(1) receipt of written acceptance from the customer or (2) expiration of the acceptance period.

Our software arrangements often include implementation and consulting services that are sold separately under consulting
engagement contracts or as part of the software license arrangement. When we determine that such services dre not essential to the
functionality of the licensed software and qualify as “service transactions” under SOP 97-2, we record revenue separately for the
license and service elements of these arrangements. Generally, we consider that a service is not essential to the functionality of the
software based on various factors, including if the services may be provided by independent third parties experienced in providing
such consulting and implementation in coordination with dedicated customer personnel. If an arrangement does not qualify for
separate accounting of the license and service elements, then license revenue is recognized together with the consulting services
using either the percentage-of-completion or completed-contract method of contract accounting. Contract accounting is also
applied to any software arrangements that include customer-specific acceptance criteria or where the license payment is tied to the
performance of consulting services. Under the percentage-of-completion method, we estimate the stage of completion of contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees based on hours or costs incurred to date as compared with estimated total project hours or costs
at completion. If we do not have a sufficient basis to measure progress towards completion, revenue is recognized upon completion
of the contract. When total cost estimates exceed revenues, we accrue for the estimated losses immediately. The use of the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting requires significant judgment relative to estimating total contract costs, including
assumptions relative to the length of time to complete the project, the nature and complexity of the work to be performed, and
anticipated changes in salaries and other costs. When adjustments in estimated contract costs are determined, such revisions may
have the effect of adjusting, in the current period, the earnings applicable to performance in prior periods.

We generally use the residual method to recognize revenues from arrangements that include oné or more elements to be delivered
at a future date, when evidence of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Under the residual method, the fair value of the
undelivered elements (e.g., maintenance, consulting and training services) based on vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) is
deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered elements (i.e., software license). If evidence
of the fair value of one or more of the undelivered services does not exist, all revenues are deferred and recognized when delivery
of all of those services has occurred or when fair values can be established. We determine VSOE of the fair value of services
revenues based upon our recent pricing for those services when sold separately. VSOE of the fair value of majintenance services
may also be determined based on a substantive maintenance renewal clause, if any, within a customer contract. Our current pricing
practices are influenced primarily by product type, purchase volume, maintenance term and customer location. We review services
revenues sold separately and maintenance renewal rates on a periodic basis and update, when appropriate, our VSOE of fair value
for such services to ensure that it reflects our recent pricing experience.

Valuation of Assets and Liabilities of Business Combinations

In accordance with busiriess combination accounting, we allocate the purchase price of acquired companies to the tangible and
intangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and in-process research and development based on their estimated fair values.
Determining these fair values requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to
intangible assets. ‘ :

Our identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of developed technology, core technology, tradenames, customer lists and
contracts, software support agreements and related relationships and consulting contracts. Developed technology consists of
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products that have reached technological feasibility. Core technology represents a combination of processes, inventions and trade
secrets related to the design and development of acquired products. Customer lists and contracts and software support agreements
and related relationships represent the underlying relationships and agreements with customers of the acquiree’s installed base. We
have generally valued intangible assets using a discounted cash flow model. Critical estimates in valuing certain of the intangible
assets include but are not limited to:

» future expected cash flows from software license sales, maintenance and customer support agreements, consulting contracts,
customer contracts and related customer relationships and acquired developed technologies and trademarks and trade names;

» expected costs to develop the in-process research and development into commercially viable products and estimating cash
flows from the projects when completed;

* the acquired company’s brand awareness and market position, as well as assumptions about the period of time the acquired
brand will continue to be used by the combined company; and

» discount rates used to determine the present value of estimated future cash flows.

In addition, we estimate the useful lives of our intangible assets based upon the expected period over which we anticipate
generating economic benefits from the related intangible asset.

Net tangible assets consist of the fair values of tangible assets less the fair values of assumed liabilities and obligations. Except for
deferred revenues and restructuring reserves, net tangible assets were generally valued by us at the respective carrying amounts
recorded by the acquiree, as we believed that their carrying values approximated their fair values at the acquisition date.

The values assigned to deferred revenue reflect an amount equivalent to the estimated cost plus an appropriate profit margin to
perform the services related to the acquiree’s software support contracts. Restructuring reserves include the severance costs related
to employees of the acquiree, planned closure of certain facilities and other costs associated with exiting activities of the acquiree.

Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at that time, but which are inherently uncertain
and unpredictable. Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which
may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.

Valuation of Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

Our net goodwill and acquired intangible assets totaled $258.8 million and $56.5 million as of September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. As described in Note M of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”, we have two reporting units: (1) our
software products reportable segment, and (2) our services reportable segment. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, goodwill and
acquired intarigible assets in the aggregate attributable to our software products reportable segment was $242.6 million and $56.5
million, respectively, and attributable to our services reportable segment was $16.2 million and $0 million, respectively. The
increase in goodwill and acquired intangible assets in 20035 is due primarily to our acquisition of Arbortext, which resulted in
goodwill and acquired intangible assets of $196.7 million.

We assess the impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets on at least an annual basis and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important {on an overall
company basis and reportable segment basis, as applicable) that could trigger an impairment review include significant
underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in our use of the acquired assets or
a significant change in the strategy for our business, significant negative industry or economic trends, a significant decline in our
stock price for a sustained period, or a reduction of our market capitalization relative to net book value.

The goodwill impairment test prescribed by SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires us to identify reporting
units and to determine estimates of the fair values of our reporting units as of the date we test for impairment. To conduct these
tests of goodwill, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. If the reporting unit’s carrying value
exceeded its fair value, we would record an impairment loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of goodwill and its
fair value. We estimate the fair values of our reporting units using discounted cash flow valuation models. Those models require
estimates of future revenues, profits, capital expenditures, working capital and discount rates for each reporting unit. We estimate
these amounts by evaluating historical trends, current budgets, operating plans and industry data. We conduct our annual
impairment test of goodwill and indefinite lived assets as of the end of the third quarter of each fiscal year. We completed our
annual impairment review as of the end of the third quarter of 2005 and concluded that no impairment charge was required as of
that date.
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For long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill, we reassess the recoverability of the asset based on
projected undiscounted future cash flows over the asset’s remaining life if an event occurs or circumstances change that would,
more likely than not, reduce the fair value of the reportable segment below its carrying value. When the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its undiscounted cash flows, we record an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of
the asset, determined:using projected discounted future cash flows of the asset. Determining the fair value of our reporting units for
the purpose of testing the potential impairment of individual assets and goodwill requires significant judgiment by management.
Different judgments could yield different results.

Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to calculate our income tax expense
based on taxable income by jurisdiction. There are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain.
Some of these uncertainties arise as a consequence of revenue-sharing and cost-reimbursement arrangements among related entities
and the differing tax treatment of revenue and cost items across various jurisdictions. If a foreign jurisdiction were to require us to
revise our cost reimbursement arrangements, that revision could affect our tax liability.

The income tax accounting process also involves estimating our actual current tax liability, together with assessing temporary
differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax
assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that our
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that it is more likely than not that all
or a portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized, we must establish a valuation allowance as a charge to income tax expense.
In 2002, we increased our deferred tax valuation allowance and recorded a corresponding $48.0 million charge to income tax
expense and, in 2005, 2004 and 2003, we have fully reserved for additional deferred tax assets in the U.S. and certain foreign
jurisdictions, primarily related to net operating loss carryforwards generated. The decision to record the valuation allowance
required significant management judgment. Had we not recorded this valuation allowance, we would have reported materially
different results. Significant management judgment is required to determine when the realization of our deferred tax assets in the
future is considered more likely than not. If and when we conclude that realization is more likely than not, we will record a
reduction to our valuation allowance that will increase net income, goodwill and/or additional paid-in-capital in the period such
determination is made. While we have realized consolidated operating profits over the last several quarters, we have not yet
concluded that realization of all of our deferred tax assets in the future is more likely than not. In the fourth quarter of 2005, due
principally to the tax expense associated with the grant and vesting of restricted stock units and the stock option exchange, our U.S.
legal entities incurred a taxable loss. Net deferred tax assets at September 30, 2005 were $4.1 million, comprised of deferred tax
assets of $188.1 million, deferred tax liabilities of $31.4 million and a valuation allowance of $152.6 million. Our deferred tax
assets consist primarily of net operating loss carryforwards.

Accounting for Pensions

We sponsor a frozen pension plan covering mostly inactive participants in the United States. We make several assumptions that are
used in calculating the expense and liability of the plans. These key assumptions include the expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets and the discount rate. In selecting the expected long-term rate of return on assets, we consider the average future rate of
earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits under the pension plan. This includes
considering the plan’s asset allocations and the expected returns likely to be earned over the life of this plan. The discount rate
reflects the estimated rate at which an amount that is invested in a portfolio of high-quality debt instruments would provide the
future cash flows necessary to pay benefits when they come due. In addition, our actuarial consultants determine the expense and
liabilities of the plan using other.assumptions for future experience, such as mortality rates. The actuarial assumptions used by us
may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions or longer or shorter life spans of the
participants. Our actual results could differ materially from those we estimated, which could require us to récord a greater amount
of pension expense in future years. For both 2005 and 2004, we used a discount rate of 6.0% and an expected return on plan assets
of 7.5%.

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries also sponsor pension plans. Accounting and reporting for these plans requires the use of
country-specific assumptions for discount rates and expected rates of return on assets. We apply a consistent methodology in
determining the key assumptions which, in addition to future experience assumptions such as mortality rates, are used by our
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actuaries to determine our liability and expense for each of these plans. For both 2005 and 2004, we used weighted average
discount rates of 5.5% and a weighted average expected return on plan assets of 4.8%.

The most sensitive assumptions used in calculating the expense and liability of our pension plans are the discount rate and the
expected return on plan assets. A 50 basis point change to our discount rate and expected return on plan assets assumptions would
not have changed our pension expense for the year ended September 30, 2005 by more than $1.0 million.

Accounting for Stock-Based Awards

We adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on July 3, 2005, effective with the beginning of our fourth quarter. SFAS
No. 123(R) requires us to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on
the grant-date fair value of the award using an option pricing model. That cost is recognized as an expense over the period during
which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we
determined stock-based compensation in accordance with APB No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, which required
only the expensing of the intrinsic value of stock-based awards. As substantially all of our stock options issued to employees have
had no intrinsic value at their date of grant, our recognized stock-based compensation expenses were immaterial prior to adoption
of SFAS No. 123(R).

We historically granted stock options to employees and offered employees the opportunity to purchase shares under our employee
stock purchase plan. We did not grant any stock options during 2005 and, in mid-2005, we suspended offerings under our
employee stock purchase plan.

Going forward, we plan to use restricted shares and restricted stock units as our principal equity incentive awards. In the fourth
quarter of 2005, we granted shares of restricted stock to our directors and executive officers and granted restricted stock units to
our employees. Half of the shares of restricted stock granted to our executive officers have time-based vesting requirements and
half of them have performance-based vesting requirements, subject to subsequent time-based restrictions. Under SFAS No. 123(R),
we will determine the fair value of restricted shares and restricted stock units based on the excess of the fair market value of our
common stock at the date of grant as compared to the exercise price, if any, of the award. In determining the amount of expense to
be recorded for restricted shares and restricted stock units, judgment is required by us to estimate forfeitures of the awards and to
assess the probability of achievement of performance-based award targets. If actual forfeitures or actual performance-based target
achievement differs from our estimates, our results of operations could be impacted.

Allowance for Accounts and Other Receivables

Management judgment is required in assessing the collectibility of customer accounts and other receivables, for which we
generally do not require collateral. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of our customers to make required payments. In determining the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, management
specifically analyzes individual accounts receivable, historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness,
current economic conditions, accounts receivable aging trends and changes in our customer payment terms. The following table
summarizes our accounts receivable and related reserve balances at September 30, 2005 and 2004:

September 30,
2005 2004

(Dollar amounts
in thousands)

Gross accounts receivable . ... $153,227  $136,733
Allowances for doubtful accounts ........... .. ... it (5,730) (6,340)
Net accounts receivable ... ...t $147.497  $130,393
Accounts receivable reserves as a percentage of gross accounts receivable ......... 3.7% 4.6%

If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, additional allowances might be required, resulting in future
operating expenses that are not included in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our customer base consists of large numbers of
geographically diverse customers dispersed across many industries, and no individual customer comprised more than 10% of our
net trade accounts receivable for any period presented.

27



Restructuring Charges

We periodically record restructuring charges resulting from restructuring our operations (including consolidations and/or
relocations of operations), changes to our strategic plan, or managerial responses to declines in demand, increasing costs, or other
environmental factors. The determination of restructuring charges requires management judgment and may include costs related to
employee benefits, such as costs of severance and termination benefits, and estimates of costs for future lease commitments on
excess facilities, net of estimated future sublease income. In determining the amount of the facilities chargé, we are required to
estimate such factors as future vacancy rates, the time required to sublet properties and sublease rates. These estimates are
reviewed quarterly based on known real estate market conditions and the credit-worthiness of subtenants, and may result in
revisions to established facility reserves. We have accrued $29.7 million as of September 30, 2003 related to excess facilities
(compared to $41.7 million at September 30, 2004), representing gross lease commitments with agreements expiring at various
dates through 2014 of approximately $62.0 million, net of committed and estimated sublease income of approximately $31.3
million and a present value factor of $1.0 million. We have entered into signed sublease arrangements for approximately $24.5
million, with the remaining $6.8 million based on future estimated sublease arrangements, including $6.0 million for space
currently available for sublease. If our sublease assumptions prove to be inaccurate, we may need to make changes in these
estimates that would affect our results of operations and potentially our financial condition.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents ..........c. i, $204,423  $294,887  $205,312
Activity for the year included the following:
Cash provided by operating activities ............. ... $ 128,139 $101,336 § 6,495
Cash (used) provided by investing activities .. ............c.cuvueen.... (215,032) (22,270) 5,505
Cash (used) provided by financing activities ......................... (2,018) 9,712 7,521
Cash provided by operating activities included the following:
Cash disbursements for restructuring and other charges ................. (10,758) (40,620) (24,442)
Federal income tax refundsreceived ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 39,523 — —
Cash (used) provided by investing activities included the following:
Cash paid to acquire businesses, net of cash acquired .................. (198,897) (9,822) —
Cash (used) provided by financing activities included the following:
Cash payments for stock option exchange . . ............ ... (12,733) — —

We invest our cash with highly rated financial institutions and in diversified domestic and international money market mutual
funds. The portfolio is invested in short-term instruments to ensure cash is available to meet requirements as needed. At
September 30, 2005, cash and cash equivalents totaled $204.4 million, down from $294.9 million at September 30, 2004. The
decrease in cash and cash equivalents in 2005 is due primarily to acquisitions of businesses which used cash of $198.9 million,
payments for the stock option exchange described below totaling $12.7 million, and additions to property, equipment and
intangible assets of $16.1 million, offset by $128.1 million of cash provided by operations and $10.2 million provided by net
proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock plans. The increase in cash and cash equivalents during
2004 consisted primarily of $101.3 million provided by operations and $9.7 million provided by net proceeds from the issuance of
common stock under our employee stock plans, partially offset by $12.4 million for capital additions to property, equipment and
intangible assets and $9.8 million for the acquisition of OHIO Design.

Cash provided by operations was $128.1 million in 2005 compared to $101.3 million in 2004. The higher cash provided by
operations was due primarily to:

* . improved profitability in 2005 versus 2004 (net income increased $48.8 million to $83.6 million in 2005 from $34.8 million in
2004, due in part to lower restructuring charges);

28




» receipt of a federal income tax refund of $39.5 million in the first quarter of 2005; and

» lower cash disbursements for restructuring and other charges in 2005.

These increases were offset by increases in current and noncurrent accounts receivable due in part to increased revenue in 2005
(days sales outstanding remaining relatively flat at 68 days at September 30, 2005 compared to 69 days at September 30, 2004) and
to our decision to decrease our sales of accounts receivable to third-party financial institutions in 2005 compared to prior years.

Cash provided by operations was $101.3 million in 2004 compared to $6.5 million in 2003. The higher cash provided by operations
in 2004 as compared to 2003 was due primarily to:

»  improved profitability in 2004 versus 2003 (net income increased $133.1 million to $34.8 million in 2004 from a net loss of
$98.3 million in 2003);

» an increase in deferred revenue of $5.0 million in 2004 compared to a decrease in deferred revenue of $27.5 million in 2003;
and

* pension contributions of $2.7 million in 2004 compared to $10.7 million in 2003.

These increases were partially offset by:
* net tax payments made of $5.7 million in 2004 compared to $53.3 million in net refunds received in 2003; and

» cash expenditures for restructuring and other charges of $40.6 million in 2004 compared to $24.4 million in 2003.
Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable improved to 69 days at September 30, 2004 from 77 days at September 30, 2003,

Cash and cash equivalents (used) provided by investing activities was ($215.0) million in 2005, compared to ($22.3) million in
2004 and $5.5 million in 2003. In 2005 and 2004, we had cash expenditures of $198.9 million and $9.8 million, respectively, for
business acquisitions. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we completed the acquisition of Arbortext for approximately $192 million
net of cash acquired. Cash used for additions to property, equipment and intangible assets was $16.1 million, $12.5 million and
$25.9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Cash used for additions to property, equipment and intangible assets decreased
in 2004 due to the completion of our investment in a new ERP system in 2003 and to lower capital requirements as a result of our
restructuring plan initiated in 2003 and completed in 2004, which reduced the number of our operating facilities and employee
headcount. Our expenditures for property and equipment consist primarily of computer equipment, software, office equipment and
facility improvements. Cash provided by investing activities in 2003 included net proceeds from sales and maturities of
investments of $31.4 million as we moved our investment portfolio to short-term securities to minimize interest rate risk.

Cash (used) provided by financing activities was ($2.0) million in 2005, $9.7 million in 2004 and $7.5 million in 2003. The
decrease in 2005 compared to 2004 is primarily due to payments of $12.7 million related to the stock option exchange described
below. The increase in 2004 compared to 2003 was due primarily to higher proceeds from the issuance of common stock under
employee stock plans. Cash proceeds from the issuance of our common stock under our stock plans were $10.2 million, $9.7
million and $7.7 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, regarding
revised accounting rules for company-sponsored stock purchase plans. In light of these accounting changes, we suspended

offerings under our employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) as of the date of the offering that was to have commenced on February 1,
2005.

On March 10, 2005, our stockholders approved amendments to our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan that (1) authorized us to exchange
and cancel certain outstanding out-of-the-money non-executive employee stock options for either cash or shares of restricted stock,
(2) authorize the grant of restricted stock units, and (3) enable us to grant a greater number of shares of restricted stock as equity
awards. The amendments are designed to reduce the overall number of employee stock options outstanding and reduce potential
stockholder dilution. We completed the option exchange on August 3, 2005. We paid $12.7 million in exchange for 18.3 million
options. Going forward, we anticipate that we will make more use of restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants, which require
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fewer shares to deliver comparable value than stock options . The use of restricted shares and restricted stock units, coupled with
suspension of the ESPP, will result in lower cash proceeds to us. The ESPP and exercise of employee stock options generated cash
proceeds of $10.2 million and $9.7 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

" In September 1998, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 20.0 million shares of our common stock and in July
2000 increased the shares authorized for repurchase to 40.0 million. We made no repurchases in 2005 and 2004. Since 1998, and
through September 30, 2005, we repurchased, at a cost of $366.8 million, a total of 31.2 million shares of the 40.0 million shares
authorized.

We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents together with cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our
working capital and capital expenditure requirements through at least the next twelve months. During 2006, we expect to make
cash disbursements estimated at $11 million for restructuring charges incurred in 2005 and prior periods and $3 million for costs
associated with the execution of our Arbortext integration plan. Capital expenditures for 2006 are currently anticipated to be
approximately $15 million and we estimate contributions to our defined benefit plans to be approximately $4 million.

We completed two acquisitions in the first quarter of 2006 for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $12 million. These
acquisitions add to our global consulting and training services organization. The first was of an entity based solely in German-
speaking Europe and expands our consulting delivery capacity and expertise in that region. The second was of the assets of a U.S.
company that developed and provided training solutions for our products. We do not expect any significant revenue contribution in
the near-term from these acquisitions.

We have evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, possible strategic transactions, including possible dispositions of certain
businesses, on an ongoing basis and at any given time may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to possible
strategic transactions. Our cash position could be reduced and we may incur debt obligations to the extent we complete any
significant transactions.

Contractual Obligations

We lease office facilities and certain equipment under operating leases that expire at various dates through 2014, including an
operating lease agreement related to our headquarters office in Needham, Massachusetts entered into in 2000, which expires in
December 2012, subject to certain renewal rights. These leases qualify for operating lease accounting treatment and, as such, are
not included on our balance sheet. At September 30, 2005, our contractual obligations, including future minimum lease payments,
net of sublease income, under noncancellable operating leases, are as follows:

Payments due by period
Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years S years
(in millions)

Capital lease obligations .............. ... .covven.o... $ 14 $ 0.4 $ 0.8 $ 02 $—
Operating leases (1) ...... P 158.6 36.2 55.8 40.9 25.7
Purchase obligations (2) ........ ... ... ... . ., 214 16.9 4.5 —_ —
Pension liabilities (3) ........ ... ... i 49.6 4.2 8.5 — 36.9

Total ... . $231.0 $57.7 $69.6 $41.1 $62.6

(1) The future minimum lease payments above include minimum future lease payments for excess facilities, net of estimated
sublease income under existing sublease arrangements. See Note G of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

(2) Purchase obligations represent minimum commitments due to third parties, including royalty contracts, research and
development contracts, telecommunication contracts, information technology maintenance contracts in support of internal-use
software and hardware and other marketing and consulting contracts. Contracts for which our commitment is variable based
on volumes, with no fixed minimum quantities, and contracts that can be cancelled without payment penalties have been
excluded. The purchase obligations included above are in addition to accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
recorded on our September 30, 2005 consolidated balance sheet.
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(3) These obligations relate to our U.S. and international pension plans. These liabilities are not subject to fixed payment terms.
Payment amounts in 2006 include minimum funding requirements and anticipated discretionary funding. Payments beyond
2006 have been estimated based on the plans’ current funded status and actuarial assumptions. In addition, we may, at our
discretion, make additional voluntary contributions to the plans. See Note L of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
for further discussion. '

As of September 30, 2005, we have letters of credit and bank guarantees outstanding of approximately $6.3 million, primarily
related to the lease of our headquarters in Needham, Massachusetts.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not party to, any special-purpose or off-balance sheet entities for the purpose of raising capital,
incurring debt or operating parts of our business that are not consolidated (to the extent of our ownership interest therein) into our
financial statements. We have not entered into any transactions with unconsolidated entities whereby we have subordinated
retained interests, derivative instruments or other contingent arrangements that expose us to material continuing risks, contingent
liabilities, or any other obligation under a variable interest in an unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, market
risk or credit risk support to us.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In accordance with recently issued accounting pronouncements, we will be required to comply with certain changes in accounting
rules and regulations.

Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 143 (FIN 47). FIN 47 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. FIN 47 clarifies that an
entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the
liability’s fair value can be reasonably estimated and clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably
estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. We do not expect that the adoption of FIN 47 will have a material impact
on our results of operations or financial position. ’

Accounting Changes and Error Correction

On June 7, 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion
No. 20, Accounting Changes, and Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements (SFAS No.
154). SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. Previously,
most voluntary changes in accounting principles required recognition in a cumulative effect adjustment within net income of the
period of the change. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is
impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for
accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005; however, this standard does not change the transition
provisions of any existing accounting pronouncements. We will determine the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial
statements when an accounting change or error correction occurs.

Important Factors That May Affect Future Results
The following are important factors we have identified that could affect our future results. They should be considered when
evaluating forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and otherwise made by us or on our behalf,

because these factors could cause actual results and conditions to differ materially from those projected in forward-looking
statements.
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L. Operational Considerations

Our operating results fluctuate within each quarter and from quarter to quarter, making our future revenues and operating results
difficult to predict.

While our sales cycle varies substantially from customer to customer, a high percentage of our revenue has historically been generated
in the third month of each fiscal quarter, and this revenue tends to be concentrated in the later part of that month. Our orders early in a
quarter will not generally occur at a rate which, if sustained throughout the quarter, would be sufficient to assure that we will meet our
revenue targets for any particular quarter. Moreover, our transition from a one-product company to a multi-product company, our
increased use of indirect distribution channels through alliances with resellers and other strategic partners and our shift in business
emphasis to offering a product development system comprised of components that can be purchased in stages have resulted in more
unpredictable and often longer sales cycles for products and services. Accordingly, our quarterly results may be difficult to predict
prior to the end of the quarter. Any inability to obtain large orders or orders in large volumes or to make shipments or perform services
in the period immediately preceding the end of any particular quarter may cause the results for that quarter to fall short of our revenue
targets. In addition, our operating expenses are based on expected future revenue and are largely fixed for the short term. As a resuit, a
revenue shortfall in any quarter could cause our earnings for that quarter to fall below expectations as well. Any failure to meet our
quarterly revenue or earnings targets could adversely impact the market price of our stock.

Other factors that may cause quarter-to-quarter revenue and earnings fluctuations or that may affect our ability to make quarter-end
shipments include the following:

* our sales incentive structure is weighted more heavily toward the end of the fiscal year, and the revenue for the first quarter
historically has been lower and more difficult to predict than that for the fourth quarter of the immediately preceding fiscal year;

* variability in the levels of professional service revenues and the mix of our license and service revenues;
« declines in license sales may adversely affect the size of our installed base and our level of service revenue;

* the outsourcing of our software distribution operations to third-party vendors may lessen our ability to undertake corrective
measures or alternative operations in the event shipping systems or processes are interrupted or are hampered due to conditions
beyond our or our vendor’s control at the end of any particular quarter;

*  asignificant portion of our revenue is in foreign currency and major shifts in foreign currency exchange rates could impact our
reported revenue; and

* we may incur expenses in connection with our defense or settlement of legal actions we are defending that would increase our
operating expenses for the quarter in which those expenses are incurred.

In addition, the levels of quarterly or annual software or service revenue in general, or for particular geographic areas, may not be
comparable to those achieved in previous periods.

General economic and political conditions may impact our results.

Our revenue growth and profitability depends on the overall demand for software and related services. Over the past several years,
this demand has been adversely affected by unfavorable economic conditions, as customers have reduced, or have deferred,
spending on information technology improvements, which, in turn, has affected our operating results. Although we recently have
seen modest improvements in information technology spending, a return to unfavorable economic conditions could materially and
adversely affect us.

Political and social events in recent years, including concerns regarding terrorism, have the potential to put further pressure on
economic conditions both domestically and internationally. The potential turmoil that may result from such events contributes to
the uncertainty of the economic climate. The impact of such conditions may have a materially adverse impact on our business,
operating results, and financial position.

Our cost structure is relatively fixed in the short term, which makes it difficult to reduce our expenses quickly in response to
declines in revenue or revenue growth.

We made incremental expenditures to support our revenue growth in 2005 and to support anticipated future growth. Our expenses
associated with headcount and facilities can be difficult to reduce quickly due to the nature of those items. If revenue does not grow
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at the rate we expect or if it declines, our expenses may constitute a larger percentage of our operating budget than we planned,
which would adversely affect our profitability.

We use, in tandem with our direct.sales force, third parties, such as resellers and other strategic partners, for the distribution and
implementation of our software solutions, which makes it more difficult to manage the sales process.

We have entered into relationships with groups of geographically dispersed resellers and other strategic partners to promote, sell
and/or implement our products, which can reduce our control over the sales process and the delivery of services to our customers.
Our ability to distribute and implement our software solutions through third parties will depend on:

.

our ability to enter into agreements with appropriate third parties that can deliver our products and/or services in appropriate
markets;

the third party’s ability to learn, promote and implement our products;

our ability to efficiently manage our sales channels by effectively coordinating and managing joint activities (including sales,
marketing, implementation, support and customer service); and

our ability to optimize our sales and services coverage and productivity through, among other means, effective use and
management of our internal resources in combination with our resellers and other strategic partners, including, when
appropriate, making measured increases to our internal resources and investing in our reseller channel and other strategic
partners.

We may be unable to implement new initiatives successfully.

Part of our recent success has resulted from our ability to implement new initiatives, including new product introductions,
technology acquisitions, and organizational changes. Our future operating results will continue to depend upon:

our successful implementation of a unified PLM product strategy, including the realignment and efficient use of our internal
resources, the management of multiple development and distribution processes and effective mitigation of disruption that may
result from organizational change;

our ability to deliver an integrated and comprehensive suite of solutions and to capitalize on existing synergies by offering a
comprehensive product development system; ‘

our ability to integrate acquired technologies into our integrated suite of products and successfully manage newly acquired
businesses, including potentially overlapping distribution channels, while continuing to focus on opportunities for organic
revenue growth from our existing core solutions;

our ability to appropriately allocate and implement cost containment measures, including transferring activities to lower cost
regions, that increase profitability while maintaining adequate resources for effective and coordinated organizational
performance;

the success of our sales coverage optimization initiatives, including:

» the effectiveness of our organizational sales model, including the integration of distribution channels of newly acquired
companies,

* our ability to manage our internal sales organization effectively, including ensuring that we have the appropriate number of
sales representatives with the skills and knowledge necessary to sell our products and educate our customers about our
products, in order to create and meet demand for our products, and

» our ability to broaden and effectively use indirect distribution channels through alliances with resellers and other strategic
partners;

our ability to anticipate and meet evolving customer content creation and data management requirements, and successfully
deliver products and services that meet those requirements at an enterprise level;
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* our ability to identify and penetrate additional industry sectors and vertical market segments that represent growth
opportunities, including those in which we historically have not participated and have little experience, both through new
product and sales initiatives and through acquisitions; -

«  our ability to execute customer satisfaction initiatives and programs in order to retain our customer base and to develop
customer references upon which we can expand that base;

+ our ability to effectively use our current resources, as reduced by our past cost reduction programs, to undertake one or more
strategic initiatives while maintaining recurring operations at satisfactory levels; and

« our ability, in concert with our other strategic investment initiatives, to continue to invest in the Asia-Pacific region, which we
believe represents opportunities for growth.

We may be unable to successfully acquire and integrate strategic businesses and any businesses we acquire may not achieve the
revenue and earnings we anticipated.

The success of our long-term strategic plan depends in part on our ability to acquire strategic businesses. If we are unable to
identify and acquire appropriate strategic businesses, or if the businesses we acquire do not generate the revenue and earnings we
expect, we may not achieve our revenue targets.

In addition, business combinations involve a number of factors that affect operations, including:

* diversion of management’s attention;

* loss of key personnel;

* entry into unfamiliar markets;

» assumption of unanticipated legal or financial liabilities;

* becoming significantly leveraged as a result of incurring debt to finance an acquisition;

« unanticipated operating difficulties in connection with the acquired entities, including potential declines in revenue of the
acquired entity;

* impairment of acquired intangible assets, including goodwill; and

+ dilution to our earnings per share if we were to issue stock.

As a result, we may fail to successfully integrate and manage businesses that we may acquire without incurring substantial
expenses, delays or other problems that could negatively impact our results of operations. If our short-term liquidity declines or we
are forced to divert attention from other initiatives due to resource constraints in connection with acquisition-related activity, our
ability to implement other strategic initiatives or make investments in our operational infrastructure could be impaired.

We are dependent on key personnel whose loss could cause delays in our product development and sales efforts.

Our success depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly skilled technical, managerial and sales personnel. Competition for
such personnel in our industry is intense. This competition is even greater in offshore regions where we have shifted certain
research and development resources and where concerted efforts to solicit employees are not uncommon. We assume that we will
continue to be able to attract and retain such personnel. Our failure to do so, however, could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

We must continually modify and enhance our products to keep pace with changing techrology, and we may experience delays in
developing and debugging our software.

We must continually modify and enhance our products to keep pace with changes in computer'software, hardware and database
technology, as well as emerging Internet standards. We must also continually expend efforts to review and fix errors (“bugs”)
found in our current and upcoming software releases. Our ability to remain competitive will depend on our ability to:

» enhance our current offerings and develop new products and services that keep pace with technélogical developments and
effectively undertake “debugging” efforts through:
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* internal research and development and quality assurance programs,

* acquisition of technology, and

* strategic partnerships;
* meet evolving customer requireménts, especially ease-of-use and interoperability;
» adequately utilize our development resources in the face of a challenging economic climate; and
* license appropriate technology from third parties for inclusion in our products.
Also, as is common in the computer software industry, we may from time to time experience delays in our product development
and “debugging” efforts. Our performance could be hurt by significant delays in developing, completing or shipping new or
enhanced products. Moreover, if significant bugs were found in our software products, we could be adversely impacted by negative
customer reaction and could experience delays in our new product development efforts, as development resources might need to be
shifted toward our debugging efforts. Among other things, such delays could cause us to incorrectly predict the fiscal quarter in

which we will realize revenue from the shipment of the new or enhanced products and give our competitors a greater opportunity
to market competing products.

We may be adversely affected by a decline in demand for PLM solutions.

We currently derive our license and service revenues predominantly from our integrated PLM software products and services and
we expect this to continue into the future. As a result, factors affecting the demand for PLM software solutions or pricing pressures
on this single category could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on sales within the discrete manufacturing market.

A large amount of our revenues are related to sales to customers in the discrete manufacturing sector. A decline in spending in this
sector could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on sales from outside the United States that could be adversely affected by changes in the international markets.

A significant portion of our business comes from outside the United States. Accordingly, our performance could be adversely
affected by economic downturns in Europe or the Asia-Pacific region. Another consequence of significant international business is
that a large percentage of our revenues and expenses are denominated in foreign currencies that fluctuate in value. Although we
may from time to time enter into foreign exchange forward contracts and/or foreign exchange option contracts to offset a portion of
the foreign exchange fluctuations, unanticipated events may have a material impact on our results. Other risks associated with
international business include:

* changes in regulatory practices and tariffs;

« staffing and managing international operations, including the difficulties in providing cost-effective, incentive based
compensation to attract skilled workers;

* longer collection cycles in certain areas;
+ potential changes in tax and other laws;
» greater difficulty in protecting intellectual property rights; and

+  general economic and political conditions,

We may be unable to adequately protect our proprietary rights.

Our software products and our trademarks, including our company names, product names and logos, are proprietary. We protect
our intellectual property rights in these items by relying on copyrights, trademarks, patents and common law safeguards, including
trade secret protection, as well as restrictions on disclosures and transferability contained in our agreements with other parties.
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Despite these measures, the laws of all relevant jurisdictions may not afford adequate protection to our products and other
intellectual property. In addition, we frequently encounter attempts by individuals and companies to pirate our software solutions.
If our measures to protect our intellectual property rights fail, others may be able to use those rights, which could reduce our
competitiveness and harm our business.

Intellectual property infringement claims could be asserted against us, which could be expensive to defend and could result in the
loss of our rights.

The software industry is characterized by frequent litigation regarding copyright, patent and other intellectual property rights.
While we have not, to date, had any significant claims of this type asserted against us, such claims could be asserted against us in
the future. If a lawsuit of this type is filed, it could result in significant expense to us and divert the efforts of our technical and
management personnel. We cannot be sure that we would prevail against any such asserted claims. If we did not prevail, we could
be prevented from using that intellectual property or required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, which might not be .
available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. In addition to possible claims with respect to our proprietary information, some of our
products contain technology developed by and licensed from third parties and we may likewise be susceptible to infringement
claims with respect to these third-party technologies.

I1. Product Related Considerations
Increasing competition in the computer-aided design marketplace may reduce our revenues.

A large portion of our revenues are currently derived from our computer-aided design solutions and there are an increasing number
of competitive design products, some of which emphasize lower price points and ease of use compared to the more robust
functionality of our solutions. This increased competition makes attracting new customers more difficult. In addition, some
competitive products have reached a level of functionality whereby product differentiation is less likely, in and of itself, to dislodge
incumbent design systems, given the training, data conversion, and other startup costs associated with system replacement.
Although Pro/ENGINEER Wildfire, which focuses on PLM interoperability and ease of use, and other initiatives are designed to
address these competitive pressures, increased competition and further market acceptance of competitive products could have a
negative effect on pricing and revenue for our products, which could have a material adverse affect on our results.

In addition, even though our design software is capable of performing on a variety of platforms as compared to several of our
competitors whose products focus on single platform applications (particularly Windows-based platforms), we may be unable to
create a competitive advantage by offering multiple platform applications.

As we expand the breadth of our product line and add to the vertical markets in which we serve, we may face increased pressure to
provide enhanced products, which may be difficult with our limited development resources.

We continue to enhance our existing product line by releasing updates as well as new products/modules. Our competitive position
and operating results could suffer if:

+ we fail to anticipate or to respond adequately to customer requirements or to technological developments, particularly those of
our competitors;

e we are unable to meet customer requirements for functionality enhancements of our growing product line;
* we delay the development, production, testing, marketing or availability of new or enhanced products or services;
* customers fail to accept such new or enhanced products or services; or

» we fail to execute our integrated product strategy initiative.

Growth in the computer-aided design solutions industry has slowed.

Growth in certain segments of the computer-aided design solutions industry has slowed and, coupled with decreased functional
differentiation among flexible engineering tools, may adversely affect our ability to penetrate the market for new customers and
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recapture our market share. Over the long term, we believe our emphasis on PLM solutions will allow us to differentiate our
CAD/CAM/CAE solutions from the competition and stabilize sales of our CAD/CAM/CAE solutions products while we seek to
increase sales of our enterprise solutions. However, the strategy may not be successtul or may take longer than we expect. Qur
operating results in any quarter could be materially adversely affected if these assumptions are incorrect.

Our assumptions about the Product Lifecycle Management (PLM) market opportunity may be wrong.

We have identified PLM as a market opportunity for us and have devoted sigaificant resources toward capitalizing on that
opportunity. We offer a suite of PL.M solutions and related services targeted at this market based on our enterprise solutions,
together with our desktop solutions. This suite includes software and services that use Internet technologies to enable our
customers’ employees, suppliers and customers to collaboratively develop, build, distribute and manage products throughout their
entire lifecycle. Because the market for software products that enable companies to collaborate on product information on an
enterprise-wide level is newly emerging, we cannot be sure of the size of this market, whether it will grow, whether companies will
elect to use our products or acquire PLM solutions from other sources, or forego PLM initiatives altogether.

In addition, companies that have already invested substantial resources in other methods of sharing product information in the
design-through-manufacture process may be reluctant to adopt a new approach that may replace, limit or compete with their
existing systems or methods. We expect that we will continue to need to educate prospective customers about the uses and benefits
of our products. Demand for and market acceptance of our products will be affected by the success of those efforts.

We must successfully differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors.

The success of our PLM strategy will depend in large part on the ability of our solutions to meet customer expectations, especially
with respect to:

» return on investment and value creation;

* ease and rapidity of installation;

+ case of use;

* full capability, functionality and performance;

» ability to support a large, diverse and geographically dispersed user base, including the ability to support global product
development programs; and

» quality and efficiency of the services performed by us and our partners relating to implementation and configuration.

Our opportunity in the smali- and mediuvm-sized business market for our solutions when manufacturers migrate from
two-dimensional design tools to entry-level three-dimensional design tools depends on large part on our ability to educate
consumers on the benefits and ease of use of our products. Likewise with larger strategic customers, we must differentiate our
products’ capabilities from those of our competitors, including larger companies with established enterprise-wide relationships
with these customers.

Our solutions strategy is developing.

We are pursuing a strategy to provide a series of easily deployable PLM solutions that address specific business challenges that
arise at points along the product lifecycle timeline (our Windchill Link solutions). By offering pre-configured, fully integrated
applications that can be implemented quickly, our strategy is designed both to solve customers’ problems relating to costly, large-
scale implementation projects and to provide customers with the ability to deploy a product development system that meets their
evolving requirements. If we are unable to provide these solutions or are unable to meet customer expectations, our overall revenue
may be adversely affected.

We have also been enhancing our suite of products to allow us to offer solutions aimed at vertical industries outside the discrete
manufacturing market that we have traditionally served. These include ECM solutions for customers in the life sciences, financial
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services, government and publishing markets and our enterprise solutions specially configured for the retail, footwear and apparel
industry. While these solutions are generally comprised of a subset of our overall PLM solutions configured to meet the specific
needs of the vertical industry, we may be unable to penetrate these markets, support these solutions or maintain customer
relationships in order to attain sustained business. If we are unable to do so, our success in these new markets will be limited.

Our Windchill Link solutions may crowd out service revenue and our initiatives to use select resellers to distribute these solutions
may put pressure on license margins.

Our introduction of our Windchill Link solutions, which have been developed to permit quick installation and provide customers
more autonomy over solving their problems, may have an adverse effect on our service revenue. Additionally, we also have begun
to offer a limited number of qualified resellers the ability to offer our Windchill Link solutions. We believe that facilitating ease of
implementation and entering into these relationships will best serve to expand the coverage of our PLM software solutions,
generate sufficient additional license revenue to compensate for reduced margins, and provide the necessary regional coverage for
their implementation and support. If these assumptions are inaccurate or if projected additional license revenue and/or broader
market coverage does not materialize, our revenues may be adversely affected.

PLM software solutions must meet our customers’ expectations for integration with existing systems to generate references for new
accounts.

Our PLM software must integrate with our customers’ and their partners’ existing computer systems and software programs. In
certain cases, we use third-party technologies to facilitate these integrations. As many of our customers will be facing these
integration issues for the first time, particularly in the context of collaborating with customers, supply chain partners and other
members of the extended enterprise, our customers could become dissatisfied with our products or services if systems integration
proves to be difficult, costly or time consuming, and our operating results could be adversely affected. Moreover, due to the
emerging nature of the industry and technology, the sales process relies in large part on customer references. Accordingly, if our
customers become dissatisfied, future business and revenues may be adversely affected.

Competition is increasing, which may reduce our profits and limit or reduce our market share.

The market for our PLM software solutions is new, highly fragmented, rapidly changing and increasingly competitive. We expect
competition to intensify, which could result in price reductions for our products and services, reduced gross margins and loss of
market share. Our primary competition comes from:

* larger, more well-known enterprise software providers who may seek to extend the functionality of their products to encompass
PLM or who may develop and/or purchase PLM technology; and

» other vendors of engineering information management software.

In addition, analysts expect future consolidation within the software industry, which could give rise to new competitors. To
compete effectively in this evolving industry, we must:

+ successfully develop solutions that are technologically superior to those of our competitors;

o effectively demonstrate the value proposition offered by our solutions, including return on investment and value creation; and
* overcome the perception, based on our historical roots, that we are solely a mechanical computer aided design (MCAD)

company.

Further, our services organization may face increasing competition for follow-on consulting, implementation and education
services from other third-party consultants and service providers, including those of larger, better known consulting firms that exert
considerable influence within portions of our customer base. To overcome the influence of larger enterprise software and
consulting firms within our customer base, we must successfully demonstrate the superiority of our offerings as well as a high level
of customer satisfaction.
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111. Other Considerations
If companies are unable to use the Internet as a medium of secure collaboration, our PLM strategy would be seriously harmed.

The use of the Internet for collaboration is still relatively new. If the infrastructure for the Internet does not efficiently support
enterprises and their supply chain partners, or if concerns over the secure transmission of confidential information over public
networks inhibit the growth of the Internet as a means of collaborating across enterprises, companies and their supply chain
partners may not adopt or continue to use the Internet as a medium of exchanging product information. If this happens, we may be
unable to retain customers or to attract new customers, which would impede our planned growth.

If we implement a reverse stock split, our total market capitalization after the reverse stock split may be lower than the total market
capitalization before the reverse stock split and the market price of PTC common stock following the reverse stock split may not
exceed or remain higher than the market price before the proposed reverse stock split.

On March 10, 2005, our stockholders authorized us to implement a 2-for-5 reverse stock split at any time before our 2006 annual
meeting, which will be held on March 1, 2006. If we implement the proposed reverse stock split, the total market capitalization of
PTC common stock (the aggregate value of all PTC common stock at the then market price) after the reverse stock split may not be
equal to or greater than the total market capitalization before the reverse stock split and the per share market price of PTC common
stock following the reverse stock split may not trade at or above a price in direct proportion to the reduction in the number of
shares of PTC common stock outstanding before the reverse stock split. For example, based on the closing market price of PTC
common stock on December 9, 2005 of $5.81 per share, if the Board of Directors decided to implement the reverse stock split, the
per share post-split market price of PTC common stock may not remain at or above $14.525 per share or greater.

In addition, a decline in the market price of PTC common stock after the reverse stock split may result in a greater percentage
decline than would occur in the absence of a reverse stock split and the liquidity of PTC common stock could be adversely affected
following such a reverse stock split.

Further, a reverse stock split would increase the number of stockholders who own odd lots (less than 100 shares), potentially
increasing their trading costs as holders of odd lots typically incur higher costs to sell their shares and may have greater difficulty
in effecting sales.

Finally, the increased proportion of authorized and unissued shares to outstanding shares as a result of a reverse stock split could,
in certain circumstances, have an anti-takeover effect. For example, it would permit issuances that would dilute the stock
ownership of a person seeking to effect a change in the composition of the Board of Directors or contemplating a tender offer or
other transaction for the combination of PTC with another company. '

Qur stock price has been highly volatile, which may make it harder to resell your shares at a time and at a price that is favorable
to you.

Market prices for securities of software companies have generally been volatile. In particular, the market price of these stocks has
been and may continue to be subject to significant fluctuations unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these
companies. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of ours, may not be predictable. Negative changes in the public’s
perception of the prospects of software companies, or of PTC or the PLM market generally, could depress our stock price
regardless of our results.

Also, traditionally, a large percentage of our common stock has been held by institutional investors. Purchases and sales of our
common stock by these institutional investors could have a significant impact on the market price of the stock. For more
information about those investors, please see our proxy statement with respect to our most recent annual meeting of stockholders
and Schedules 13D and 13G filed with the SEC with respect to our common stock.

We are currently defending a lawsuit seeking substantial damages in which we could be liable.

On May 30, 2003, a lawsuit was filed against us in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts by Rand A Technology
Corporation and Rand Technologies Limited (together, “Rand”). Rand historically had been our largest distributor. The complaint
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alleges various breaches of a revised one-year distribution agreement entered into in December 2002, as well as other agreements
between Rand and us, and also asserts certain non-contract claims. The complaint, as amended, seeks equitable relief and
substantial damages. On November 24, 2003, we filed our substantive response to Rand’s complaint and asserted counterclaims
against Rand. During the second quarter of 2005, Rand quantified its claimed actual damages as being in excess of $50 million and
Rand asserts that this amount should be trebled by the court. As a result of several recent rulings by the court, some of Rand’s
claims have been dismissed while others will proceed to trial and Rand’s possible maximum recovery under the lawsuit may have
been reduced. In addition, the court has excluded the testimony of the damages expert hired by Rand to substantiate Rand’s
damages quantification. The court has also issued a ruling granting PTC summary judgment on one of PTC’s counterclaims against
Rand. Despite these rulings, several of Rand’s claims, as well as certain of our counterclaims, remain to be tried before a jury. We
believe Rand’s claims and its damages assessment associated with those claims are without merit and wiil continue to contest them
vigorously. We also intend diligently to prosecute our counterclaims. We cannot predict the ultimate resolution of this action at this
time, and we cannot assure you that this action, if determined adversely to us, will not have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

‘'We face exposure to financial market risks, including adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates and changes in
interest rates. These exposures may change over time as business practices evolve and could have a material adverse impact on our
financial results.

Foreign currency exchange risk

Our earnings and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Our most significant
foreign currency exposures relate to Western European countries and Japan. We enter into various hedging transactions to manage
this risk. We do not enter into or hold foreign currency derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Our non-U.S. revenues generally are transacted through our non-U.S. subsidiaries and typically are denominated in their local
currency. In addition, our non-U.S. expenses that are incurred by our non-U.S. subsidiaries typically are denominated in their local
currency. Approximately 62%, 65% and 63% of our total revenue was from sales to customers outside of North America in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Approximately 45%, 45% and 43% of our total expenses were incurred by our subsidiaries domiciled
outside of North America in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations arises in part from intercompany transactions, with most intercompany
transactions occurring between a U.S. dollar functional currency entity and a foreign currency denominated entity. Intercompany
transactions typically are denominated in the local currency of the non-U.S. subsidiary in order to centralize foreign currency risk.
Also, both PTC (the parent company) and our non-U.S. subsidiaries may transact business with our customers and vendors in a
currency other than their functional currency (“transaction risk’™). In addition, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations
as the financial results and balances of our non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars (“translation risk™). If sales to
customers outside of the United States continue to comprise a growing percentage of total revenues, our exposure to fluctuations in
currency exchange rates could increase.

Our foreign currency risk management strategy is principally designed to mitigate the future potential financial impact of changes
in the value of transactions and balances denominated in foreign currency, resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. Our foreign currency hedging program uses forward contracts to manage the foreign currency exposures that exist as part of
our ongoing business operations. The contracts prlmamly are denominated in European currencies and Japanese Yen, and have
maturities of less than three months.

Generally, we do not designate foreign currency forward contracts as hedges for accounting purposes, and changes in the fair value
of these instruments are recognized immediately in earnings. Because we enter into forward contracts only as an economic hedge,
any gain or loss on the underlying foreign-denominated balance would be offset by the loss or gain on the forward contract. Gains
and losses on forward contracts and foreign denominated receivables and payables are included in other income (expense), net. As
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of September 30, 2005 and 2004, we had outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts equivalent to approximately $56.7
million ($18.3 million in Euros, $15.5 million in British Pounds, $6.5 million in Japanese Yen, $5.0 million in Korean Won and
$11.4 million in other currencies) and $83.3 million ($58.9 million in Euros, $12.1 million in British Pounds, $6.4 million in
Japanese Yen and $5.9 million in other currencies), respectively.

We periodically use foreign currency option contracts to hedge specific forecasted net cash flow transactions that are derived from
anticipated non-U.S. revenue. Foreign currency option contracts are designated as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes and
changes in the fair value of the option contract are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income and reclassified into
earnings when the underlying forecasted transaction impacts earnings. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, there were no foreign
currency option contracts outstanding.

Cash and cash equivalents

As of September 30, 2005, cash equivalents are invested in highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when
purchased. We invest our cash with highly rated financial institutions in North America, Europe and Asia/Pacific and in diversified
domestic and international money market mutual funds. At September 30, 2005, we had $77.0 million, $64.5 million, $49.2 million
and $13.7 million of cash and cash equivalents in the United States, Europe, Japan and other non-U.S. countries, principally in
Asia/Pacific, respectively. Given the short maturities and investment grade quality of the portfolio holdings at September 30, 2005,
a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not materially affect the fair value of our cash and cash equivalents.

Our invested cash is subject to interest rate and, for non-U.S. operations, foreign currency risk. In a declining interest rate
environment, we would experience a decrease in interest income. The opposite holds true in a rising interest rate environment.
Over the past several years, the U.S. Federal Reserve Board, European Central Bank and Bank of England have changed certain
benchmark interest rates, which has led to declines and increases in market interest rates. These changes in market interest rates
have resulted in fluctuations in interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents. Interest income will continue to fluctuate
based on changes in market interest rates and levels of cash available for investment. Our consolidated cash balances were
impacted unfavorably in 2005 and favorably in 2004 by the weakening and strengthening, respectively, of foreign currencies
relative to the U.S. dollar, particularly with respect to the Euro and the Japanese Yen,

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements are attached as APPENDIX A below.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively), has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and that information is accumulated and communicated to our management
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
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On November 2, 2005, we announced that we had identified irregularities in certain sales orders in the Asia-Pacific region. Our
Audit Committee, using outside advisors, undertook an investigation regarding the accounting impact of order practices in the
region. That investigation has been completed and we have determined that the errors identified in the investigation, which
principally relate to our 2001-2003 fiscal years, are not material to our reported financial results for prior and current periods and
do not require restatement of those results. In order to address the matters identified during the investigation and during our
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting, we are implementing enhancements to our sales and finance procedures
in the Asia-Pacific region in fiscal year 2006. We are continuing to review business practices in the region to ensure compliance
with our policies.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control
over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by our board of directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and
procedures that:

*  Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
our assets;

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005 using the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Management excluded Arbortext, Inc. from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 2005 because it was acquired by us in a purchase business combination during the fourth quarter of 2005. Arbortext,
Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues each represented less than 3% of our related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Based on this assessment and those criteria, our management concluded that, as of September 30, 20053, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
appears under Item 8.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Infofmation

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information with respect to our directors and executive officers, including the qualifications of certain members of the Audit

Committee of our Board of Directors, may be found in the sections captioned “Proposal 1: Elect Two Directors,” “Who Are Our
Directors,” “The Committees of the Board,” “Certain Relationships and Transactions” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” appearing in our 2006 Proxy Statement. We incorporate that information into this Item 10 by reference.

Our executive officers are:

Name _AEE Position

C.Richard Harrison ....................... 50  Chief Executive Officer and President

BarryF.Cohen ........... ... ... Lt 61 Executive Vice President, Strategic Services and Partners
Paul J. Cunningham ....................... 43  Executive Vice President, Worldwide Sales

Anthony DiBona ............ ... .. ... ... 50 Executive Vice President, Global Maintenance Support
James E. Heppelmann . ..................... 41 Executive Vice President and Chief Product Officer
ComeliusF.Moses . ..........c.ovvinin. .. 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
AaronC.vonStaats ....................... 40  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Clerk

Mr. Harrison has been Chief Executive Officer and President of PTC since March 2000. Prior to that, Mr. Harrison served as
President and Chief Operating Officer since August 1994,

Mr. Cohen has been Executive Vice President, Strategic Services and Partners since August 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Cohen served
as Executive Vice President, Marketing and Human Resources from December 2000 to July 2002 and Executive Vice President,
Marketing from January 1998 to November 2000,

Mr. Cunningham has been Executive Vice President, Worldwide Sales since October 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Cunningham served
as Executive Vice President, Americas Sales from July 2000 to September 2002, and from October 1998 to June 2000 he was
Executive Vice President, Primary Sales.

Mr. DiBona has been Executive Vice President, Global Maintenance Support since April 2003. Prior to that, Mr. DiBona led the
PTC Global Business Partner Group from April 2000 to April 2003. Mr. DiBona joined PTC in August 1998 as Executive Vice
President, PTC Major Account Sales.

Mr. Heppelmann has been Executive Vice President and Chief Product Officer beginning February 2003 after being our Executive
Vice President, Software Solutions and Chief Technology Officer since June 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Heppelmann was Executive
Vice President, General Manager Windchill Solutions from November 2000 to June 2001. He had served as Executive Vice
President and General Manager of Windchill Netmarkets from July 2000 to November 2000 and Senior Vice President of
Windchill from January 1998 to July 2000.

Mr. Moses joined PTC in June 2003 as our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer and since March 2004
has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining PTC, Mr. Moses was Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Axcelis Technologies, Inc., a semiconductor equipment manufacturer, from October 2000 to June
2003. Prior to that, Mr. Moses was Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of Bradlees, Inc., a discount retail chain, from
1996.

Mr. von Staats has been Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Clerk since February 2003. Previously, he served as Vice
President, North American Counsel from December 2001 through January 2003 and prior to that served as Regional Corporate
Counsel, North America from June 1998 through November 2001. :

We have adopted the PTC Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, a code of ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, and Controller, as well as others. A copy of the PTC Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly available
on our website at www.ptc.com. If we make any substantive amendments to the PTC Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or
grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver, from a provision of the code to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer or Controller, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver in a current report on Form 8-K.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

Information with respect to executive compensation may be found under the headings captioned “How We Compensate Our
Directors” and “Information About Executive Compensation™ appearing in our 2006 Proxy Statement. Such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information with respect to security ownership may be found under the heading captioned “Information About PTC Common
Stock Ownership” appearing in our 2006 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regarding our equity compensation plans as of September 30, 2005:

Number of securities to be ~ Weighted-average Number of securities
issued upon exercise of exercise price of remaining available for
outstanding options, outstanding options future issuance under
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights -equity compensation plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders . . . . 17,682,046(1) $5.70(2) 16,781,949(3)(4)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders ....... ... . 19,831,262(5) $5.73(5) 0
Total ... . 37,513,308(1)(5) $5.72(2)(5) 16,781,949(3)(4)

(1) Includes 2,259,441 shares of our common stock issuable upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock units granted under our
2000 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2000 EIP”).

(2) The weighted-average exercise price does not take into account the shares issuable upon vesting of outstanding restricted
stock units, which have no exercise price.

(3) Comprised of 9,510,269 shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2000 EIP and 7,271,680 shares of our
common stock available for issuance under our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(4) In addition to stock option awards, the 2000 EIP provides for the issuance of stock appreciation rights (SARs). SARs are
rights to receive any excess in value of shares of common stock over the exercise price; the Compensation Committee of our
Board of Directors determines whether they are settled in cash, common stock or other of our securities, awards or other
property and may define the manner of determining the excess in value of the shares of common stock. Under our 2000 EIP,
the Committee also may make awards of common stock subject to certain restrictions during a specified period, such as the
participant’s continued service with PTC or the company achieving certain financial goals. The participant generally will
forfeit the shares if the specified conditions are not met and the participant cannot transfer the shares before termination of
that period. The participant is, however, entitled to vote the shares and receive any dividends during the restriction period. The
Committee also may award common stock without restrictions to recognize outstanding achievements or as a supplement to
restricted stock awards when PTC’s performance exceeds established financial goals. The Committee determines what, if
anything, the participant must pay to receive such a stock award.

(5) Excludes 84,638 shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options assumed in connection with our
mergers or other acquisition transactions; these options have a weighted-average exercise price of $4.11.

Non-Stockholder Approved Plan

PTC maintained the 1997 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan until March 10, 2005, at which time, in connection with stockholder
approval of certain amendments to the 2000 EIP, we terminated all future offerings under that plan.

Plans Assumed in Connection with a Merger or Other Acquisition Transaction

PTC has also assumed stock options under certain equity plans in connection with certain mergers and acquisitions. These plans
are all inactive and no future options may be granted under them.
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ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information with respect to this item may be found under the heading “Information About Certain Insider Relationships™ appearing
in our 2006 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information with respect to this item may be found under the heading “Information About Our Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” appearing in our 2006 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents Filed as Part of Form 10-K

1.

Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 . ..... ... ... .. . i,
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 ... ......
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 ,.......
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and
2003 e
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004
and 2003 L e
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .. ... ... ... i e
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ........ ... ... ... . ... ... i,

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is
otherwise included.

Exhibits

‘We hereby file the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index.

(b) Exhibits
We hereby file the exhibits listed in the attached Exhibit Index.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 14th day of December, 2005.

PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
By: /s/  C.RICHARD HARRISON

C. Richard Harrison
Chief Executive Officer and President
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of Parametric Technology Corporation, hereby severally constitute Cornelius F. Moses,
I1I and Aaron C. von Staats, Esq., and each of them singly, our true and lawful attorneys with full power to them, and each of them
singly, to sign for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below any and all subsequent amendments to this report, and to
file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated below, on the 14th day of December, 2005.

Signature Titte

(i) Principal Executive Officer:

/s/ C.RICHARD HARRISON Chief Executive Officer and President

C. Richard Harrison

(ii) Principal Financial and Accounting Officer:

/s/  CoRNELIUS F. Mosgs, 111 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Cornelius F. Moses, I1I

(iii) Board of Directors:

/s/ NOEL G. POSTERNAK Chairman of the Board of Directors
Noel G. Posternak

/s/  C.RICHARD HARRISON Director
C. Richard Harrison

/s/ ROBERT N.GOLDMAN Director
Robert N. Goldman

/s/  DoNALD K. GRIERSON Director
Donald K. Grierson

/s/  OscaR B. Marx, III Director
Oscar B. Marx, ITL

/s/  JosepH M. O’DONNELL Director
Joseph M. O’Donnell

/s/ MICHAEL E. PORTER Director
Michael E. Porter
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Exhibit
Number

21

3.1(a)

3.1(b)

3.1(c)

3.1(d)

3.1¢e)

32

4.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

EXHIBIT INDEX

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Parametric Technology Corporation, PTC
Maple Corporation, Arbortext, Inc. and the Stockholder Representative dated July 15, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to
our current report on Form 8-K filed on July 21, 2005 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by reference).

Restated Articles of Organization of Parametric Technology Corporation adopted February 4, 1993 (filed as Exhibit
3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 1996 (File No. 0-18059) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Articles of Amendment to Restated Articles of Organization adopted February 9, 1996 (filed as Exhibit 4.1(b) to our
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-01297) and incorporated herein by reference).

Articles of Amendment to Restated Articles of Organization adopted February 13, 1997 (filed as Exhibit 4.1(b) to
our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-22169) and incorporated herein by reference).

Articles of Amendment to Restated Articles of Organization adopted February 10, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 1, 2000 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Certificate of Vote of Directors establishing Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (filed as Exhibit 3.1(e) to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated
herein by reference).

By-Laws, as amended and restated, of Parametric Technology Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Rights Agreement effective as of January 5, 2001 between Parametric Technology Corporation and American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2000 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by reference).

Parametric Technology Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2, 2005 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by reference).

Parametric Technology Corporation 1997 Incentive Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 2004 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Parametric Technology Corporation 1997 Incentive Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2001 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Parametric Technology Corporation 1997 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 2004 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Parametric Technology Corporation 1987 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1999 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Parametric Technology Corporation 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1999 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Computervision Corporation 1992 Stock Option Plan as amended September 15, 1994, April 18, 1995 and
December 5, 1996 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Computervision Corporation for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1996 (File No. 1-7760/0-20290) and incorporated herein by reference).

Executive Agreement with C. Richard Harrison, Chief Executive Officer, dated January 21, 2003 (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended December 28, 2002 (File No. 0-18059) and
incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

10.9%

10.10*
10.11*
10.12*
10.13*

10.14

10.15

21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
3%

Form of Executive Agreement with certain executive officers, together with schedule identifying each executive
officer (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 2004 (File
No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by reference). '

Amended and Restated Consulting Agreement with Michael E. Porter dated July 28, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 29, 2005 (File No. 0-18059) and incorporated herein by reference).

PTC Executive Incentive Performance Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal
year ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 0-18039) and incorporated herein by reference).

Director compensation information (incorporated herein by reference from Item 1.01 of our Current Report on Form
8-K filed on May 23, 2005 (File No. 0-18059)).

Executive Officer compensation information.

Lease dated December 14, 1999 by and between PTC and Boston Properties Limited Partnership (filed as Exhibit
10.21 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000 (File No. 0-18059) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Lease Agreement dated as of January 1, 1995 between United Trust Fund Limited
Partnership and Computervision Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Computervision Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1995 (File No. 1-7760/0-20290) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Subsidiaries of Parametric Technology Corporation.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-14(a) and 15d-14(a).
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-14(a) and 15d-14(a).
Certification of Periodic Financial Report Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

*  Identifies a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement in which an executive officer or director of PTC
participates.
** Indicates that the exhibit is being furnished with this report and is not filed as a part of it.
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APPENDIX A

PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

September 30,
2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cash equivalents . ........ ... i it e $ 204,423 $ 294,887
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,730 and $6,340 at
September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively . .......... i 147,497 130,393
Prepaid eXpenses . .. ... e 21,875 21,675
Other current assets (NOTE A) ... .. i e e e e 48,210 35,818
Income taxes receivable (NOte F) ... .. i e — 39,523
Deferredtax assets. . ................ S PR 1,722 444
TOtal CUITENT @SSELS &\ v vttt ettt et e et e e e e 423,727 522,740
Property and eqUIPMENt, TIBL . . .. .. .. ottt e 52,551 55,780
GoodwWill .. 200,628 45,221
Acquired intangible assets, NEL ... .. ... .t e 58,210 11,322
D erred 1aX A8 . v v vttt e e e e - 2,422 —
OHher A8SEES . . . oottt e 49,085 41,277
TOtAl ASSEIS . . vttt ettt e e e $ 786,623 $ 676,340
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ... ... $ 19915 $ 19,067
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ....... .. ... . . o 43,753 39,420
Accrued compensation and benefits ........ ... 67,517 58,086
ACCrued INCOME TAXES .o ottt it et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e 29,695 39,428
Deferred revenue (INOE A) . ...ttt e e e 183,882 156,240
Total current Labilities . . ... oo 344,762 312,241
Other liabilities (Notes B and L) . .. ... . o e e e 101,432 100,197
Deferred TEVENUE . . . o e e 16,585 20,424
Deferred tax Habilities . . .. ..o —_ 1,527
Commitments and contingencies (Note G)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none issued ...................... —_ —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 500,000 shares authorized; 275,074 and 269,509 shares issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively .............. ... ... ... .. 2,751 2,695
Additional paid-in capital . ... ... ... e 1,673,685 1,662,421
Accumulated defiCit . ... . e e (1,303,558) (1,387,150)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10ss . ... ... e (49,034) (36,015)
Total stockholders” equity .. ... .. ...ttt e 323,844 241,951
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .......... ...t $ 786,623 § 676,340

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Revenue:
| 5 1o7=3 s 1< O O $209,717 $198,860 $205,301
S OTVICE .« ottt e e e 511,002 461,169 466,639
Total TeVeNUE . . . . e e 720,719 660,029 671,940
Costs and expenses:
Cost Of lICENSE TEVEIILIE . . .\t ittt et ittt e et e e e e 8,444 8,234 10,990
Cost Of SEIVICE TEVENUE . . . .. o i e e e e e e 199,798 173,941 207,496
Sales and marketing . ... .. 243,758 226,054 298,479
Research and development ... .. ... .. . . . e 118267 107,992 128,425
General and admINISIrAtiVE . ... oottt e e e e e e 63,605 58,264 69,418
Amortization of acquired intangible assets (Note E) . ....... ... ... ... ... ... ....... 1,638 5,195 5,861
In-process research and development . ...... ... ... ... . i 730 — —
Restructuring and other charges (credits) Note B) ......... ... ... ... .o a.. (1,307) 42,933 30,896
Total costs and eXPenses . . ... ..ottt 634,933 622,613 751,565
Operating income (10S8) . . ... . i i e 85,786 37416 (79,625)
INterest INCOMIE . . . .o ot e e e 6,878 3,484 3,260
Other eXPense, NEL . .. .. ...ttt et e e e e e (1,352) (3,861) (6,064)
Income (10s8) before INCOME taXes . .. ... i 91,312 37,039 (82,429)
Provision for iNCOME tAXES . ..t vttt ittt et et e 7,720 2,226 15,851
Netincome (J0SS) .. ... i $ 83,592 $ 34813 $(98,280)
Earnings (loss) per share—Basic (the A) $ 031 $ 013 $ (0.37)
Earnings (loss) per share—Diluted (Note A) ........... ... ... .. ... .. ... ... ..., $ 030 $ 013 $ (037N
Weighted average shares outstanding—Basic ...... ... ... ... 271,339 267,704 264,149
Weighted average shares outstanding—Diluted . ........... ... ... ... . i 279,952 273,183 264,149

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net nComE (10SS) . o v ottt et et et e e e e $ 83,592 $ 34,813 $(98,280)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . ... ... ..ottt e 25,881 35,157 41,637
Provision for loss on accounts receivable ........... .. . . 1,624 3,135 5,079
Stock-based compPensation . .. ... . it e e 15,466 437 456
Write-down Of INVESHMENTS . . .. o\ttt ettt e et e — 181 393
Deferred InCome taxes .. ... oottt e (5,989) 399 42
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other charges,net ....................... (266) 1,941 1,469
In-process research and development .......... ... ... ... o L 730 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
ACCOUNtS TECEIVADIE . . Lottt e e e e (10,313) 14,934 24,904
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. ... i (13,355) (5,240) (8,388)
Accrued compensation and benefits .......... ... ... .. o 5,320 1,506 4,394
Deferred revenue . ... i e 9,501 4,997 (27,533)
Income taxes receivable, net of accrued incometaxes ..................... 29,809 (6,319) 59,238
Other current assets and prepaid eXpenses .. .............c.oveunminaeen... 2,616 14,201 8,165
Other noncurrent assets and Habilities . . .. ..ottt e e (16,477) 1,194 (5,081)
Net cash provided by operating activities ...................... .. ... ... ... ...... 128,139 101,336 6,495
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment . ........ ... (14,958) (10,924) (20,824)
Additions to other intangible @SSets . . ... ... e 1,177 (1,524) (5,108)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cashacquired .. ............ ... ... .. .. ... ... ... (198,897) (9,822) —
Purchases of INVeStMents . .. ..o v i i e — — (17,119)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments .. ... ...ttt — —_ 48,556
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities ... ............... ... .. ... ... ... .. (215,032) (22,270) 5,505
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock . ... .. o e 10,162 9712 7,688
Payments to employees for stock optionexchange ............. ... ... ... (12,733) — —
Tax benefit from stock-based awards . ........ .. i i e 1,117 — —_
Payments of capital lease obligations ........... .. . ... . 270y -— —
O T e e (294) — (167)
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities . . .............. ... .. ... . ... ..., (2,018) 9,712 7,521
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ........................... (1,553) 797 6,966
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cashequivalents . . .............................. (90,464) 89,575 26,487
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . .. ... ... ... .. ... 294,887 205,312 178,825
Cash and cash equivalents,end of year ......... ... .. .. ... ... ... ... ... .. ., $ 204,423 $294,887 $205,312
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases ... ........ . ... ... . i $ 1,521 — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

F-3




PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional 'Other Total
M Paidl-ln Accumuiated Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity
Balance as of October 1,2002 ... .................. 262,584 $2,626 $1,644,198 $(1,323,517)  $(33,379) $289,928
Common stock issued for employee stock purchase and
opoOn plans ............. .. i 3,851 39 7,649 — — 7,688
Compensation expense from restricted stock grants .. ... — — 456 — — 456
Retirement of treasury stock .............. ... .. .... 52) (03] — (166) — (167)
Netloss ..... e — — — (98,280) — (98.280)
Foreign currency translation adjustment .............. — — — — 813 813
Unrealized gain on investments . . ................... — — — — 111 111
Minimum pension liability adjustment ............... — — — — (5,391) (5,391)
Balance as of September 30,2003 ................. 266,383 2,664 1,652,303  (1,421,963) (37,846) 195,158
Common stock issued for employee stock purchase and
optionplans .......... ... 3,126 31 9,681 — — 9,712
Compensation expense from restricted stock grants . .. .. — — 437 — — 437
NetinCome . . ..ot e e e e — — — 34,813 — 34,813
Foreign currency translation adjustment . ............. — — — — 815 815
Unrealized loss on investments . .................... — — — — (154) (154)
Minimum pension liability adjustment ............... — — — — 1,170 1,170
Balance as of September 30,2004 ................. 269,509 2,695 1,662,421 (1,387,150} (36,015) 241,951
Common stock issued for employee stock-based
AWArdS ... e 5,924 60 10,102 — — 10,162
Shares surrendered by employees to pay taxes related to
stock-based awards ............. .. ... ... ... ..., (359) 4) (2,319) — — (2,323)
Stock option exchange forcash . ................. ... — — (12,246) — — (12,246)
Compensation expense from stock-based awards . ... ... — — 14,977 — — 14,977
Tax benefit realized from stock-based awards ......... — — 750 — — 750
Netincome ....... ... i — — — 83,592 — 83,592
Foreign currency translation adjustment .............. — — —_ — (2,395) (2,395)
Unrealized gain on investments . . ................... —_ — — — 1,030 1,030
Minimum pension liability adjustment ............... — — — — (11,654) (11,654)
Balance as of September 30,2005 ................. 275,074 $2,751 $1,673,685 $(1,303,558)  $(49,034) $323,844
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands)
Yeariended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netincome (108S) .. ..ot e e $ 83,592 $34,813 $ (98,280)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $0 forallperiods . ..................... (2,395) 815 813
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities, net of tax of $0 for all periods ................ 1,030 (154) 111
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $0 for all periods ....................... (11,654) 1,170 (5.391)
Other comprehensive income (10SS) . ... ..o it e e (13,019) 1,831 (4,467)
Comprehensive income (I0SS) . .. ... .. ... . i $ 70,573 $36,644 $(102,747)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business

Parametric Technology Corporation (PTC) was incorporated in 1985 and is headquartered in Needham, Massachusetts. PTC
develops, markets and supports product lifecycle management (PLM) and enterprise content management (ECM) software
solutions and related services that help companies improve their processes for developing physical and information products. Our
solutions, which include a suite of mechanical computer-aided design and document authoring tools (our Desktop Solutions) and a
range of Internet-based collaboration, content and process management, and publishing technologies (our Enterprise Solutions),
enable companies to create digital product content as represented by product designs and component-based documents, collaborate
globally on the development of content with cross-functional teams consisting of members within an organization and from the
extended enterprise, control content and automate processes over the course of a product’s lifecycle, and communicate relevant
product information across the extended enterprise and to customers through multiple channels using dynamic publications. Our
software solutions are complemented by our services and technical support organizations, as well as third-party resellers and other
strategic partners, who provide training, consulting, ancillary product offerings, implementation and support to customers
worldwide.

Basis of Presentation

Our fiscal year-end is September 30. The consolidated financial statements include the parent company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, including those operating outside the U.S. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the
financial statements. Certain reclassifications have been made for consistent presentation, including the reclassification on the
September 30, 2004 consolidated balance sheet of $20.4 million of deferred revenue to non-current liabilities from current
liabilities. We also reclassified a pension plan liability of $10.0 million to accrued compensation and benefits and other liabilities
from other assets, where the liability offset other pension plan prepaid assets. We also have made reclassifications within cash
flows from operating activities on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 to
conform to the 2005 presentation. We prepare our financial statements under generally accepted accounting principles that require
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and the related disclosures. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

For our international operations where the functional currency is the local currency, we translate assets and liabilities at exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date and record translation adjustments in stockholders’ equity. As of September 30, 2005 and
2004, cumulative translation adjustment gains of $1.3 million and $3.7 million, respectively, were included in the accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) component of stockholders’ equity. For our international operations where the U.S. dollar is the
functional currency, we remeasure monetary assets and liabilities using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and
nonmonetary assets and liabilities at historical rates and record resulting exchange gains or losses in other expense in the statement
of operations. We translate income statement amounts at average rates for the period. Transaction gains and losses are recorded in
other expense, net in the statement of operations.
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenues from three primary sources: (1) software licenses, (2) maintenance services and (3) consulting and training
services. Revenue by type for 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

Year ended September 30,
2005 2604 2003
(in thousands)
LACENSE TEVEIUR .+« + v v« v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $209,717  $198.860  $205,301
Maintenance SErviCES TEVEMUE . .. ..o v vt et te e et e e e et eee s 342,569 323,420 309,091
Consulting and training SErviCeS TEVEMUE . ... ..o ivvurnte e r e e 168,433 137,749 157,548
TOtAl TEVENUE . . . . oottt e e e $720,719  $660,029  $671,940

While we apply the guidance of Statement of Position (SOP) No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, and Statement of Position
No. 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions, both issued by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as well as SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements, we exercise judgment and use estimates in connection with the determination of the amounts of software
license and services revenues to be recognized in each accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, we
recognize revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred (generally, FOB shipping
point or electronic distribution), (3) the fee is fixed or determinable, and (4) collection is probable. Substantially all of our license
revenues are recognized in this manner.

Our software is distributed primarily through our direct sales force. In addition, we have an indirect distribution channel through
alliances with resellers. Revenue arrangements with resellers are recognized on a sell-through basis; that is, when we receive
persuasive evidence that the reseller has sold the products to an end-user customer. We do not offer contractual rights of return,
stock balancing, or price protection to our resellers, and actual product returns from them have been insignificant to date. As a
result, we do not maintain reserves for product returns and related allowances.

At the time of each sale transaction, we must make an assessment of the collectibility of the amount due from the customer.
Revenue is only recognized at that time if management deems that collection is probable. In making this assessment, we consider
customer credit-worthiness and historical payment experience. At that same time, we assess whether fees are fixed or determinable
and free of contingencies or significant uncertainties. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized only as
payments become due from the customer, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria are met. In assessing whether the fee -
is fixed or determinable, we consider the payment terms of the transaction and our collection experience in similar transactions
without making concessions, among other factors. Our software license arrangements generally do not include customer
acceptance provisions. However, if an arrangement includes an acceptance provision, we record revenue only upon the earlier of
(1) receipt of written acceptance from the customer or (2) expiration of the acceptance period.

Our software arrangements often include implementation and consulting services that are sold separately under consulting
engagement contracts or as part of the software license arrangement. When we determine that such services dre not essential to the
functionality of the licensed software and qualify as “service transactions” under SOP 97-2, we record revenue separately for the
license and service elements of these arrangements. Generally, we consider that a service is not essential to the functionality of the
software based on various factors, including if the services may be provided by independent third parties experienced in providing
such consulting and implementation in coordination with dedicated customer personnel. If an arrangement does not qualify for
separate accounting of the license and service elements, then license revenue is recognized together with the consulting services
using either the percentage-of-completion or completed-contract method of contract accounting. Contract accounting is also
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS~—(Continued)

applied to any software arrangements that include customer-specific acceptance criteria or where the license payment is tied to the
performance of consulting services. Under the percentage-of-completion method, we estimate the stage of completion of contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees based on hours or costs incurred to date as compared with estimated total project hours or costs
at completion. If we do not have a sufficient basis to measure progress towards completion, revenue 1s recognized upon completion
of the contract. When total cost estimates exceed revenues, we accrue for the estimated losses immediately. The use of the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting requires significant judgment relative to estimating total contract costs, including
assumptions relative to the length of time to complete the project, the nature and complexity of the work to be performed, and
anticipated changes in salaries and other costs. When adjustments in estimated contract costs are determined, such revisions may
have the effect of adjusting in the current period the earnings applicable to performance in prior periods.

We generally use the residual method to recognize revenues from arrangements that include one or more elements to be delivered
at a future date, when evidence of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Under the residual method, the fair value of the
undelivered elements (e.g., maintenance, consulting and training services) based on vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) is
deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered elements (i.e., software license). If evidence
of the fair value of one or more of the undelivered services does not exist, all revenues are deferred and recognized when delivery
of all of those services has occurred or when fair values can be established. We determine VSOE of the fair value of services
revenues based upon our recent pricing for those services when sold separately. VSOE of the fair value of maintenance services
may also be determined based on a substantive maintenance renewal clause, if any, within a customer contract. Our current pricing
practices are influenced primarily by product type, purchase volume, maintenance term and customer location. We review services
revenues sold separately and maintenance renewal rates on a periodic basis and update, when appropriate, our VSOE of fair value
for such services to ensure that it reflects our recent pricing experience.

Significant incremental discounts offered in multiple-element arrangements that would be characterized as separate elements are
infrequent and are allocated to software license revenues under the residual method. In limited circumstances, where a customer
receives a subscription-based license, license revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement. In limited
circumstances, where the right to use the software license is contingent upon current payments of maintenance, fees for software
and maintenance are.recognized ratably over the initial maintenance term.

Maintenance services generally include rights to unspecified upgrades (when and if available), telephone and Internet-based
support, updates and bug fixes. Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract on a straight-
line basis. It is uncommon for us to offer a specified upgrade to an existing product; however, in such instances, all revenue of the
arrangement is deferred until the future upgrade is delivered.

When consulting qualifies for separate accounting, consulting revenues under time and materials billing arrangements are
recognized as the services are performed. Consulting revenues under fixed-priced contracts are generally recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method. If there is a significant uncertainty about the project completion or receipt of payment for the
consulting services, revenue is deferred until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. Reimbursements of out-of-pocket
expenditures incurred in connection with providing consulting services are included in services revenue, with the offsetting
expense recorded in cost of services revenue.

Training services include on-site training, classroom training, and computer-based training and assessment. Training revenues are
recognized as the related training services are provided.
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily relates to software maintenance agreements billed to customers for which the services have not yet
been provided. The liability associated with performing these services is included in deferred revenue and, if not yet paid, the
related amount is included in other current assets. Billed but uncollected maintenance-related amounts included in other current
assets at September 30, 2005 and 2004 were $46.1 million and $33.3 million, respectively. Deferred revenue consisted of the
following:

September 30,
2005 . 2004
(in thousands)
Deferred Maintenance TEVENUE . . .. .ot tv ettt ettt ettt e et ettt et $163,321  $146,797
Deferred other SEIVICE TEVEIIUE . . . v v v vt ittt et et e e e e 24,931 23,637
Deferred 11CenSe TeVENMUE . ..\ttt e e e e e e 12,215 6,230
Total deferred FEVEIUE . . . ottt e et e e e e e e $200,467  $176,664

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Investments

Our cash equivalents, short-term investments, and marketable investments are invested in debt instruments of financial institutions,
government entities and corporations and in mutual funds. We have established guidelines relative to credit ratings, diversification
and maturities that are intended to maintain safety and liquidity. Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with maturity
periods of three months or less when purchased. Short-term investments include those investments with maturities in excess of
three months but less than one year. Marketable investments are those with maturities in excess of one year. At September 30,
2005 and 2004, marketable investments were $1.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively, which we included in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Our cash equivalents, short-term and marketable investments are classified as available for sale and reported at fair value, with
unrealized gains and losses included in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of stockholders’ equity and
amortization or accretion of premium or discount included in interest income. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, unrealized
gains from investments of $1.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, are included in the accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) component of stockholders’ equity.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable
approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit
risk consist primarily of investments, trade receivables and foreign currency derivatives. Qur cash, cash equivalents, investments
and derivatives are placed with financial institutions with high credit standings. Our credit risk for derivatives is also mitigated due
to the short-term nature of the contracts. Our customer base consists of large numbers of geographically diverse customers
dispersed across many industries, and no individual customer comprised more than 10% of our net trade accounts receivable as of
September 30, 2005 or 2004.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

‘We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required
payments. In determining the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, management specifically analyzes individual
accounts receivable, historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic conditions,
accounts receivable aging trends and changes in our customer payment terms. Our allowance for doubtful accounts on trade
accounts receivable was $5.7 million as of September 30, 2005, $6.3 million as of September 30, 2004, $6.8 rillion as of
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

September 30, 2003, and $6.2 million as of September 30, 2002. Uncollectible trade accounts receivable written-off, net of
recoveries, were $2.2 million, $3.6 million and $4.5 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Provisions for bad debt expense
were $1.6 million, $3.1 million and $5.1 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Transfers of Financial Assets

We offer our customers the option to purchase software and services through payment plans. We occasionally transfer future
payments under certain of these contracts to third-party financial institutions on a non-recourse basis. We record such transfers as
sales of the related accounts receivable when we surrender control of such receivables under the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments
of Liabilities.

Derivatives

We apply SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which established accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for
hedging activities. All derivatives, whether designated in a hedging relationship or not, are required to be recorded on the balance
sheet at fair value. SFAS No. 133 also requires that changes in the derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless
specific hedge accounting criteria are met, and that we formally document, designate, and assess the effectiveness of transactions
that receive hedge accounting. The effectiveness of the derivative as a hedging instrument is based on changes in its market value
being highly correlated with changes in the market value of the underlying hedged item.

Derivatives are financial instruments whose values are derived from one or more underlying financial instruments, such as foreign
currency. We enter into derivative transactions, specifically foreign currency forward contracts, to manage our exposure to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The contracts are primarily in Western European currencies and Japanese Yen and typically
have maturities of less than three months. Any derivative we enter into is designated at inception as a hedge of risks associated
with specific assets, liabilities or future commitments and is monitored to determine if it remains an effective hedge. We do not
enter into or hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

We routinely use forward contracts to hedge specific foreign currency-denominated receivables. These contracts, with maturities of
less than three months, generally are an exchange of foreign currencies for U.S. dollars at maturity at rates agreed to at inception of
the contracts. All foreign currency transactions and all outstanding forward contracts are marked-to-market at the end of each
accounting period with unrealized gains and losses recorded in the statement of operations. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004,
we had outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts equivalent to approximately $56.7 million ($18.3 million in Euros,
$15.5 million in British Pounds, $6.5 million in Japanese Yen, $5.0 million in Korean Won and $11.4 million in other currencies)
and $83.3 million ($58.9 million in Euros, $12.1 million in British Pounds, $6.4 million in Japanese Yen and $5.9 million in other
currencies), respectively. Net realized and unrealized gains and losses associated with exchange rate fluctuations on forward
contracts and the underlying foreign currency exposure being hedged were immaterial for all periods presented.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.
Computer hardware and software are typically amortized over three to five years, and furniture and fixtures over three to eight
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their useful lives or the remaining terms of the related leases.
Property and equipment under capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the lease terms or their estimated useful lives.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred; additions and improvements are capitalized. When an item is sold
or retired, the cost and related accumulated depreciation is relieved, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in income.
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PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Computer Software Costs

We incur costs to develop computer software to be licensed or otherwise marketed to customers. Research and development costs
are expensed as incurred, except for costs of internally developed or externally purchased software that qualify for capitalization.
Software development costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility, but prior to the general release of
the product, are capitalized and, upon general release, are amortized using the straight-line method over the expected life of the
related products. The straight-line method approximates the same amount of expense as that calculated using the ratio that current
period gross product revenues bear to total anticipated gross product revenues. Computer software costs capitalized in 2005, 2004
and 2003 totaled $1.2 million, $1.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively. In addition, as described in Note D, $13.7 million and
$1.6 million of software was capitalized in connection with our acquisitions of businesses in 2005 and 2004.

Goodwill, Acquired Intangible Assets and Long-lived Assets

Goodwill is the amount by which the cost of acquired net assets in a business acquisition exceeded the fair values of net
identifiable assets on the date of our purchase.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, including goodwill, assembled workforce and certain trademarks, are evaluated for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Factors
we consider important, on an overall company basis and reportable-segment basis, when applicable, that could trigger an
impairment review include significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant
changes in our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, a
significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period and a reduction of our market capitalization relative to net book value.
To conduct these tests of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its
carrying value. If the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, we record an impairment loss to the extent that the
carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. We estimate the fair values of our reporting units using discounted cash
flow valuation models.

Long-lived assets primarily include property and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives (purchased software, capitalized
software, customer lists and certain trademarks). In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets, we periodically review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer
appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flows to the recorded value of the asset. If
impairment is indicated, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value based on a discounted cash flow. analysis.

Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Total advertising expenses incurred were $2.7 million, $1.1 million and $5.9 million in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Income Taxes

Our income tax expense includes U.S. and international income taxes. Certain items of income and expense are not reported in tax
returns and financial statements in the same year. The tax effects of these differences are reported as deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of deductible temporary differences and tax
operating loss and credit carryforwards. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the provision for income
taxes. We assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we
believe that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized, we establish a valuation
allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we include an expense within
the tax provision in the statement of operations.
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Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.
Unvested restricted shares, although legally issued and outstanding, are not considered outstanding for purposes of calculating
basic earnings per share. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding plus the dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding stock options, restricted shares and restricted stock units using the
treasury stock method. The following table presents the calculation for both basic and diluted EPS:

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands, except per share)
Netincome (J0SS) . .. oot $ 83,592 $ 34,813 $(98,280)
Weighted average shares outstanding .. ... ... ..ottt e 271,339 267,704 264,149
Dilutive effect of employee stock options, restricted shares and restricted stock units . ........ 8,613 5,479 —
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding ... ....... . ... . o i i 279,952 273,183 264,149
Basic earnings (I0SS) PET ShAre . ... ... ..ttt § 031 $ 013 $ (037
Diluted earnings (1058) PEr ShATE . . .. .\ .ottt et $ 030 $ 013 3 (0370

Stock options to purchase 37.0 million, 48.2 million and 67.4 million shares for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, had exercise
prices per share that were greater than the average market price of our common stock for those periods. These shares were
excluded from the computation of diluted EPS as the effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the
treasury stock method included consideration of unrecognized compensation expense and any tax benefits as additional proceeds.
Due to the net losses generated in 2003, the effect of outstanding stock options for the purchase of an additional 3.5 million shares
was excluded from the computation of diluted EPS for that period as the effect would also have been anti-dilutive.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (SFAS No. 123(R)). We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on July 3, 2003, effective with the
beginning of our fourth quarter. SFAS No. 123(R) requires us to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award using an option pricing model. That cost is recognized
over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. We elected to adopt the
modified prospective application method as provided by SFAS No. 123(R) and, accordingly, financial statement amounts for the
periods prior to adoption presented in this Form 10-K have not been restated to reflect the fair value method of expensing
prescribed by SFAS No. 123(R).

The fair value of restricted shares and restricted stock units granted in 2005 was based on the fair market value of our stock on the
date of grant. The weighted average fair value of restricted shares and restricted stock units granted in 2005 was $6.35. Pre-vesting
forfeiture rates for purposes of determining stock-based compensation were estimated by us to be 0% for directors and executive
officers, 3% for vice president level employees and 6% for all other employees.
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The following table shows stock-based compensation expense recorded from our stock-based awards and our stock option

exchange (see Note J for a description of the types of stock-based awards and the stock option exchange) as reflected in our -
Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Year ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in thbusands)
Cost Of lICEMSE TEVENUE . . . ..o\ttt ittt et et e et e $ 61 $— 5
CoSt Of SEIVICE TEVRIUE . . . ..ot . 2,644 — —
Sales and MArketing . ... .. ....outeint . 5,113 _ —_
Research and development . ... ... .. i 3,723 437 456
General and adminiStrative . .. ...t e 3,925 — —
Total stock-based compensation eXPense ... .. ... evrreiin et $15466 $437 %456

Prior to July 3, 2005, we accounted for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting
Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, (APB No. 25) and related interpretations.
Under APB No. 25, no compensation cost is recognized when the option price is equal to the market price of the underlying stock
on the date of grant. As permitted by APB No. 25, prior to July 3, 2005, we generally did not recognize compensation expense in
connection with stock option grants to employees, directors and officers under our plans. However, we did recognize compensation
expense of $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, in connection with a restricted stock
grant to an executive officer of the company in May 2002. The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net
earnings (loss) per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to all stock-based awards to
employees.

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands, except per share
amounts)
Net income (1088), @S TEPOTIEd . . . oottt et ettt et et et e e e e e e $ 83,592 $ 34,813 $ (98,280)
Stock-based compensation cost included in reported net income (loss), net of tax of $367
for 2005 and $0 for 2004 and 2003 . . ... ... e 15,099 437 456
Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method, net of tax
of $367 for 2005 and $0 for 2004 and 2003 .. ... .. ... .. (34,762) (34,104)  (51,699)
Pro forma net income (10SS) . ...ttt e e $63,929 $ 1,146 $(149,523)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic—as reported . ... .. $ 031 $ 013 $ (03D
Diluted—as repoTted . . . ..o o i $§ 030 $ 013 $ (037
Basic—proforma ... ... ... .. $ 024 $ 000 $ (0.57)
Diluted—pro forma . . .. ... o $ 023§ 000 $ (0.57)

The illustrative disclosures above include the amortization of the fair value of options over their vesting schedules. The pro forma
net income (loss) for 2005, 2004 and 2003 includes an income tax valuation allowance fully offsetting any income tax benefit
related to the pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense for those periods, except for a $0.4 million tax benefit in
2005 related to certain profitable foreign jurisdictions. The effects indicated above of applying SFAS No. 123 are not necessarily
representative of the effects on similar illustrative disclosures in future years.

3
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There were no stock options granted during 2005. The fair value of stock options granted in 2004 and 2003 and employee stock

purchase plan shares granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model assuming the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year ended
September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Expected life for options (years) .. ... i — 40 4.0
Risk-free interest rates for OPHONS .. ... ... .. it — 32% 29%
Expected life for employee stock purchase plan shares (months) ........................... 6.0 6.0 6.0
Risk-free interest rates for employee stock purchase plan shares ............. ... ... ... ... 1.6% 11% 32%
Volatility ... o 65% T74% 5%

Dividend yield . ... ..o — — —

The weighted average fair value of employee stock options granted was $2.50 in 2004 and $1.60 in 2003. The weighted average
fair value of shares granted under the stock purchase plan was $1.52 in 2005, $1.23 in 2004 and $0.98 in 2003.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions,
including the expected stock price volatility. Our options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options
and changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate.

As of September 30, 2005, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested awards, including stock options, restricted
shares and restricted stock units, was approximately $41.3 million. We expect approximately 55%, 40% and 5% of this amount to
be recognized as compensation expense in fiscal 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 143 (FIN 47). FIN 47 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. FIN 47 clarifies that an
entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the
liability’s fair value can be reasonably estimated and clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably
estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. We do not expect that the adoption of FIN 47 will have a material impact
on our results of operations or financial position. ‘

Accounting Changes and Error Correction

On June 7, 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion
No. 20, Accounting Changes, and Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements (SFAS No.
154). SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. Previously,
most voluntary changes in accounting principles required recognition in a cumulative effect adjustment within net income of the
period of the change. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is
impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS No. 154 is effective for
accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005; however, this standard does not change the transition
provisions of any existing accounting pronouncements. We will determine the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial
statements when an accounting change or error correction occurs.
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B. Restructuring and Other Charges (Credits)

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we recorded a net credit to restructuring and other charges of $1.3 million. The restructuring credit
includes a $3.0 million credit for changes in our estimated liabilities for facilities that we vacated, offset by $1.7 million of
severance and termination costs related to nine employees terminated during the period. The $3.0 million credit is due primarily to
reoccupying, in the fourth quarter of 2005, a portion of our headquarters facility that was previously vacated and included in
restructuring costs in a prior period. The space was available for sublease and was being marketed, but was reoccupied due to space
requirements related to our three acquisitions completed in 2005 and general business growth. As of September 30, 2005,
substantially all of our remaining headquarters excess space has been sublet.

In 2004, we recorded total restructuring and other charges of $42.9 million. The restructuring and other charges were comprised of
$21.0 million for severance and termination benefits related to 459 employees terminated during 2004 and $21.9 million related
primarily to excess facilities. The charges for excess facilities were primarily related to gross lease commitments in excess of
estimated sublease income for excess facilities. Of the total restructuring and other charges recorded in 2004, $1.9 million was
non-cash for the write-off of leasehold improvements related to the excess facilities. We completed the restructuring program in
the fourth quarter of 2004.

In 2003, we recorded total restructuring and other charges of $30.9 million. The restructuring and other chatges were comprised of
$17.9 million for severance and termination benefits related to 361 employees terminated during 2003. We also recorded charges
of $11.6 million related to excess facilities and $1.4 million of other costs, primarily related to the write-off of acquired
technology. The increases in the liability for excess facilities in 2003 related primarily to revised estimates of gross lease
commitments in excess of expected sublease income for leases assumed in our 1998 acquisition of Computervision Corporation
and consolidating existing leased facilities.

The following table summarizes restructuring and other charges reserve activity for the three years ended September 30, 2005:

Employee Severance  Facility Closures
and Related Benefits  and Other Costs Total

(in thousands)

Balance, October 1, 2002 . .. .. $ 2,655 $ 35,309 $ 37,964
Charges to OPerations . ... ......uturtun et 17,855 13,041 30,896
Cash disbursements . . ....... it in it et (15,667) (8,775) (24,442)
Non-cash utilization . .. ........ .. . i i e — (1,469) (1,469)

Balance, September 30, 2003 ... ... 4,843 38,106 42,949
Charges t0 OPErationS . ... ..ottt ettt ittt a e eaas 21,033 21,900 42,933
Cash disbursements .. ...ttt i i e (25,488) (15,132) (40,620)
Non-cash utilization . . ... it i e — (1,941) (1,941)

Balance, September 30, 2004 . ... ... 388 42933 43,321
Charges (credits) to OPerations .. ........vitir vt 1,684 (2,991) (1,307)
Cash disbursements .................... S (809) (9,949) (10,758)
Other ... — 266 266

Balance, September 30, 2003 . . ... i $ 1,263 $ 30,259 $ 31,522

The accrual for facility closures and related costs is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and other long-term
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, and the accrual for employee severance and related benefits is included in accrued
compensation and benefits. As of September 30, 2005, of the $31.5 million remaining in accrued restructuring charges,

$11.0 million was included in current liabilities and $20.5 million was included in other long-term liabilities, principally for facility
costs to be paid out through 2014. As described in Note D, as of September 30, 2005 we also have $2.9 million in current liabilities
for restructuring charges related to our integration of Arbortext.
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C. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,
. 2005 2004

(in thousands)
Computer hardware and software .. ... .. ... .. . . e $ 153,641  $ 149,920
Furniture and fiXtUres .. ... . e 16,738 17,803
Leasehold improvements . . .. ..ottt e 30,346 32,634
Gross property and equipment . ........... .. ... ...l S P 200,725 200,357
Accumulated depreciation and amMOrtization . .......c..eit it (148,174)  (144,577)
Net property and equipment ............ P $ 52,551 $ 55,780

Depreciation expense was $21.7 million, $26.9 million and $33.5 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In 2005, we
disposed of $17.3 million of fully depreciated property and equipment and we entered into several capital leases totaling $1.5
million, the obligations of which are reflected in current and noncurrent liabilities on our September 30, 2005 consolidated balance
sheet. We also recorded property and equipment of $1.4 million as a result of our three acquisitions completed during the year.

D. Acquisitions
Arbortext

On July 19, 2005, we completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding capital stock of Arbortext, Inc., a provider of enterprise
publishing software. We believe that the Arbortext acquisition will enhance our product development system by adding
documentation capabilities. The aggregate purchase price for the acquisition was approximately $194.8 million in cash, including
$3.1 million of acquisition-related transaction costs. Included in the aggregate purchase price is the consideration paid to cancel
and terminate all Arbortext unvested and unexercised stock options. No PTC common stock or stock options were issued in the
acquisition. Acquisition-related transaction costs include our estimate of investment banking, legal and accounting fees and other
external costs directly related to the acquisition. Results of operations for Arbortext have been included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations beginning July 20, 2005.

There are no contingent payments, options, or commitments specified in the acquisition agreement. Any retention bonuses due to
key employees of Arbortext are not material and are being expensed over the relevant service period.
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The acquisition of Arbortext has been accounted for as a business combination. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed were
recorded at their fair values as of July 19, 2005. The fair values of intangible assets were based on valuations using an income
approach, with estimates and assumptions provided by management of Arbortext and PTC. The excess of the purchase price over
the tangible assets, identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities was recorded as goodwill. The purchase price allocation is
final except for the impact, if any, of a potential legal proceeding surrounding a royalty obligation. Based upon the valuations, the
total purchase price was allocated as follows:

(in millions)

GoodWill . $150.1
Identifiable intangible @sSels . .. ... .. . i 46.6
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ... .. i i i i e e 2.3
ACCOUNLS TeCEIVADIE . . . . Lo e e e 9.8
Property and eqUIPIENt . . .. ... .o 1.3
Accounts payable and accrued eXPENSES . . ... ...t e 5.4
Deferred revenue, net of fair value adjustment . ......... .. ... (7.6)
RESITUCIUNING TESEIVES . . .\ ottt et ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e . (3.0)
Net deferred tax liabillties . ... ... .. e e (18.2)
- Reduction in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets of PTC ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... 18.2
In-process research and development . ... ... .. 0.7
Total purchase price allocation .. .. ... ... . i e e $194.8

Identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of developed technology, core technology, tradenames, customer contracts, software
support agreements and related relationships and consuiting contracts. Developed technology (products that have reached
technological feasibility) includes products in most of Arbortext’s product lines. Core technology represents a combination of
Arbortext’s processes, inventions and trade secrets related to the design and development of its applications products. Developed
and core technologies total $10.5 million and are being amortized over 3 to 5 years (weighted average life of 4.7 years). Customer
relationship intangibles represent the underlying relationships and agreements with Arbortext’s customers. Customer relationship
intangibles total $35.3 million and are being amortized over 10 years. Tradenames totaled $0.8 million and are being amortized
over 5 years.

Purchased in-process research and development of $0.7 million was written-off in the fourth quarter of 2005 and relates to two
projects under development, for which technological feasibility had not yet been established at the acquisition date and for which
there was no alternative future use. The value of the purchased in-process research and development was determined using the
residual income approach, which discounts expected future cash flows from projects under development to their net present value.
These development projects are expected to be completed by the third quarter of 2006, and the expected cost to complete was
approximately $2 million at the acquisition date.

Net tangible assets consist of the fair values of tangible assets less the fair values of assumed liabilities and obligations. Except for
deferred revenues and restructuring reserves, net tangible assets were valued at the respective carrying amounts recorded by
Arbortext, as we believed that their carrying values approximated their fair values at the acquisition date. Deferred revenues reflect
an amount equivalent to the estimated cost plus an appropriate profit margin to perform the services related to Arbortext’s software
support contracts. Restructuring reserves include the severance costs related to Arbortext employees, planned closure of certain
Arbortext facilities and other costs associated with exiting activities of Arbortext. Although we have not completed our integration
of Arbortext, we currently estimate that total restructuring costs associated with exiting activities of Arbortext will be
approximately $3.0 million.
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This transaction resulted in $150.1 million of purchase price that exceeded the estimated fair values of tangible and intangible
assets and liabilities, which was allocated to goodwill. We believe that the high amount of goodwill relative to identifiable
intangible assets was the result of several factors.including: (1) the potential to sell Arbortext’s XML-based authoring and
publishing products into our traditional manufacturing customer base; (2) the potential to sell our product development system,
primarily our collaboration and control products, into Arbortext’s traditional customer base, including customers in markets such
as life sciences, financial services, government and publishing; (3) our intention to combine our products to provide software
products that enable customers to create, manage and dynamically publish information concurrently with the development of their
related products or services; (4) our intention to leverage our larger direct and indirect sales force and our intellectual property to
attract new contracts and revenue; and (5) our intention to leverage our established presence in international regions and markets,
specifically the Asia/Pacific region, in which Arbortext did not have a significant presence.

None of the goodwill or intangible assets acquired in the acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes. As a result, and in
accordance with SFAS No. 109, Income Taxes, we recorded in the purchase accounting a deferred tax liability of $18.2 million,
equal to the tax effect of the amount of the acquired intangible assets other than goodwill. As a result of recording that deferred tax
liability, we also reduced our valuation allowance recorded against our U.S. pre-acquisition net deferred tax assets by a
corresponding amount. In addition, in the acquisition, we acquired approximately $17.7 million of net deferred tax assets of
Arbortext, which consisted primarily of net operating loss carryforwards. However, we recorded such assets with a full valuation
allowance due to the significant uncertainty about whether those deferred tax assets will be realized. If and when such acquired
deferred tax assets are realized, we will adjust the purchase price allocation by reducing the amount of goodwill recorded.

Pro Forma Financial Information (unaudited)

The unaudited financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations of PTC and Arbortext, on a
pro forma basis, as though the companies had been combined as of the beginning of fiscal 2004. The pro forma financial
information is presented for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been
achieved if the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2004. The pro forma financial information includes the
amortization charges from acquired intangible assets, adjustments to interest income and the related tax effects.

Year ended
September 30,

2005 2004

(in millions, except
per share amounts)

Revenue ................. PP $754.5  $692.6

NELINCOIMIE . . oot e e e e e e e e e e 72.1 22.9

Earnings per share—BasiC ... . ...ttt e $ 027 $0.09

Earnings per share—Diluted ... ..... ...ttt $ 026 $ 008
Polyplan and Aptavis

During the third quarter of 2005, we acquired Polyplan Technologies Inc., a provider of manufacturing process planning
technology, and Aptavis Technologies Corporation, a provider of Windchill-based solutions for the retail, footwear and apparel
industry for an aggregate total of $6.8 million in cash. These acquisitions were accounted for as business combinations and resulted
in $5.6 million of goodwill and $3.3 million in other acquired intangible assets, primarily comprised of purchased software, which
is being amortized over 3 years. Values assigned to intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes. Our results of operations
prior to the acquisition, if presented on a pro forma basis, would not differ materially from our reported results.
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OHIO Design

In the third quarter of 2004, we acquired OHIO Design Automation, Inc. (OHIO-DA), a provider of electronics design
collaboration software, for $9.8 million in cash. The purchase price was allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on our estimates of fair value. The values assigned included intangible assets of $1.8 million for customer lists and $1.6 million for
purchased software, which are being amortized over estimated useful lives of 5 years and 3 years, respectively. The excess
purchase price over the amounts allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed of $7.0 million was recorded as goodwill.
Results of operations of OHIO-DA have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date. Values
assigned to intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes. Our results of operations prior to the acquisition, if presented on a
pro forma basis, would not differ materially from our reported results.

E. Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

‘We have two reportable segments: (1) software products and (2) services. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, goodwill and
acquired intangible assets in the aggregate attributable to our software products reportable segment was $242.6 million and $56.5
million, respectively, and attributable to our services reportable segment was $16.2 million and $0 million, respectively. Goodwill
and other intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances
change that would, more likely than not, reduce the fair value of the reporting segment below its carrying value. We completed our
annual impairment review as of July 2, 2005 and concluded that no impairment charge was required as of that date. There have not
been any events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying values of goodwill or acquired intangible assets may not
be recoverable.

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets consisted of the following:

September 30, 2005 September 30, 2004
Gross Gross
Carrying  Accumulated  Net Book Carrying  Accumulated Net Book
Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value

(in thousands)
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
(not amortized):
Goodwill ....... ... i $304,760  $104,132  $200,628 $150,223  $105,002  $45,221
Trademarks .......... ... ... .. .. 10,155 6,033 4,122 10,232 6,078 4,154

314,915 110,165 204,750 160,455 111,080 49,375

Intangible assets with finite lives (amortized):

Purchased software ....................... 45,150 30,135 15,015 30,385 29,060 1,325

Capitalized software ...................... 22,877 20,556 2,321 22,877 18,654 4,223

Customer lists and relationships ............. 45,981 10,045 35,936 10,665 9,045 1,620
Trademarks and tradenames ................ 850 34 816 — — —
Other ... e 316 316 — 316 316 —

115,174 61,086 54,088 64,243 57,075 7,168

Total goodwill and acquired intangible assets ... .. .. $430,089  $171,251  $258,838 $224,698 $168,155  $56,543

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives at September 30, 2005 from
September 30, 2004 are due to the impact of acquisitions completed in the third and fourth quarters of 20035 (described in Note D)
and foreign currency translation adjustments related to those asset balances that are recorded in non-U.S. currencies.
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Movements in goodwill, presented by reportable segment, were as follows:

Software

Products Services

Segment Segment Total
(in thousands)

Balance, October 1, 2003 ... .. e $140,310 § — $140,310
Acquisition of OHIO-DA . ... ... .. 7,037 — 7,037
Foreign currency translation adjustments .. ........... ... ... ... ... ... 2,876 — 2,876

Balance, September 30,2004 .. ... .. ... 150,223 — 150,223
Acquisition of Aptavis .. ... .. .. 1,553 — 1,553
Acquisition of Polyplan . ... ... .. . . 4,026 — 4,026
Acquisition of Arbortext . ........ ... . . .. 137,996 12,080 150,076
Foreign currency translation adjustments . ............................. (1,118) — (1,118)

Balance, September 30, 2005 ... ... $292,680 $12,080  $304,760

The aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives recorded for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004
and 2003 was reflected in our consolidated statements of operations as follows:

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Amortization of acquired intangible assets .............. .. ... i $1,638 $5,195 $5,861
Cost Of ICENSE TEVEITUE . . . o v ottt et et e e e e e e e e 2,547 3,018 3,240
Total amOTtiZation EXPENSE . . o v vttt et ittt et e e e $4.185 $8,213  $9,101

The estimated aggregate future amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives remaining as of September 30, 2005 is
$9.4 million for 2006, $8.6 million for 2007, $7.5 million for 2008, $6.4 million for 2009, $5.2 million for 2010 and $17.0 million
thereafter.

F. Income Taxes

Our income (loss) before taxes consisted of the following:

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
DoOmestiC .. $(5,118) $(4,697) $(92,349)
FOTeign . ..o 96,430 41,736 9,920
Total . . $91,312  $37,039  $(82,429)
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Qur provision for (benefit from) income taxes consisted of the following:

Year ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal .. ... e $ 3,043  $(19,150) $§ —
S AL ot e e 750 301 500
Foreign . ... 9,916 20,676 15,309
13,709 1,827 15,809
Deferred:
Federal ... ... . — — —
N 7O PP — — —
BOrelgn .« .o e (5,989) 399 42
(5,989) 399 42
Total provision for iNCOME tAXES . .. ... oottt e $ 7,720 $ 2,226 $15,851
The reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and our effective income tax rate is shown below:
Year ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
Statutory federal income tax provision (benefit) ............. .. ... .. .. .. 35% 35% (35)%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ......... .. .. .. ... .. ... . ... ... .. 1 1 1
Foreigndividends . .......... .. 18 — —
Change in valuation alloWance . ...............iiuiuntnmninnannn.s 27 28 42
Tax audit and examination settlements ............ ... .. i, (13) ) —
Foreign rate differences ........ ... . i @) 12 7
Ofher, MBL . ... e e __1 _(1_ ) J
Effective inCOmME taX Tate . . ...ttt ittt e e it et i% 6% _12%

In 2005, we recorded tax benefits of $12.1 million arising from the reduction of our tax liabilities upon the favorable resolution of
tax audits in a foreign jurisdiction. In 2004, we received notification from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)ithat we would
receive a tax refund related to income tax returns for the years 1998 through 2000 totaling $39.5 million, which resulted in a

nonrecurring tax benefit of $18.9 million in 2004. We received net refunds of approximately $23.9 million in 2005 and
$53.3 million in 2003 and we made net income tax payments of approximately $5.7 million in 2004.

F-20



PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The significant temporary differences that created deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below:

September 30,
2005 2004
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards . ....... ... ... . .. .$116,956  $ 108,345
Restructuring reserves not currently deductible ................... ... .. 11,864 15,943
Other reserves not currently deductible ........... ... .. .. . ... ...... .. 21,611 5,886
Minimum pension liability ............ ... ... .. 20,262 13,570
Foreigntaxcredits .. ... .ot e 7,605 7,605
Amortization of intangible assets .......... ... . ... . i 6,538 9,810
Depreciation . ... .. e — 2,489
Other .. 3,230 741
Gross deferred tax assels . . ...t v i i 188,066 164,389
Valuation allowance ........... ... . i e (152,564)  (142,000)
Total deferred tax assets ... ...t 35,502 22,389
Deferred tax liabilities:
Acquired intangible assets not deductible . . ... ... o oL (19,795) (1,511
Investment in foreign subsidiaries . . ........ .. .. ... . — (7,776)
PEnSION o e (8,927) (9,939)
L0 14412 G R U (2,636) (4,246)
Total deferred tax liabilities ...................cc.ciuon.. e (31,358) (23,472)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) .. .. ...ttt e $ 4,144 $ (1,083)

As aresult of operating losses incurred in recent years and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of profitability in future periods,
we concluded in 2002 that it was more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets would not be realized and, accordingly, we
increased our deferred tax valuation allowance for our remaining net deferred tax assets at that time. Although we realized
consolidated net income before tax in 2005 and 2004 of $91.3 million and $37.0 million, respectively, we have maintained a full
deferred tax valuation allowance against deferred tax assets in the United States as a result of continuing operating losses in the
U.S., which is the source of the majority of our net deferred tax assets. While we have realized consolidated operating profits over
the last several quarters, we have not yet concluded that realization of all of our deferred tax assets in the future is more likely than
not. In the fourth quarter of 2005, our U.S. legal entities incurred a taxable loss, due principally to the tax expense associated with
the grant and vesting of restricted stock units and the stock option exchange.

Significant management judgment is required to determine when the realization of our deferred tax assets in the future is
considered more likely than not. If and when we conclude that realization is more likely than not, we will record a reduction to our
valuation allowance that will result in an increase to net income and adjustments to goodwill, accumulated other comprehensive
loss, and additional paid-in-capital in the period such determination is made. Based on the amount of the valuation allowance as of
September 30, 2005, if we were to decide that a reversal of the entire valuation allowance was appropriate, the following would be
recorded: (1) a $10.4 million income tax benefit and a $9.0 million credit to accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’
equity related primarily to our minimum pension liability; (2) an $11.9 million increase to additional paid-in capital related to
deductions taken in our tax returns for stock-based awards to employees; (3) a $17.7 million reduction of goodwill related to
deferred tax assets (primarily net operating loss carryforwards) recorded with a full valuation allowance in our acquisition of
Arbortext; and (4) a $103.6 million income tax benefit. In addition, an income tax benefit of $19.0 million would be recorded with
an increase to goodwill, related to the deferred tax liabilities we recorded in our acquisitions due to the fact that the acquired
intangible assets (other than goodwill) were not deductible for tax purposes.
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Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) increased by $5.2 million to $4.1 million at September 30, 2005 from September 30, 2004,
resulting in a deferred tax benefit of $6.0 million included in the consolidated statement of operations partially offset by a deferred
tax liability of $0.8 million recorded in purchase accounting for acquired intangible assets not deductible for tax purposes in a
profitable foreign jurisdiction. Net deferred tax liabilities include $19.8 miilion as of September 30, 2005 for the tax effects of
having acquired intangible assets that are not deductible for tax purposes, primarily from our acquisition of Arbortext. Due to PTC
and Arbortext having net operating loss carryforwards available and full valuation allowances recorded against their net deferred
tax asset positions, the net deferred tax liability recorded in purchase accounting was fully offset with a decrease in the valuation
allowance. '

Our valuation allowance was $152.6 million as of September 30, 2005, $142.0 mitlion as of September 30, 2004, $131.5 million as
of September 30, 2003 and $96.3 million as of September 30, 2002. In 2005, the valuation allowance was increased by $10.6
million. Increases to the valuation allowance were primarily due to:

¢ the recording of deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and an offsetting valuation
allowance of $17.7 million in the purchase accounting for Arbortext;

» the recording of net operating loss carryforwards and an offsetiing valuation allowance of a foreign jurisdiction of $15.7
million not previously recorded;

» anetincrease in U.S. net operating loss carryforwards and offsetting valuation allowances of $3.3 million;

¢ anetincrease in deferred tax assets, primarily for net operating losses, of $4.8 million for foreign jurisdictions with a full
valuation allowance; and

« anetincrease in deferred tax assets and offsetting valuation allowance of $7.2 million related to the minimum pension
liability included in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

These increases were partially offset by decreases to the valuation allowance primarily due to:

s+ the repatriation of $48.1 million of earnings ($18.8 million tax-effected) from our foreign subsidiaries in the form of
dividends; ‘

«  the establishment of deferred tax liabilities of $19.8 million for acquired intangible assets not deductible for tax purposes,
which were reduced to $18.2 million as of September 30, 2005; and

+ the reversal of $4.1 million of valuation allowances in certain foreign jurisdictions due to consistent profitability, which
was recorded as an income tax benefit in our statement of operations.

In 2004, the valuation allowance was increased by $10.5 million primarily to reserve for additional Computervision NOL
carryforwards recorded as a result of the conclusion of the IRS examination of our income tax returns for 1998 through 2000
discussed below. In 2003, the valuation allowance was increased by $34.7 million to reserve for deferred tax assets primarily
related to net operating loss carryforwards.

We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on July 3, 2005, effective with the beginning of our fourth quarter. We incurred approximately
$15.2 million of expense related to stock-based compensation in the fourth quarter of 2005 including expense for past stock option
grants, employee stock option exchange payments in excess of fair market value and equity awards granted in the fourth quarter of
2005 described further in Note J, Stock Plans. Accounting for the tax effects of stock-based awards requires that we establish a
deferred tax asset as the book compensation is recognized. Upon the settlement of the stock-based awards (i.e., exercise, vest,
forfeiture or cancellation), the actual tax deduction is compared with the cumulative book compensation cost and any excess tax
deduction is considered a “windfall tax benefit and is tracked in a “windfall tax benefit pool” to offset any future tax deduction
shortfalls. At the date of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) we were required to calculate our cuamulative “windfall tax benefit pool” as
if we had been following the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 since that standard went into effect. Taking into account the
stock option exchange and forfeiture of stock options by executive officers our “windfall tax benefit pool” was not material as of
September 30, 2005.
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At September 30, 2005 and 2004, accrued income taxes of $29.7 million and $39.4 million, respectively, primarily represented
income taxes payable and related income tax accruals. At September 30, 2004, income taxes receivable of $39.5 million
represented expected refunds of U.S. federal income taxes and related interest. In the normal course of business, PTC and its
subsidiaries are examined by various taxing authorities, including the IRS in the United States. In 2005, we recorded tax benefits of
$12.1 million due to favorable resolutions of tax audits in a foreign jurisdiction. In 2004, the IRS concluded its examination of our
income tax returns for years 1998 through 2000, and notification of a $39.5 million refund amount was received in the fourth
quarter of 2004. The refund resulted in a nonrecurring tax benefit of $18.9 million in 2004 and the recording of $6.5 million of
additional tax-effected NOLs available for carryforward, which were offset by an increase in our deferred tax valuation allowance.
The $39.5 million refund was received in the first quarter of 2005. During 2005, the IRS commenced its examination of our income
tax returns for the years 2001 and 2002.

For U.S. tax return purposes, NOLs and tax credits are generally available to be carried forward to future years subject to certain
limitations. At September 30, 2005, we had U.S. federal NOL carryforwards of $40.3 million, which expire in 2023 and 2024,
available to offset taxable income in future years. In addition, we have U.S. federal NOL carryforwards of $34.8 million resulting
from our 2005 acquisition of Arbortext, which expire beginning in 2007 through 2024, and U.S. federal NOL carryforwards of
$169.7 million resulting from our January 1998 acquisition of Computervision, which expire beginning in 2008 through 2018. The
utilization of the Arbortext and Computervision NOLs is limited as a result of the change in ownership rules under Internal
Revenue Code Section 382. We also have loss carryforwards in non-U.S. jurisdictions totaling $82 million, the majority of which
do not expire. There are limitations imposed on the utilization of such NOLs that could further restrict the recognition of any tax
benefits.

The American Jobs Creation Act

In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (AJCA) became law. The AJCA contains several provisions that apply
to us. The AJCA creates a temporary incentive for U.S. multinational corporations to repatriate accumulated income abroad by
providing an 85% dividends received deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations. Due to the availability
of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards in the U.S., we have not and do not intend to avail ourselves of the provisions of the
AJCA for any repatriations of accumulated income. While it has been our historical practice to permanently reinvest all foreign
earnings into our foreign operations, in 2005 we repatriated approximately $48 million from our foreign subsidiaries. Repatriation
of these earnings did not result in any -significant incremental charge to our income tax provision as a result of utilizing U.S. NOL
carryforwards for which we had previously maintained a full valuation allowance. If we decide to repatriate any additional foreign
earnings, we may be required to establish a deferred tax liability on such earnings through a charge to our income tax provision.
The cumulative amount of undistributed earnings of our subsidiaries for which U.S. income taxes have not been provided totaled
approximately $73.5 million and $73.4 million as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The AJCA also provides U.S. corporations with an income tax deduction equal to a stipulated percentage of qualified income from
domestic production activities (“qualified activities”). The deduction, which cannot exceed 50% of annual wages paid, is phased in
as follows: 3% of qualified activities in 2006 and 2007; 6% in 2008 through 2010; and 9% in 2011 and thereafter. We believe that
we qualify for the deduction. The tax benefit of the deduction would generally be accounted for in the periods in which the
qualifying activities occur, generally the years in which the deductions are taken in the tax returns. This benefit would be included
in our annual effective tax rate, but would not result in a remeasurement of deferred income taxes. The AJCA may have an impact
on our tax rate for future years. However, we have maintained a full deferred tax valuation allowance on U.S. deferred taxes and,
as a result, we do not expect the AJCA to materially affect our financial position or results of operations.
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G. Commitments and Contingencies
Leasing Arrangements

We lease office facilities and certain equipment under operating leases expiring at various dates through 2014. Certain leases
require us to pay for taxes, insurance, maintenance and other operating expenses in addition to rent. Lease expense, net of sublease
income, was $30.1 million, $32.9 million and $39.5 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At September 30, 2005, our
future minimum lease payments (net of sublease income) under noncancellable operating leases are as follows:

Year ending September 30, (in thousands)
2006 $ 36,245
2007 e 30,592
2008 e 25,187
2000 . e 23,257
2000 17,620
Thereafter ... ..o 25,731
Total minimum lease payments ..............coiuunerrnnneineennanenn.. e $158,632

Future minimum lease payments under capital leases are approximately $0.4 million per year through 2008, and $0.2 million in
2009.

As a result of restructuring and cost saving initiatives in current and prior years, certain leased facilities are excess. As of
September 30, 2005, we had $29.7 million reserved for facility obligations in excess of sublease income. Our total future rental
income under current sublease arrangements for excess facilities is $24.7 million ($5.2 million in 2006, $5.3 million in 2007,
$5.3 million in 2008, $5.4 million in 2009, $1.8 million in 2010 and $1.7 million thereafter). The future minimum lease payments
above include minimum future lease payments for excess facilities, net of sublease income under existing sublease arrangements.

As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, we had letters of credit and bank guarantees outstanding of approximately $6.3 million, of
which $1.4 million was collateralized, and $6.4 million, of which $0.4 million was collateralized, respectively, primarily related to
our corporate headquarters lease in Needham, Massachusetts.

Legal Proceedings

On May 30, 2003, a lawsuit was filed against us in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts by Rand A Technology
Corporation and Rand Technologies Limited (together, “Rand”). Rand historically had been our largest distributor. The complaint
alleges various breaches of a revised one-year distribution agreement entered into in December 2002, as well as other agreements
between Rand and us, and also asserts certain non-contract claims. The complaint, as amended, seeks equitable relief and
substantial damages. On November 24, 2003, we filed our substantive response to Rand’s complaint and asserted counterclaims
against Rand. During the second quarter of 2005, Rand quantified its claimed actual damages as being in excess of $50 million and
Rand asserts that this amount should be trebled by the court. As a result of several recent rulings by the court, some of Rand’s
claims have been dismissed while others will proceed to trial and Rand’s possible maximum recovery under the lawsuit may have
been reduced. In addition, the court has excluded the testimony of the damages expert hired by Rand to substantiate Rand’s
damages quantification. The court has also issued a ruling granting PTC summary judgment on one of PTC’s counterclaims against
Rand. Despite these rulings, several of Rand’s claims, as well as certain of our counterclaims, remain to be tried before a jury. We
believe Rand’s claims and its damages assessment associated with those claims are without merit and will continue to contest them
vigorously. We also intend diligently to prosecute our counterclaims. We cannot predict the ultimate resolution of this action at this
time, and we cannot assure you that this action, if determined adversely to us, will not have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition or results of operations. No liability has been accrued as of September 30, 2005 related to this matter.
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We also are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. We currently believe that
resolving these other matters will not have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

We enter into standard indemnification agreements in our ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these agreements, we
indemnify, hold harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party,
generally our business partners or customers, in connection with patent, copyright or other intellectual property infringement
claims by any third party with respect to our current products, as well as claims relating to property damage or personal injury
resulting from the performance of services by us or our subcontractors. The maximum potential amount of future payments we
could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. Historically, our costs to defend lawsuits or settle
claims relating to such indemnity agreements have been minimal and we accordingly believe the estimated fair value of these
agreements is immaterial.

We warrant that our software products will perform in all material respects in accordance with our standard published
specifications in effect at the time of delivery of the licensed products for a specified period of time (generally 90 to 180 days).
Additionally, we generally warrant that our consulting services will be performed consistent with generally accepted industry
standards. In most cases, liability for these warranties is capped. If necessary, we would provide for the estimated cost of product
and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history; however, we have never incurred significant cost under
our product or services warranties. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value of these agreements is immaterial.

H. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

We may issue up to 5.0 million shares of our preferred stock in one or more series. Our Board of Directors is authorized to fix the
rights and terms for any series of preferred stock without additional shareholder approval. In November 2000, our Board of
Directors authorized and designated 500,000 shares of preferred stock as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock for issuance
pursuant to our Shareholder Rights Plan discussed below in Note 1. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, there were no outstanding
shares of preferred stock.

Common Stock

Our Articles of Organization authorize us to issue up to 500 million shares of our common stock. Our Board of Directors has
authorized us to repurchase up to 40.0 million shares. Through September 30, 2005, we had repurchased 31.2 million shares at a
cost of $366.8 million. The repurchased shares were available to be used for stock option exercises, employee stock purchase plans
and potential acquisitions. All shares of our common stock repurchased are automatically restored to the status of authorized and
unissued.

I. Shareholder Rights Plan

In November 2000, our Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend distribution of one share
purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of our common stock to stockholders of record at the close of business on
January 5, 2001. Each share of common stock newly issued after that date also carries with it one Right. Each Right entitles the
record holder to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise
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price of $60.00 per unit, subject to adjustment. The Rights become exercisable ten (10) days after the earlier of our announcement
that a person has acquired 15% or more of our outstanding common stock or an announcement of a tender offer which would result
in a person or group acquiring 15% or more of our common stock; in either case, the Board of Directors can extend the 10 day
period. If we have not redeemed or exchanged the Rights and a person becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of our
common stock (a “Triggering Event”), each holder of a Right will have the right to purchase shares of our common stock having a
value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right. If, at any time following the Triggering Event, we are acquired in a merger
or other business combination transaction in which we are not the surviving corporation or more than 50% of our assets or earning
power is sold to a person or group, each holder of a Right will have the right to purchase shares of common stock of the acquiring
person, group or entity having a value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right. The Rights expire on January 5, 2011, and
may be redeemed by us for $.001 per Right.

J. Stock Plans
Employee Stock Purchase Plans

We have an employee stock purchase plan that qualifies as an “employee stock purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Internal
Revenue Code. Under the plan, shares of our common stock can be purchased at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the
stock on the first or the last day of each six-month offering period. Employee purchases in any year are limited to the lesser of
$25,000 worth of stock, determined by the fair market value of the common stock at the time the offering begins, or 15% of his or
her base pay. As of September 30, 2005, 18.0 million shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the plan and

7.3 million shares were available for issuance under the plan. During fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, employees purchased 1.0 million,
2.2 million and 3.7 million shares of common stock under the plan at average prices of $3.86, $3.02 and $1.98, respectively. SFAS
No. 123(R) includes revised accounting rules for company-sponsored stock purchase plans. In light of these accounting changes,
we indefinitely suspended offerings under the ESPP with the offering that was to have commenced on February 1, 2005.

Equity Incentive Plans

As described in Note A, Stock-Based Compensation, SFAS No. 123(R) was issued in December 2004. SFAS No. 123(R) requires
us to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair
value of the award using an option pricing model. That cost is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to
provide services in exchange for the award. We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on July 3, 2005, effective with the'beginning of our
fourth quarter. We incurred approximately $15.2 million of expense related to stock-based compensation in the fourth quarter of
2005, including expense for past stock option grants, equity awards granted in the fourth quarter of 2005 described below, and
employee stock option exchange payments in excess of fair market value.

On March 10, 2005, our stockholders approved amendments to our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan that (1) authorized us to exchange
and cancel certain outstanding out-of-the-money non-executive employee stock options for either cash or shares of restricted stock
(the “Exchange”), (2) authorize the grant of restricted stock units, and (3) enable us to grant a greater number of shares of restricted
stock as equity awards. The amendments were designed to reduce the overall number of employee stock options outstanding and
reduce potential stockholder dilution. In connection with the amendments to our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, we agreed not to
make any further grants under any plan other than that plan.

Our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan provides for grants of nonqualified and incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock
units and stock appreciation rights to our employees, directors, officers and consultants. We historically have granted stock options.
For those options, the option exercise price is typically the fair market value at the date of grant, and they generally vest over four
years and expire ten years from the date of grant. Going forward, we plan to use restricted stock and restricted stock units as the
principal equity incentive awards.
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On July 6, 2005, we filed a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
outlining the terms of the Exchange. In the Exchange, we offered eligible employees the opportunity to exchange outstanding stock
options with exercise prices equal to or greater than $9 per share granted under our participating incentive plans for a cash
payment. The offer period commenced on July 6; 2005 and expired on August 3, 2005. Employees holding approximately

18.3 million eligible stock options elected to participate in the Exchange. Accounting for the Exchange was recorded in our
consolidated financial statements in the fourth quarter of 2005. The aggregate amount of the cash payments made to employees in
exchange for their eligible options was $12.7 million and was paid in the fourth quarter. Of the total cash payments made in
connection with the Exchange, $0.5 million was recorded as compensation expense and $12.2 million was recorded as a charge to
additional paid-in capital in stockholders’ equity, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).

In July and August 2005, we granted equity incentive awards for the 2005 fiscal year, which grants had been delayed from the
beginning of the fiscal year pending our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). We granted to our non-employee directors an aggregate of
210,000 shares of restricted stock, the restrictions on which lapse in three substantially equal installments on each of November 1,
2005, November 1, 2006 and November 1, 2007. We also granted, primarily to our executive officers, an aggregate of 1,618,000
shares of restricted stock, 809,000 of which were performance-based and could be earned in whole or in part upon achievement of
2005 performance criteria. The restrictions on the restricted stock granted to those officers, including the performance-based shares
earned, lapse in three substantially equal installments on each of November 1, 2005, November 1, 2006 and November 1, 2007. In
November 2003, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors determined that 92% of the 2005 performance criteria
had been achieved, resulting in the removal of all restrictions with respect to 744,280 shares of restricted stock and the forfeiture of
64,720 shares. In addition, in July and August 2005, we granted an aggregate of 3,390,007 restricted stock units to our employees.
Each restricted stock unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock. The restricted stock units generally vest,
and the shares issuable upon such vesting are issued, in three substantially equal instaliments. The first installment of 1,094,935
shares were vested and issued on September 27, 2005 and therefore were then reflected as outstanding shares of common stock in
our consolidated financial statements. For accounting purposes, granted restricted stock units are not reflected as outstanding
common stock until vested. The remaining two installments will vest and be issued on each of November 1, 2006 and November 1,
2007. Also, in connection with a consulting agreement we entered into with Michael E. Porter, a non-employee director, we
granted to Mr. Porter 100,000 shares of restricted stock, the restrictions on which will lapse in three substantially equal annual
installments, beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant.

As of September 30, 2003, 9.5 million shares were available for grant under our equity incentive plan. As of September 30, 2005,
37.6 million shares were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock units granted and
outstanding, and 1.2 million shares of restricted stock were outstanding, the restrictions on which had not lapsed.

The following table shows restricted share and restricted stock unit activity for the three years ended September 30, 2005:

September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)

Beginning balance of outstanding restricted share and restricted stock units ....... 125 250 375
Granted . ... ... 5,318 —_ —
VSt o (1,235) (125) (125)
Forfeited ornotearned ........ ... ... . . i e ®&n — —
Ending balance of outstanding restricted share and restricted stock units .......... 4,121 125 250

Shares granted in 2005 were net of 359,057 shares retained by us to cover employee tax withholdings of $2.3 million.
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The following table shows stock option activity for the three years ended September 30, 2005:

September 30,
2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
(shares in thousands)
Outstanding:
Beginning balance .. ............. 66,284 $ 9.73 68,963 $10.22 74,485 $11.12
Granted ....... .. o it — — 7,560 4.40 8,775 2.79
Cancelled (1) ................... (28,930) 15.08 (9,192) 9.86 (14,138) 10.45
Exercised ...................... (2,015) 3.22 (1,047 2.88 (159) 2.40
Ending balance ................. 35,339 5.72 66,284 9.73 68,963 10.22
Exercisable ........................ 23,878 6.56 45411 12.19 43413 13.06

(1) Options cancelled in 2005 include options for 18.3 million shares cancelled in connection with the Exchange as described
above and options for 3.3 million shares forfeited voluntarily by executive officers.

Certain employees have disposed of stock acquired through the employee stock purchase plan and the exercise of incentive stock
options earlier than the mandatory holding period required for certain tax treatment. These dispositions, together with the tax
benefits realized from the exercise of nonqualified stock options, create tax benefits that, when realized, will be recorded as
increases to additional paid-in capital. In 2005, a tax benefit of $0.8 million was recorded related to stock-based tax deductions
expected to be realized in certain profitable foreign subsidiaries. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, no tax benefit was not recorded due to
the uncertainty of its realization.

For various price ranges, information for options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2005 was as follows:

Outstanding Options Exercisable Options

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Shares Remaining Exercise Shares Exercise

(in thousands) Life (years) Price (in thousands) Price

$0.10-83.21 ... .o 6,359 7.05 $ 249 3,741 $ 254
$3.25-83.62 . ... . 7,046 7.16 $ 345 4,005 $ 341
$379-83459 . ... 6,244 8.19 $ 427 2,150 $ 4.14
$4.85-85.27 o 5,914 6.62 $ 5.03 4,867 $ 5.03
$5.44-$994 .. ... ... 6,464 498 $ 3.60 5,803 $ 8.65
$9.96-85595 ... ... 3,312 373 $15.06 3,312 $15.06
$0.10-8$5595 . ... ... 35,339 6.51 $ 572 23,878 $ 6.56

K. Employee Benefit Plan

We offer a savings plan to eligible U.S. employees. The plan is intended to qualify under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Participating employees may defer up to 15% of their pre-tax compensation, as defined, but not more than statutory limits.
Prior to January 1, 2004, we contributed 50% of the amount contributed by the employee, up to a maximum of 10% of the
employee’s earnings. Effective January 1, 2004, the employer match was reduced to 6% of the employee’s earnings. Our matching
contributions vest at a rate of 25% per year of service. We made matching contributions of $2.8 million, $3.1 million and $5.2
million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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L. Pension Plans

We maintain defined benefit pension plans covering certain employees of Computervision, which we acquired in 1998. Benefits
are based upon length of service and average compensation and generally vest after five years of service. The prepaid (accrued)
pension cost was actuarially computed using assumptions applicable to each subsidiary plan and economic environment. We adjust
our minimum pension liability related to our plans due to changes in actuarial assumptions and performance of plan investments, as
shown below.

U.S. Pension Plan

Effective April 1, 1990, the benefits under the U.S. pension plan were frozen indefinitely. We contribute all amounts deemed
necessary on an actuarial basis to satisfy Internal Revenue Service funding requirements. Plan assets consist primarily of mutual
funds invested in equity and fixed income securities.

International Pension Plans

Effective in 1998, benefits under the international plans were frozen indefinitely. Plan assets consist primarily of investments in
local government securities and insurance company investments.

The following table presents the actuarial assumptions used in accounting for the pension plans:

U.S. Plan International Plans
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Weighted Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit

Obligations at Measurement Date (September 30)
DiISCOUNETALE .+ .ttt ettt e et ie e e 5.50% 6.00% 6.00% 49% 55% 5.5%
Rate of increase in future compensation . .................. — — — — — —
Weighted Average Assumptions Used to Determine Net

Periodic Pension Cost for Fiscal Years Ended

September 30
Discountrate ....... ... i 6.00% 6.00% 6.75% 5.5% 55% 58%
Rate of increase in future compensation ................... — — — — — —_—
Rate of returnon planassets ............................ 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 4.8% 4.8% 4.7%

In selecting the expected long-term rate of return on assets, we considered the current investment portfolio and the investment
return goals in the plans’ investment policy statements. We, with input from the plans’ professional investment managers, also
considered the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide plan benefits. This process
included determining expected returns for the various asset classes that comprise the plans’ target asset allocation. This basis for
selecting the long-term asset return assumptions is consistent with the prior year.

For the U.S. plan, the long-term total return goal, presently 7.50%, includes income plus realized and unrealized gains and/or losses
on the plan assets. Utilizing generally accepted diversification techniques, the plan’s assets, in aggregate and at the individual
portfolio level, are invested so that the total portfolio risk exposure and risk-adjusted returns best meet the plan’s long-term
liabilities to employees. Plan asset allocations are reviewed periodically and rebalanced to achieve target allocation among the
asset categories when necessary.

The international plans’ assets are invested primarily in fixed income securities. The rate of return is expected to be in line with
fixed income local government bonds with comparable terms.
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The actuarially computed components of net periodic pension cost are shown below:

U.S. Plan International Plans
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Interest cost of projected benefit obligation . .. . . ... $4649 $4455 $4267 $2,525 $2375 $2171
Expected returnon plan assets .. ................ 4,568) (4,220) (3,501) (1,299 (1,299) (1,267)
Amortization of prior service cost ............... — — — 19 19 17
Recognized actuarial loss .. .................... 1,274 1,307 1,199 589 559 293
Net periodic pension cost .. ... veiiiinnn. $1,355 $1542 $1965 $1.834 $1.654 $1214

The following tables display the change in benefit obligation, plan assets, funded status and amounts recognized in the balance
sheet:

U.S. Pian International Plans Total
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
(in thousands)

Change in Benefit Obligation
Accumulated and projected benefit obligation—beginning of

VEAT . ottt e e e $ 77947 $ 74,683 $44,922 $ 40857 $122,869 $115,540
Interest COSt . ..ottt 4,649 4,455 2,525 2,375 7,174 6,830
Actuarial 10SS ... .. e 8,959 431 9,396 344 18,355 775
Foreign exchange impact . ..............cocviiunenn .. — — (1,670) 3,650 (1,670) 3,650
Benefitspaid . ......... i e 1,727y (1,622)  (1,943)  (2,304) (3,670) (3,926)
Accumulated and projected benefit obligation—end of

VEAL + v et et e e e e e e $ 89,828 $ 77,947 $53,230 $44,922 $143,058 $122,869
Change in Plan Assets and Funded Status
Plan assets at fair value—beginning of year .............. $ 61,857 $55,968 $26,695 $25527 $ 88,552 $ 81,495
Actual returnonplanassets .............. ...t 6,656 5,011 2,490 969 9,146 5,980
Employer contributions ................ ... .. .. .. ..., — 2,500 — 170 — 2,670
Foreign exchange impact ..............c.vuiiurinnnn.. — — (764) 2,333 (764) 2,333
Benefitspaid .. ... 1,727y (1,622)  (1,751)  (2,304) (3.478) (3,926)
Plan assets at fair value—end of year .. ............ ... .. 66,786 61,857 26,670 26,695 93,456 88,552
Accumulated and projected benefit obligation—end of

VOAT o ottt e e e e e e 89,828 77,947 53,230 44922 143,058 122,869
Fundedstatus ...........c.c.ouuiiiiieeiniinenn.. (23,042) (16,090) (26,560) (18,227) (49,602) (34,317)
Unrecognized actuarial loss . ............ .. ... ..., 46,074 40477 15,494 8,475 61,568 48,952
Unrecognized prior SEIvice Cost . ..........vvvrrernn... — — 235 261 235 261
Net prepaid (accrued) benefitcost ...................... $23,032 $247387 $(10,831) $ (9.491) $ 12,201 $ 14,896
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U.S. Plan International Plans Total
September 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

(in thousands)
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet

Accrued benefit liability ................ ... .. ... .. ... $(23,042) $(16,090) $(26,560) $(19,390) $(49,602) $(35,480)
Intangible asset . .. ... i — — 235 261 235 261
Minimum pension liability (1) ........... ... ... ... ...... 46,074 40,477 15,494 9,638 61,568 50,115
Net prepaid (accrued) benefitcost ....................... $ 23,032 $24,387 $(10,831) $ (9,491) $ 12,201 $ 14,896

(1) Included in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of stockholders’ equity (in accordance with SFAS
No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income).

Our 2005 and 2004 consolidated balance sheets include the minimum pension liability of $61.6 million and $50.1 million,
respectively, in other long-term liabilities, prepaid benefit cost of $21.8 million and $24.9 million, respectively, in prepaid
expenses and other noncurrent assets, and $9.6 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in accrued compensation and benefits and
other noncurrent liabilities. The increase (decrease) in the minimum pension liability, totaling $11.7 million, $(1.2) million, and
$5.4 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, has been included in other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). The increase in the minimum pension liability in 2005 was due primarily to changes
in the discount rate and mortality rate actuarial assumptions.

The following table shows the percentage of total plan assets for each major category of plan assets:

U.S. Plan International Plans
September 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Asset Category
EQUILY SECUTIHIES . . oottt vt e e et e e e e e e e 61% 60% — —

Fixed INCOME SECUTILES . .. oot ittt e e e e e e e _2% ﬂ% 10_0% E)_(_)%

100% 100% 100%  100%

We periodically review the pension plans’ investments in the various asset classes. The current asset allocation target is 60% equity
securities and 40% fixed income securities for the U.S. plan and 100% fixed income securities for the international plans. The
plan’s investment managers are provided specific guidelines under which they are to invest the assets assigned to them. In general,
investment managers are expected to remain fully invested in their asset class with further limitations on risk as related to
investments in a single security, portfolio turnover and credit quality.

The U.S. plan’s investment policy prohibits the use of derivatives associated with leverage and speculation or investments in
securities issued by PTC, except through index-related strategies and/or commingled funds. An investment committee oversees
management of the pension plan’s assets.

Based on actuarial valuations and, in 2003, additional voluntary contributions, we contributed $0.0 million, $2.7 million and

$10.7 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, to the plans. We have minimum funding requirements of $0.4 million in 2006.
However, we expect to make voluntary contributions of approximately $4 million to the plan.
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As of September 30, 2005, benefit payments expected to be paid over the next ten years are outlined in the following table:

International
U.S. Plan Plans Total

(in thousands)

Year ending September 30,

2006 . $ 2,090 $ 388 $ 2,478
2007 2,327 364 2,691
2008 .. 2,648 1,163 3,811
2000 3,052 1,059 4,111
2000 e 3,350 1,584 4,934
2011-2000 Lo 22,906 11,911 34,817

M. Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. Our chief operating decision-making group is our executive officers. We have two operating and reportable
segments: (1) software products, which include license and maintenance revenue (including new releases and technical support);
and (2) services, which include consulting, implementation, training and other support revenue. In our Consalidated Statements of
Operations, maintenance revenue is included in service revenue. We do not allocate certain sales, marketing or administrative
expenses to our operating segments, as these activities are managed separately.

We report our revenue in two product categories:

»  Enterprise Solutions, which includes Windchill, Pro/INTRALINK 8.0, Arbortext Publishing Engine and all other solutions
that help companies collaborate, manage and publish information across an extended enterprise; and

*  Desktop Solutions, which includes Pro/ENGINEER, Arbortext Editor and all other solutions that help companies create
content and improve desktop productivity.

We previously reported our revenue in the following two categories: Design Solutions and Collaboration and Control Solutions. In
the fourth quarter of 2003, as a result of the Arbortext acquisition, we redefined our product categories. This redefinition required
no reclassifications of prior reported revenues between our two product categories. Revenue historically reported as Design
Solutions is now reported as Desktop Solutions, and revenue historically reported as Collaboration and Control Solutions is now
reported as Enterprise Solutions.

We recently launched Pro/INTRALINK 8.0, which is based on our Windchill technology. Our prior Pro/INTRALINK product was
not Windchill-based and was either used as a stand-alone product or together with Windchill. In previous periods, half of
Pro/INTRALINK revenue was allocated to Design Solutions and half was allocated to Collaboration and Control Solutions. As a
result of the new technology configuration of Pro/INTRALINK 8.0, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2005, all Pro/INTRALINK
revenue is fully classified as Enterprise Solutions.
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The revenue and operating income (loss) attributable to these operating segments are summarized as follows:

Year ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)

Revenue:
Software Products Segment:
License:
Desktop SOlutions . ... ..o $ 138,583 $ 139,294 §$ 147,642
Enterprise SOIUtIONS ... .ottt 71,134 59,566 57,659
Total software products license revenue . .................. ... ... 209,717 198,860 205,301
Maintenance (1):
Desktop SOIRtions .. ... .ot 286,255 276,008 274,557
Enterprise Solutions . ... ... . e 56,314 47,412 34,534
Total software products maintenance TeVENUe .. ......c...c.veunennenn... 342,569 323,420 309,091
Total software products revenue . ............c.cuniinennineenn.. 552,286 522,280 514,392
Services Segment:
Desktop Solutions .. ...t 78,291 65,385 76,252
Enterprise Solutions ... ... . e 90,142 72,364 81,296
Total SEIVICES TEVEIMUR & . v v v v v et e et et et et e 168,433 137,749 157,548
Total revenue: )
Desktop SOIUtions .. ....vv it 503,129 480,687 498,451
Enterprise SOlUtiONS ..o 217,590 179,342 173,489
TOtal TEVENUE . . . oot e e e $ 720,719 $ 660,029 $ 671,940
Operating income (loss): (2) (3)
Software products . ... i $ 373,769 $ 349,059 $ 308,424
S OTVICS o vttt 19,350 (6,072) 1,678
Sales and marketing expenses (4) ............... [ (244,449) (242,604) (312,346)
Unallocated expenses (5) .. ..ot e (62,884) (62,967) (77,381)
Total operating income (108S) .. ...ttt e $ 85,786 §$ 37416 $ (79,625)

(1) Maintenance revenue is included in Service Revenue in the consolidated statement of operations.

(2) The operating income (loss) reported does not represent the total operating results for each operating segment as it does not
contain an allocation of sales, marketing, corporate and general administrative expenses incurred in support of the operating
segments.

(3) We recorded restructuring and other charges (credits) and in-process research and development of $(0.6) million,
$42.9 million and $30.9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, software products included
$(0.7), $9.5 million and $6.6 million, respectively; services included $0.1 million, $12.2 million and $2.5 million,
respectively; sales and marketing expenses included $0.7 million, $16.5 million and $13.9 million, respectively; and
unallocated expenses included $(0.7) million, $4.7 million and $7.9 million, respectively, of the restructuring and other
charges (credits) recorded in those respective periods.

(4) Represents all sales and marketing expenses including the related portion of restructuring and other charges.

(5) Unallocated expenses represent all corporate and general and administrative expenses including the related portion of
restructuring and other charges.
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Data for the geographic regions in which we operate is presented below:

Year ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Revenue:
NOrth AMEIiCa . ..ot e $271,974 $232,883 $249,371
BUIOpPE (1) . oottt 254,178 240,269 239,800
Asia/Pacific (2) ... 194,567 186,877 182,769
TOtAl TEVEIUE .« o . ot et e e e e e e e e e e $720,719 $660,029 $671,940
Long-lived assets:
NOrth AMEIICA . .. oot e e e $309,970 $106,557 $121,173
BUIODE (B) ottt 37,709 36,162 35,609
ASIa/PacifiC .. . oo 11,279 10,396 13,067
Total Iong-lived aSSELS .. ..t uvun vttt et e $358,958 $153,115 $169,849

(1) 1Includes revenue in Germany totaling $77.5 million, $72.7 million and $71.3 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(2) Includes revenue in Japan totaling $110.7 million, $111.8 million and $100.4 million for 2003, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(3) The long-lived assets for Europe as of September 30, 2004 and 2003 include a reclassification of prepaid pension assets to
conform to the 2005 presentation.

Our international revenue is presented based on the location of our customer. We license products to customers worldwide. Our
sales and marketing operations outside the United States are conducted principally through our international sales subsidiaries
throughout Europe and the Asia/Pacific region. Intercompany sales and transfers between geographic areas are accounted for at
prices that are designed to be representative of unaffiliated party transactions.

N. Subsequent Events

We completed two acquisitions subsequent to year-end for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $12 million. These
acquisitions add to our global consulting and training services organization. The first was of an entity based solely in German-
speaking Europe and expands our consulting delivery capacity and expertise in that region. The second was of the assets of a U.S.
company that developed and provided training solutions for our products. We do not expect any significant revenue contribution in
the near-term from these acquisitions.

On November 9, 2005, we granted an aggregate of 2,156,054 shares of restricted stock, primarily to our executive officers. Of
those shares, an aggregate of 422,054 performance-based shares were issued in connection with our Executive Incentive
Performance Plan for the 2006 fiscal year performance period (the “EIP Shares”) and an aggregate of 1,734,000 shares were issued
as part of our annual equity incentive program {“Annual Shares”). The restrictions on the EIP Shares will lapse based on
achievement of performance criteria established by the Compensation Commiittee of our Board of Directors on the grant date. The
restrictions on the EIP Shares that are finally earned under these criteria lapse on the later of November 9, 2006 or the date the
Compensation Committee determines the extent to which those criteria have been achieved. Half of the Annual Shares are
performance-based and are subject to the same performance criteria used in our Executive Incentive Performance Plan described
above. Annual Shares earned under these criteria are then subject to time-based restrictions that lapse as to substantially one-third
of such shares on each of (i) the later of November 9, 2006 or the date the Compensation Committee determines the performance
criteria have been achieved, (ii) November 9, 2007 and (iii) November 9, 2008. The remaining half of the Annual Shares is subject
only to time-based restrictions that lapse as to substantially one-third of the shares on each of November 9, 2006, November 9,
2007 and November 9, 2008.
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We also issued an aggregate of 2,809,897 restricted stock units in October and November 2005. Of those restricted stock units,

(1) 26,321 were issued in connection with the two acquisitions described above and vest in three substantially equal installments on
each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing date of the respective transaction, (ii) 804,553 are performance-based
and were issued in connection with our employee management incentive plans for 2006 and will vest to the extent specified
performance criteria are achieved on the later November 9, 2006 or the date the Compensation Committee determines the extent to
which the performance criteria have been achieved, and (iii) 1,979,023 were issued to employees as part of our annual equity
incentive program and vest in three substantially equal installments on each of November 9, 2006, 2007 and 2008.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Parametric Technology Corporation:

We have completed an integrated audit of Parametric Technology Corporation’s 2005 consolidated financial statements and of its
internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005 and audits of its 2004 and 2003 consolidated financial statements
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Cur opinions, based on our
audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Parametric Technology Corporation and its subsidiaries at September 30, 2005 and 2004, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2005 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 94, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 2005 based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.
Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of September 30, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment
and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial
reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal centrol over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Arbortext,
Inc. from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005 because it was acquired by the
Company in a purchase business combination during 2005. We have also excluded Arbortext, Inc. from our audit of internal
control over financial reporting. Arbortext, Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues each
represented less than 3% of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended September 30, 2005.

/s/  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
December 14, 2005
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

September 30,
2005 (1) 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)
Revenue ........... e $720,719 $660,029 $671,940 $741,957 $937,549
Operating income (10S8) .. ... ittt i 85,786 37,416 (79,625) (78,486) (5,772)
Netincome (10SS) .. oottt i e e e e 83,592 34,813 (98,280) (93,621) (10,138)
Earnings (loss) per share—Basic ............... ... .. ... ... .. 0.31 0.13 0.37) (0.36) (0.04)
Earnings (loss) per share—Diluted . ....... ... .. ... .. ... ... .... 0.30 0.13 (0.37) (0.36) (0.04)
Total @sSetS (2) .ot vttt e e 786,623 676,340 610,066 682,519 810,724
Working capital (3) .. ... i 78,965 210,499 137,349 207,016 165,839
Long-term liabilities, less current portion (2) (3) ................... 118,017 122,148 112,863 100,022 82,362
Stockholders’ equity ... ... ...t 323,844 241,951 195,158 289,928 385,092

(1) The financial position and results of operations for 2005 reflect our acquisition of Arbortext, Inc. on July 19, 2005 for $194.8
million in cash. Results of operations for Arbortext have been included in the statement of operations beginning July 20, 2005.

(2) Total assets and long-term liabilities reflect the reclassification of a pension plan liability from other assets, where the liability
offset other pension plan prepaid assets. The amount reclassified to long-term liabilities from other assets is $10.0 million in
2004; $9.1 million in 2003, $7.6 million in 2002 and $6.9 million in 2001 to conform to the 2005 presentation. -

(3) Working capital and long-term liabilities reflect the reclassification of deferred revenue classified as current in prior years to
long-term deferred revenue of $20.4 million in 2004, $18.8 million in 2003, $23.1 million in 2002 and $26.3 million in 2001
to conform to the 2005 presentation.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
(in thousands, except per share data)

September 30, July 2, April 2, January 1,
2005 2005 2005 2005
REVENUE . ... $195,092  $180,334 $176,103 $169,190
Operating iNCOME . . . .ttt ittt ettt et et e ettt 11,568 26,514 24,492 23,212
Nt IO & o ottt et ettt et e e e e 17,275 26,654 20,504 19,159
Earnings per share—Basic ........... ... .. i 0.06 0.10 0.08 0.07
Earnings per share—Dilutec . ... ... PP 0.06 0.10 0.07 0.07
Common stock prices: (1)
High ..o e $ 717 $ 670 $ 594 5 6.09
L oW . e e $ 604 $ 484 $ 515 $§ 483
September 30, July3, | April 3, January 3,
2004 2004 2004 2004
REVENUE . . oottt e e e e e $170,134  $168,377 $164,708 $156,810
Operating income (10SS) ... ...ttt e e e e 27,938 22,722 7,846 (21,090)
Netincome (J08S) . ..ottt e e e 42,044 16,135 3,171 (26,537)
Earnings (Joss) pershare—Basic . . ... .ot ii i e e e 0.16 0.06 0.01 (0.10)
Earnings (Joss) per share—Diluted ......... ... ... ... ... 0.15 0.06 0.01 (0.10)
Common stock prices: (1)
High .. e $§ 528 $ 534 $ 504 $ 400
L OW o e $ 406 $ 420 § 406 $ 3.07

(1) The common stock prices are based on the NASDAQ National Market daily closing stock price. Our common stock is traded
on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “PMTC".
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Shaeholdens Ueting

Qur common stock is traded on the Nasdag Stock Market under the
symbol PMTC. On September 30, 2005, our common stock was held
by 5,372 shareholders of record.

We hove not paid dividends on our common stock and have
historically retained earnings for use in our business.

We intend to review our policy with respect to the payment

of dividends from time to time. However, there can be no assurance
that any dividends will be paid in the future.

Requests for information about PTC should be directed to:
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Telephone: 781.370.5000

E-Mail: ir@ptc.com

Reppert an 1@-

PTC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

September 30, 2005 is included herein. The report on Form 10-K
and its accompanying exhibits are filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission and can be accessed in the SEC's EDGAR
database {at www.sec.gov) or through the Investor section of the
PTC Internet site. Copies are available without charge

upon written request.
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